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The Mission of Arbor Acres
Through excellence, innovation, caring, and beauty,
Arbor Acres cultivates community, comfort, and well-being
for Senior Adults.

The Vision of Arbor Acres
Arbor Acres:
Senior Adults Living Life Fully

In accordance with Chapter 58, Article 64 of the North Carolina General Statutes of the
State of North Carolina, this Disclosure Statement may be delivered until revised, but not
after May 30, 2024. Delivery of the Disclosure Statement to a contracting party before
execution of a contract for continuing care is required. This Disclosure Statement has not

been reviewed or approved by any government agency or representative to ensure accuracy
or completeness of the information set out.
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DISCLOSURE STATEMENT

ARBOR ACRES UNITED METHODIST RETIREMENT COMMUNITY, INC.
May 2022

ORGANIZATION INTRODUCTION AND INFORMATION (Corporation)

Narrative Description of the Organization and Its Operation

The name of this organization is Arbor Acres United Methodist Retirement Community, Inc.
(“Arbor Acres™). Its business address is 1240 Arbor Road, Winston-Salem, North Carolina, 27104,
Arbor Acres is a continuing care retirement community.

Affiliation(s)

Arbor Acres is the parent corporation and sole member of Arbor Acres Home Care, LI.C
(“Home Care”). Home Care was established to provide home care services to the residents of
Arbor Acres as well as individuals in Forsyth and surrounding counties.

Arbor Acres is organized under the sponsorship of the Western North Carolina Annual Conference
of The United Methodist Church. The extent of the affiliation between Arbor Acres and the
Conference is set out in a Statement of Relationship, a copy of which follows the narrative section
of this Disclosure Statemeni. The Conference is not responsible for the financial and contract
obligations of Arbor Acres. Arbor Acres holds membership in LeadingAge and LeadingAge NC,
the national and state industry associations organized to support education, advocacy and research,

Non-Profit/For Profit Status

Arbor Acres is a North Carolina non-profit corporation, exempt from the payment of federal
income tax under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code. Home Care is a limited liability
company that has not elected to be taxed as a corporation under the Internal Revenue Code (IRC)
regulations. Home Care is wholly owned by Arbor Acres. As such, Home Care is considered a
disregarded entity under current IRC regulations,

Accreditation(s)
Arbor Acres is accredited through the Commission on Accreditation of Rehabilitation Facilities
and the Continuing Care Accreditation Commission of LeadingAge.

FACILITY INTRODUCTION AND INFORMATION (Facility)

Narrative Description of the Facility and Its Operation

Arbor Acres is a non-profit continuing care retirement community providing a continuum of
residential accommodations. These include independent living facilities with 3 mid-rise residential
wings containing 76 units (studio, efficiency and one-bedroom connecting room units); 12
courtyard homes, 44 Stockton Building apartments, and 120 houses. The main building complex
contains the 3 mid-rise residential wings and the following support facilities: Business offices,
Piner Hall, Wellness Center, arts and crafts room, bistro, recreational areas, dining rooms, beauty
shop, several parlors, kitchens, housekeeping, laundry, and maintenance service areas.

In addition to independent living units and support facilities mentioned above, Arbor Acres also
has licensed beds in two areas of the campus: Strickland Place at Fitzgerald (herein after referred
to as the Health Center) and the Asbury Place Building. Arbor Acres is licensed for 189 beds (83
skilled beds and 106 Adult Care Home beds). Support facilities in the Health Center include
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offices, family rooms, dining rooms, activity areas, physical therapy room, special bathing unit
(SPA), and beauty shop.

Arbor Acres operates under the supervision of a Board of Directors responsible for the
establishment of operational policy. Daily operation of Arbor Acres is supervised by a President
and CEO. Operation of the facility is the immediate responsibility of 11 departments:
Marketing/Public Relations, Human Resources, Finance, Resource Development, Environmental
Services, Buildings and Grounds, Dining Services, Nursing, Chaplaincy, Wellness Services, and
Continuing Care.

Legal Description: Arbor Acres is a corporation chartered by the State of North Carolina.

Identification and Background of Officers. Directors, Management Staff, Owners Including
Addresses, and Professional Services

The present Officers and Directors of Arbor Acres, together with the principal business affiliation
and address of each, are as follows:

Board of Directors Principal Business Affiliation, Address

Mr. John W, Willingham Retired Business Owner

Board Chair P.O. Box 309
Yadkinville, NC 27055

Mr. Bill Hollan Principal and Investment Advisor

Board Chair Elect 300 South Main Street
Winston-Salem, NC 27101

Ms. Courtney H. Douglas Business Co-Owner

Secretary 2843 Bitting Road
Winston-Salem, NC 27104

Mr. Jack Lauer CFO, Pine Hall Brick Company

Treasurer 3025 Lakeshore Drive

Winston-Salem, NC 27106

Ms. LaTanya Afolayan Vice Chancellor for University Advancement, WSSU
PO Box 30316
Winston-Salem, NC 27130

Mr. Samuel M. Black Retired from banking
PO Box 25185

Winston-Salem, NC 27114

Mr. Montrale Boykin Interim Dean, WSSU
125 Coyote Crossing Ct,
Winston-Salem, NC 27107

Ms. Christin M. Dunn Accountant
323 Windsor Qaks Court
Winston-Salem, NC 27104
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Dr. John Earle

Mrs. Susan C. Elster

Ms. Carroll McCullough

Mr. Chris Pearce

Mr, John Ruffin

Mr. Ricky Shore

Mr. J. Hill Stockton

Ms. Wendy Walker-Fox

Ex Officio

Bishop Ken Carter

The Rev, Dr. Sam Moore

Mr. Donald F. Eppert

Ms. Tog Newman

Resident
1244 Arbor Road, Box 458
Winston-Salem, NC 27104

Philanthropic Advisor, Winston-Salem Foundation
150 Plymouth Avenue
Winston-Salem, NC 27104

Resident
1244 Arbor Road #B-307
Winston-Salem, NC 27104

VP IT/CIO, Forsyth Technical Community College
3238 Pennington Lanc
Winston-Salem, NC 27106

Realtor
4115 Shattalon Dr.
Winston-Salem, NC 27106

Retired Business Owner
480 Carolina Circle
Winston-Salem, NC 27104

President, Norman Stockton
P.O. Box 5066
Winston-Salem, NC 27113

Executive Director, Piedmont Triad Workforce Dev. Board
1398 Carrollton Crossing Drive
Kernersville, NC 27284

Bishop, Western NC Annual Conference
The United Methodist Church

450 MLK. Jr. Avenue

Lakeland, FL 33815

District Superintendent, Yadkin Valley District
The United Methodist Church

1031 Reynolda Road

Winston-Salem, NC 27104

Chair, DEI Task Force
1352 Susanna Wesley Drive, #113
Winston-Salem, NC 27104

Resident Council President
1244 Arbor Road, Box 533
Winston-Salem, NC 27104
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Arbor Acres is managed on a day-to-day basis by Andrew W. Applegate, President/CEQ. Andrew
Applegate (License #NC2975) became President/Chief Executive Officer of Arbor Acres United
Methodist Retirement Community, Inc. on October 1, 2016. Previously he served as Vice President
and Executive Director of Asbury Solomons, Solomons, Maryland (2003-2016), the Evangelical
Lutheran Good Samaritan Society in various communities in Nebraska, Illinois and Florida (1989-
2003). Mr. Applegate is a graduate of the University of Nebraska at Lincoln (BA, Education,
Health Occupations Specialization), the University of Phoenix (MA, Organizational
Management), Southeast Community College (Nursing Home Administration Specialization) and
is an alumnus of the Larry Minnix Leadership Academy of LeadingAge.

Hannah Yoon (Administrator License # 2999) graduated from UNCG in December, 2011 with a
Bachelor of Science in Recreation and Parks Management. She studied abroad in Norway
through UNCG. She worked as a Recreational Therapist at Cypress Cove at HealthPark, then as
the Dementia Care Program Manager in Fort Meyers, Florida, She served as the Director of
ArborView our memory care unit, from October, 2014 until August, 2018. She began her
Administrator’s training here at Arbor Acres in 2017 and completed it in August of 2018.

Arbor Acres has no present intention of purchasing goods, leases or services of an aggregate value
of five hundred dollars ($500.00) or more within any year from any of the persons listed above or
any person having a ten percent (10%) or greater interest or beneficial interest in any professional
service, firm, association, trust, partnership or corporation which provides goods, leases or services
to Arbor Acres; nor is it intended that any of said persons shall provide goods, leases or services
to residents of Arbor Acres. In addition, no company has a 10% or greater interest in any person
listed. If any resident of Arbor Acres shall obtain any goods, leases or services from any of said
persons, it will be because the resident voluntarily elects and chooses to do so, not because the
doing of such business is intended by Arbor Acres or is expected of the resident. Arbor Acres does
not know the monetary value of such business, if any, as may be transacted between individuals
who happen to reside at the facility and firms or businesses owned or partially owned by
individuals who happen to serve as officers or directors of the facility, nor does Arbor Acres have
any information from which to make an estimate.

Criminal Violation Statement

To the best of the facility’s knowledge, based on information furnished to Arbor Acres by each of
the persons listed above, none has been convicted of a felony or pleaded nolo contendere to a
felony charge, or been held liable or enjoined in a civil action by final judgment, if the felony or
civil action involved fraud, embezzlement, fraudulent conversion, or misappropriation of property;
or is subject to a currently effective injunction or restrictive court order, or within the past five
years, had any State or federal license or permit suspended or revoked as a result of an action
brought by a governmental agency or department, if the order or action arose out of or related to
business activity of health care, including actions affecting a license to operate a foster care facility,
nursing home, retirement home, home for aged, or facility subject to paragraph (3)c of G.S. Section
58-64-20(a)(3)(c) or a similar law in another state.

Location and Description of Physical Property

Arbor Acres is located on an approximately 82-acre site at 1240 Arbor Road in Winston-Salem,
North Carolina. On this property are the residential facilities described above in the Narrative
Description of the Facility and Its Operation.



Estimated Number of Residents

The number of residents is 527 (as of December 31, 2022) including 45 residents under the
Advantage Program,

POLICIES
Admission

Health Criteria: To be accepted as a resident, the applicant’s health must be such that the
applicant’s care requirements are appropriate to, and can be met within the level of care to which
the person is requesting admission. For example, a person applying for admission to independent
living must be mentally alert, and able to meet his or her personal care needs without assistance or
supervision. The agreement entered into between Arbor Acres and resident states that at the time
of the execution of the agreement, Arbor Acres has determined that the resident qualified for
residency at Arbor Acres both with respect to the resident’s mental and physical condition and the
resident's ability to take care of anticipated fees and charges, The agreement also provides that it
will be necessary for the resident to meet the Arbor Acres health and financial qualifications for
residency at the time he or she becomes a resident of the facility, subject to the understanding that
if at that time the person is not mentally or physically qualified to occupy a residential unit of the
type contemplated under the agreement, but is qualified to live in an Adult Care Home (Assisted
Living} unit or in the Health Center of Arbor Acres, he or she will be entitled to such
accommodations at the facility as are appropriate to the person’s situation and needs, and are then
or later become available. Once admitted to Arbor Acres, a resident, from the standpoint of health,
may continue to reside at Arbor Acres so long as the facilities and services available can, in the
opinion of the facility’s medical advisers, provide the level of care needed by the resident. As a
resident’s needs for care increases, the resident may be required to move to a higher level of care
provided by Arbor Acres in order to continue the right of residency at the facility.

Financial and Insurance Criteria: To be accepted as a resident and in order for residency to
continue, an applicant must agree to pay the entrance fee and monthly fees and charges associated
with the living unit and level of care required by the applicant. Arbor Acres requires applicants to
provide a financial statement. Applicants with inadequate financial resources to carry them through
their projected life expectancy are nevertheless considered for admission if family members
provide guaranties of payment or if the applicant qualifies for financial assistance within the limit
of Arbor Acres’ ability to provide. Residents whose resousces are depleted during residency may
remain as residents under the following circumstances: If members of resident’s family or other
interested parties provide guaranties of payment acceptable to Arbor Acres; or if the Arbor Acres’
financial assistance resources are such as to enable the facility to provide the amounts needed.
Residents whose financial resources are diverted to other persons or causes, thereby creating a
financial need, are not eligible for consideration for financial assistance.

At present Arbor Acres has no insurance criteria affecting admissions. Applicants whose resources
are marginal or inadequate to cover their projected residency fees may be encouraged to consider
purchase of long-term care insurance as a method of increasing available income once the applicant
becomes a resident of a licensed level of care,



Age Reguirements: One must be 62 years of age to become a resident of Arbor Acres; provided,
that in the case of a married couple, if one spouse is 62, the minimum age for the other spouse is
60.

Changes of Condition of Resident Prior to Occupancy/Refund(s)Applicable/Not Applicable/Time
Frame of Refund(s): If between the date of entering into a residency agreement and the date of
initial occupancy, an applicant’s financial condition changes affecting the applicant’s ability to
pay expenses associated with residency, the applicant is required to submit a new financial
statement. Improvement in the applicant’s financial position may alter previous commitments by
Arbor Acres to provide financial assistance. A decline in the applicant’s capacity to pay the
previously agreed upon periodic fees and charges may require reassessment of the applicant’s
ability to reside at Arbor Acres and whether Arbor Acres is in a position to provide financial
assistance. If the applicant is unable to move into Arbor Acres for any reason, the applicant is
entitled to an entrance fee refund to the extent of and in accordance with the provisions of the
agreement.

Cancellation/Termination - Refund(s) Applicable/Not Applicable/Time Frame of Refund(s):
Pursuant to the statute, the party (applicant) contracting with the provider (Arbor Acres) may
rescind the contract within thirty (30) days following the later of the execution of the contract or
the receipt of a disclosure statement. A resident may terminate residency upon thirty (30) days
written notice. Arbor Acres may terminate one's residency if:

1. Resident does not pay monthly fees and other charges on a timely basis;

2. Resident's behavior (or that of resident’s family members, responsible parties, or others
specified in the residency agreement) is detrimental to the spirit of Arbor Acres; or

3. Resident requires treatment or care other than that which Arbor Acres is licensed

or staffed to provide.

Termination of residency by Arbor Acres occurs only “as a last resort,” when it becomes clear that
termination is necessary, and after the resident and/or the resident’s responsible party has an
opportunity to be heard, On termination of residency any monthly fees paid in advance are prorated
and an appropriate refund is made thereof, if any, within sixty (60) days. Provisions relating to
entrance fee refunds upon termination of residency are set out in residency agreements as follows.
Subject to the statutory refund provisions which apply in the event of rescission of the agreement
within thirty (30) days or preclusion, by death, illness, injury, or incapacity, from occupying a unit
under the terms of the agreement, then the entrance fee is refundable on a declining basis of two
percent (2%) per month for fifty (50) months, with no part of the entrance fee being refundable
after a person has resided at Arbor Acres for fifty (50) or more months. The agreements further
provide that payment of the refund is to be made from the entrance fee received by Arbor Acres
from the next occupant of the unit. The calculation and payment of any refund to a person who has
become a resident is made in the same manner whether termination of residency is voluntary, is at
the request of Arbor Acres, or is occasioned by death.

1. If aresident dies before occupying a living unit in the facility, or if, on account of illness,
injury, or incapacity a resident would be precluded from occupying a living unit in the
facility under the terms of the contract for continuing care, the contract is automatically
cancelled. Arbor Acres will refund entrance fees paid, as stated in the residency
agreement, and less any costs paid by Arbor Acres for resident-requested modifications
to a living unit, The refund will be provided within thirty (30) days of receipt by Arbor
Acres of all billable costs incurred by the resident.

2. In the event of the death of a resident following the occupancy of a living unit, Arbor
Acres will refund the entrance fee, less the $2,500 non-refundable portion as stated in the
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residency agreement, and under the prorated refund policy of 2% per month for fifty (50}
months, with no part of the entrance fee being refundable after fifty (50) or more months
of residency. Upon receiving payment of an entrance fee of that living unit, Arbor Acres
will refund to the resident or the resident’s estate.

In the event of a resident’s vacating a unit due to moving to a higher level of care, then no
refund of the entrance fees paid will be provided unless that move occurs within ninety
(90) days of the resident’s move-in date, as provided by the stated refund policy.

Moves: Provisions governing moves between levels of living are outlined in the residency
agreement. Independent living residential units (such as studios, apartments, houses) may not be
made available to a different or new resident except under the following circumstances:

1.

2.

4,

If the resident terminates residency at Arbor Acres either voluntarily or at the request of
Arbor Acres for cause.

If the resident terminates occupancy of the unit by moving to another unit at Arbor Acres,
either because of a desire on the part of the resident to move or because of health
problems that necessitate a move to another type of unit, such as a studio unit (if the
resident resides in a house), Adult Care Home (Assisted Living) or the Health Center.
Changing market conditions (specifically, increasing requests for larger apartments and
decreasing requests for smaller apartments) make it necessary from time to time for
Arbor Acres to convert or combine smaller units, When this must be done, Arbor Acres
occasionally finds that it can be accomplished only by having a resident move to another
unit to “free up” adjacent units for conversion. Should Arbor Acres find that it must have
a resident make such a move, the matter is thoroughly discussed with the resident and the
resident is shown the unit to which the resident is to move. Arbor Acres will make the
unit to which the resident is to move ready for occupancy, including any needed
refurbishment and will assist the residents with the move, all at the expense of the
facility.

If the resident dies.

In the case of a couple, the death or permanent transfer of one spouse to a different unit does not
affect the remaining spouse’s right to continue residency in the unit.

In Adult Care Home (Assisted Living) or in the Health Center, Arbor Acres reserves the right to
change one’s room from time to time as deemed by Arbor Acres to be necessary or appropriate.
Any such changes are made with due regard to the wishes and best interest of the resident as well
as Arbor Acres.

Marriages/New Second Occupant: If a resident marries while residing at Arbor Acres, the spouse
of the resident is expected to follow the facility’s normal admission procedure. Among the basic
factors for approval are:

1.

2.

[ %]

Spouse of resident must be a least 60 years of age (i.e., older spouse must be at least 62;
younger spouse must be at least 60);

Physical condition must be appropriate to the level of care to which the person requests
entry and the care required must be within levels of care Arbor Acres provides;
Behavioral characteristics must be appropriate for group living at Arbor Acres;

There must be sufficient financial resources to enable the couple to meet financial
obligations, or their circumstances must be such as to qualify for financial assistance within
Arbor Acres’ policies and ability to provide.
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If the applying spouse is approved for residency at Arbor Acres and is to live in the same residential
unit with the resident, the applicable second person entrance fee will be required. If the applying
spouse is to live in a separate unit, an entrance fee is required. Regular monthly (daily in nursing
care and assisted living) fees and other charges would be in accordance with Arbor Acres’ regular
schedule for double occupancy, or individual occupancy, as appropriate.

It the applying spouse should not meet the requirements for residency, the applying spouse would
not be able to reside at Arbor Acres. As of the date of this Disclosure Statement, no applying
spouse has failed to meet the requirements.

Other than in the case of a spouse, there are no other provisions currently in place to permit
occupancy of a unit by a second occupant who was not party to the original residency agreement.
If a current resident marries another current resident who moves into the same accommodation as
the first resident, then the resident who is vacating his/her unit will be subject to the same refund
policy as a resident who is leaving Arbor Acres. That is, the vacating resident receives a prorated
refund at the rate of 2% per month for fifty (50) months, For example, if the vacating resident
moves in with the first resident after 12 months of residency, then Arbor Acres will retain 24% of
the entrance fee and the balance will be refunded. Accordingly, if the vacating resident has lived
in his/her residence for more than fifty (50) months, then there will be no refund provided as the
entrance fee has finished amortizing. The couple, now residing together in the first resident’s
accommodation, will begin paying the second person monthly fee for that residence.

Inability to Pay: 1f a resident should encounter financial difficulty through no fault of his/her own
while residing at Arbor Acres, the resident may apply for financial assistance. Arbor Acres has
limited financial assistance resources for this purpose. Also, in a number of cases there are
guaranty agrcements between Arbor Acres and members of a resident’s family which make
possible the resident’s continued residence at the facility. Arbor Acres is unable to guarantee initial
or continuing allocations of financial assistance to a resident. As of the date of this Disclosure
Statement, it has not been necessary for Arbor Acres to require termination of residency for
financial reasons when the financial difficulty was not a result of decisions made by a resident or
resident’s representative.

Arbor Acres maintains an Assistance Endowment Fund, the income of which is available to Arbor
Acres for the assistance of residents who require financial assistance. As of December 31, 2022,
the value of this Endowment Fund was approximately $17,600,000; and the income from it
constitutes one of the several sources of Arbor Acres’ annual assistance funds which currently
aggregate more than $1,500,000 a year. The other sources of assistance funds include an annual
Mother's Day Offering, and grants from wills, trusts, foundations and the Western North Carolina
Annual Conference of The United Methodist Church.

SERVICES

Standard Services Available:
Services provided by Arbor Acres are addressed in resident agreements; for example, agreements
for independent living residents specify the following:

1. Maintenance of buildings and grounds, including unit occupied by resident (standard items
only)
2. Utilities: heat, air conditioning, electricity, water and sewer, telephone jack, but not

personal telephone handset or telephone service (telephone service, including long distance
11



is offered separately for a fee)

Basic cable television (not television set) and internet service

Emergency call system

Recreational, educational, cultural and spiritual life programs

Transportation to routine non-emergency medical appointments within Forsyth County

(transportation by ambulance not included)

7. Limited in-patient temporary care (see Services Available at Extra Charge, Identified:
Temporary in-patient care)

Sk

8. Routine nursing assessment, consultation and services available Monday through Friday in
the clinic

9. Weekly housekeeping assistance

10.  Laundering of bed and bath linens furnished by Arbor Acres

11.  Security personnel on duty in the Welcome Center

12.  Dining service with meals or a meal allowance is included in the monthly fee
13.  Access to Medicare Certified skilled nursing beds based on qualifications for Medicare
Coverage after 30 days of Residence at Arbor Acres.

Agreements for residency in other units, such as houses, Adult Care Home (Assisted Living) or
Health Care contain a list of services provided for residents in such units. Services currently
provided in Adult Care Home (Assisted Living) and Health Care are set out under those headings
below. Circumstances under which Arbor Acres’ services may be changed, modified or adjusted
are set out in the agreement.

Services Available at Extra Charge, Identified

Arbor Acres offers to residents in independent living the support services listed below which are
provided on an additional monthly charge basis. These services are designed to assist the
independent living residents with one or more activities of daily living. Residents will be allowed
to remain in independent living provided their needs can be met adequately within the specific
limits of these additional support services and provided the resident continues to meet all criteria

for independent living.

These additional support services are available as follows:

1. Laundry: Visit by an Arbor Acres Home Care authorized agency home care staff member
to the resident's Hving unit at a scheduled time to check their clothing and to gather
clothes for laundering, Residents’ clothing are washed and ironed by the staff member
and returned to the resident the same day.

2. Bathing: Residents are scheduled for bathing as needed. Support is provided by a staff
member who remains with the resident while he or she takes a bath. Residents are bathed
either in their own home or taken to the Spa area in Asbury Place.

3. Transportation: to buildings and locations on or off campus within the city limits of
Winston-Salem/Forsyth County, 7 days a week.

4. Meal Delivery

5. Temporary in-patient care: The additional charge for temporary in-patient care is subject
to the following exception: There is no additional charge for the first five (5) days of
temporary care during any ninety (90) consecutive day period. These five (5) days can be
restored only upon completion of ninety (90) consecutive days after discharge from
temporary care without returning to and occupying a temporary care bed. Meals are
charged from the first day for those residents not on the meal plan. Temporary in-patient
care in the Health Center is subject to availability of rooms, In the rare event that a room
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is not available for in-patient temporary care, Arbor Acres will make every effort to
ensure that the resident is provided with appropriate services in their home.

6. Supplies (such as syringes, dressings, etc) utilized by the clinic nurse in providing the
resident routine nursing services,

Other services available at extra charge are:

1. Guest meals: Residents who are not on the meal plan and residents desiring to have
guests for meals may purchase meals at the established guest meal rate.

2. Guest accommodations: Guest accommodations are available to residents on a first come
first serve basis for an additional daily fee.

3. Personal Services: Individual personal services are available to residents at an additional
hourly rate.

4. Through Home Care residents may purchase sitter and nursing services.

For schedule of charges applicable at this time for services available at an extra charge.

Adult Care Home (generally referred to as “Assisted Living”)

Adult Care Home (Assisted Living) agreements specify the following services provided by
Arbor Acres:

1. Nursing supervision (in accordance with regulatory standards; does not include private
duty or individual nurse for each resident), prescribed medication administration and
limited assistance with activities of daily living

2. Maintenance of buildings and grounds, including all standard equipment in the

accommodation

Utilities: heat, air conditioning, electricity, water and sewer

Basic cable television and internet service

Emergency call system, telephone jacks and assistance in emergencies
Recreational, educational, cultural and spiritual life programs
Transportation to routine non-emergency medical appointments within Forsyth County
(transportation by ambulance not included)

8. In-patient infirmary care in the Health Center for a limited number of days
9. Daily housekeeping assistance

10. Laundering of bed and bath linens furnished by Arbor Acres

11. Laundering of personal clothing (washing, drying, folding, not ironing).
12. Security personnel on duty in the Welcome Center

13. Food service {3 meals daily)

oy kW

Health Services Available

Health Center agreements specify the following services provided by Arbor Acres:
1. Nursing care (in accordance with regulatory standards; does not include private duty or
individual nurse for each resident)
Maintenance of buildings and grounds, including room occupied by resident
Utilities: heat, air conditioning, electricity, water and sewer
Basic cable television and Internet access
Emergency call system, telephone jacks and assistance in emergencies

@bk »
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. Recreational, educational, cultural and spiritual life programs
. Transportation to routine non-emergency medical appointments within Forsyth County
(transportation by ambulance, not included)

8. Daily housekeeping assistance

9. Laundering of bed and bath linens furnished by Arbor Acres

10. Laundering of personal clothing (washing, drying and folding, not ironing)

11. Security personnel on duty in the Welcome Center

12. Food service (3 meals daily and routine between meal nourishments). Note:
Administration of physician-prescribed gastric tube feeding included; cost of prescribed
food substitutes and supplements not included.

13. Social Work services

~J

Arbor Acres furnishes each Health Center resident a document entitled “Strickland Place &
Arborview at Fitzgerald Statement of Services and Related Charges.” The statement currently
reads as follows:

Strickland Place at Fitzgerald of Arbor Acres provides a full range of nursing care and health
supportive services for each resident. Strickland Place at Fitzgerald provides for Assisted Living
rooms and skilled nursing care, for which the facility is duly licensed by the State of North
Carolina. The following rates have been established for admission to and residency in Strickland
Place at Fitzgerald. Persons admitted directly to Strickland Place at Fitzgerald without having
previously resided at Arbor Acres must pay a $3,500 non-refundable entrance fee at the time of
admission, Charges for the first month of occupancy will be due at the time of admission and will
be prorated based on the number of days remaining in the first month of occupancy. Payments for
subsequent months will be due in advance at the first of each month. Payments may be made
between the first and the tenth of the month.

Residents pay a daily charge for services rendered by both licensed nurses and certified nursing
assistants. This daily charge also includes meals and clinical dietetic services, personal laundry
service, all utilities (except telephone), housekeeping, maintenance, and access to Arbor Acres
program activities and social services. Services rendered at Arbor Acres are not reimbursable
under the Medicaid program of the federal government. The restriction on Medicaid participation
was imposed by the State of North Carolina as a condition for the construction and licensing of
Strickland Place at Fitzgerald. The current room rates are as follows:

Skilled Nursing - $395.00 per day; Arborview (Dementia care) - $344.00 per day; and Assisted
Living - $233.00 per day (Studio); $271.00 per day (one bedroom apartment). Excluded from the
daily room rate are charges for pharmacy services, personal medical supplies, personal care
products, beauty/barber shop visits, physician services, dental services, podiatry services and
services rendered by a licensed therapist as part of an individualized program of rehabilitation.
Arbor Acres is a certified Medicare facility, therapy services are covered under Medicare Part A
and Part B.

Therapy services ate provided under Medicare Part B benefits and there are some limitations. The
therapy provider advises residents about the coverage under Medicare and what must be private

pay.

Our staff physician schedules weekly appointments in Strickland Place at Fitzgerald and arranges
for emergency physician services 24 hours a day. Residents may use the services of our staff
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physician or may select another personal physician who will come to Arbor Acres on a monthly
basis and perform the services required by state licensure. The resident will be fully responsible
for all physician services charges which they may incur, including the Medicare deductible and
co-payment.

Medical supplies, pharmaceutical services and some personal care products are provided for all
residents of Strickland Place at Fitzgerald. Enrollment in these programs will assure maximum
efficiency and security in the administration of resident’s medications, and availability of nceded
supplies on a continuous basis. A list of current charges is available upon request. All medications,
medical supplies and personal care products will be billed monthly to each resident either by the
facility or the provider of the service.

The maintenance fee (whether stated on a monthly or daily basis) is payable in advance each
month: all charges incurred during a month are billed at the end of the month. All fees and charges
are normally included in one monthly statement and are payable in full promptly upon receipt of
statement. An itemized statement may include medical supplies, oxygen, beauty/barber shop
charges, personal care products, guest meals, special activities and guest room or guest house
charges. Payment is requested within 10 days. A late payment charge of 1.5% per month,
computed from the statement date, will be made on any amount not reccived within 30 days of the
statement date.

Residents are responsible for continuing payment of the daily rate during absences from the
facility. This is necessary in order to assure the availability of a bed upon returning. Fees for
services during the last month of occupancy will be prorated and any remaining unused days of
care will be refunded to the resident or to the resident's estate.

Personal Services Available

Other services available for which there is no additional charge include an optional daily check-in
system, check cashing services, package shipping, access to washers/dryers, complete kitchens
and sitting areas. Services available through Arbor Acres may be added or deleted from time to
time. Charges for services may be adjusted periodically as found necessary by Arbor Acres.
Normally such adjustments are made as part of the facility’s annual budget preparation process.

Home Care Services Available
Arbor Acres Home Care, LLC (doing business as Arbor Acres at Home) allows residents to age
in place at home in familiar and comforting surroundings. The program provides a suite of a la
carte, in home services that help residents maintain their highest level of independence possible
while receiving the care they need, providing such services as:
» Assistance with grooming, dressing and household chores
Bathing or other personal hygiene assistance
Cleaning out closets
Laundry and linen care
Shopping
Sitter services
Administration of IV medication
Education about a new medication or help with medication administration
Wound care
PICC lines, trachs, feeding tube and port care
Emergency assistance around the clock
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Arbor Acres at Home is not covered by Medicare but may be covered by individual residents’
long term care insurance. Rates vary by type of service provided.

FEES

Application/Registration Fee - Refundable/Non-Refundabie
Arbor Acres’ application fee is $100.00 ($200.00 for a couple); it is non-refundable.

Entrance Fees

Independent Living - Payment of an Entrance Fee provides the resident with the lifetime use of a
residence. If at such time a move may be necessary due to need for a higher level of care then the
residence would be released back to Arbor Acres. At the time the resident makes application for
residency at Arbor Acres, the resident will sign a Residency Agreement to reserve the residence
selected and will pay the Entrance Fee deposit. The balance of the Entrance Fee will be paid upon
the earlier of (i) occupancy, to (ii) five days prior to the Occupancy Date stated in the Residency
Agreement. :

Licensed Areas (Assisted Living and Skilled Nursing): Only residents who move to licensed areas
who are not already residents of Arbor Acres pay a one-time enirance fee of $3,500. Current
residents pay no additional entrance fees when moving from their independent living residences.

Monthly and Daily Fees

Independent Living - Residents pay monthly fees to cover services and amenities, including a
declining balance meal plan, weekly housekeeping, linens and towels, cable TV, campus-wide
wireless internet, maintenance and personal security devices.

Licensed Areas - Daily fees in assisted living and skilled nursing cover services, including all
meals, medication management, laundry service, activities, cable and wireless internet,

Second Person Fees: Independent Living - A second person coming into an independent living
residence pays a one-time Entrance Fee of $10,000, and an additional $1,095 per month.

Entrance Fees for residential units are refundable, less $2,500 ($5,000 if two persons enter under
one residency agreement) and less 2% a month for the first 50 months of residency. Skilled Nursing
and Assisted Living entrance fees are non-refundable except as specified in the residency
agreement. Monthly fees are non-refundable; however, because fees are paid in advance, fees will
be prorated to the last day of occupancy and a refund of the balance paid to a resident in the event
of termination of residency.

For Temporary Care stays beyond the five (5) day period, the daily rate is $395.00.

Home Care rates apply only to those residents living in independent living who have the need for
the specific service offered. Through utilization of those services, residents are able to continue
living in an independent unit rather than having to move to a higher level of care. Rates are as
follows:

Medication Management $198.00 per month

Skilled Nursing visits $ 60.00 per visit

Home Care Aid Services $ 23.00 - $30.00 per hour (min. of 4 hours}
CNA Sitter Services $24.00 - $32.00 per hour
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Meal rates for guests and for residents not on the meal plan are priced “a [a carte.” Lakeside Dining,
The Arbor Room, Asbury Dining, and Fitzgerald/Strickland Dining offer print menus with weekly
specials. Pricing information is printed on daily menus.

Guest House/Guest Room rates are:

Guest Room — Studio (includes breakfast)
1 Person
Each Additional Person

$110.00 per night
$ 10.00 per night

Guest Room — 1-Bedroom (includes breakfast)

1 Person/2 Persons

Additional Services

Additional housekeeping services, such as
cleaning attics and closets, polishing silver
(other than annual cleaning, personal laundry).

Escort services for medical/dental
appointments for residents other than those
in licensed areas.

Services outside those included in the monthly
charge, i.e. hanging shelves, putting furniture
together, rearranging furniture, non-level-of-care
moves (i.c house to Stockton).

Meal Delivery
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$122.00/$130 per night

Charge

$21.00 per hour

$9.75 per 15 minutes or $39 per hour

$46.00 per person, per hour
$11.50 per person, per 15 minutes

$7.75



FINANCIAL INFORMATION 2023 Independent Living

SQUARE ENTRANCE
RESIDENCE TYPE FOOTAGE FEE MONTHLY SINGLE FEE
Studios and One-Bedroom Apartments Monthly fee includes utilities
Studio 315 $45,000 $2,023
One-bedroom with Kitchenette 630 $118,000 $2,951
One-bedroom Corpening with Kitchen 630 $124,000 $3,037
Second Resident $10,000 additional $1,095 additional
Stockton Apartment Building Monthly fee includes utilities
A (One-bedroom, One Bath) 991 $198,000 $3,057
B (One-bedroom, One-and-a-half Bath, Den) 1,160 $232,000 $3,383
C-1 (Two-bedroom, Two Bath) 1,217 $246,000 $3,593
C-2 (Two-bedroom, Two Bath) 1,397 $282,000 $3,811
C-3 (Two-bedroom, Two Bath) 1,500 $303,000 $4,030
D-1 (Two-bedroom, Two Bath, Den) 1,592 $324,000 $4,355
D-2 (Two-bedroom, Two Bath, Den) 1,602 $327,000 $4,404
D-3 (Two-bedroom, Two Bath, Den) 1,728 $353,000 $4,686
Second Resident $10,000 additional $1,095 additional
Basement Garage Parking One parking space included for all two-bedroom apartments
Custom Homes : Monthly fee
One-bedroom, One Bath : <1,200 - up to $271,000 | $2,846
Two-bedroom, Two Bath © 1,200-1,399 . $271,000-316,000 $3,497
Two-bedroom, Two Bath . 1,400-1,599 . $316,000-361,000 $3,743
Two-bedroom, Two Bath 1,600-1,799 $362,000-407,000 $4,193
Two-bedroom, Two Bath . 1,800-1,999 $407,000-452,000 - $4,681
Two-bedroom, Two Bath 2,000-2,199 $476,200-523,000 E $4,904
Two-bedroom, Two Bath : >2,200 $523,000+ $5,331
Second Resident : : $10,000 additional $1,095 additional
Patio Homes Monthly fee
Two-bedroom, Two Bath : 1,326 : $300,000 $3,402
Second Resident © $10,000 additional $1,095 additional
Courtyard Homes : . Monthly fee
One-bedroom, One Bath 1,060 $240,000 $3,246
Two-bedroom, Two Bath 1,187 $268,000 $3,447

Second Resident

$10,000 additional $1,005 additional

THE MINIMUM AGE TO ENTER ARBOR ACRES IS 62. Continues on back



ALDERSGATE SQUARE APARTMENTS 2023

ENTRANCE FEES

Aldersgate Square SINGLE TOP FLOOR
Apartments & Balcony ENTRY FEE ENTRY FEE
Two Bedroom 2 Bath DUO £306,660 i

(1546sf + 116sf)

Two Bedroom 2 Bath CUSTOM P — ———
(1615sf + 152sf) ’ : A
Two Bedroom 2 Bath PELUXE £355,000 hioh
(1767sf + 134sf) ’ 492
Two Bedroom 2 Bath ALCOVE

$462,000 $502,000
(1800sf + 1165f) 1 -
Two Bedroom 2-1/2 Bath DEN DELUXE
(2005sf + 116sf) $556,000 $606,000
Second person fee $10,000 ©  $10,000
Premiuns
Ground Floor walk outs
(select locations) #3R:000 N/a

Views (select locations)

The minimum age to enter Arbor Acres is 62.

 Top floor apartment entry fee has the
added value of expansive ceiling design

(adding height) and includes gas fireplace.

o Premium pricing is determined by
specific apartment location.

« One covered parking space
included with each apartment.

Pricing and floor plans are subject to change.

Fireplaces: Gas fireplace included in top
floor premium and other select apartments;
electric fireplace upgrade non-top floor
available.

$20,000 UP TO
$50,000

N/A

MONTHLY FEES

$4,333

$4,527

$4,908

$4,952

$5,517

$1,095

Updated: 12/7/2022

Continues on back



LIVING WITH ASSISTANCE

IN ASBURY PLACE

For people who benefit from daily support to achieve
maximum well-being, Asbury Place, a licensed assisted
living facility, delivers a rewarding residential experience.
Asbury Place affords residents an independent lifestyle
supported through the provision of discrete accessible
services. One-bedroom and studio apartments feature

RESIDENCE TYPE

Asbury Place Assisted Living

ENTRANCE FEE

bay windows, kitchenettes, walk-in closets, and
beautiful outdoor areas. Residents also benefit from
professional nursing oversight, daily assistance
from certified professional caregivers, medication
administration, and the pleasures of active social
engagement, recreation, and fine dining.

DAILY FEE

Daily fee includes meals, laundry and utilities

Studio $3,500 $233 per day
One-bedroom Apartment $3,500 $271 per day
Two-bedroom Apartment $3,500 $321 per day
Second Person — Assisted Living $3,500 $188 per day
g ‘:_:,d : .
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ARBORVIEW AT

For people who experience significantly compromised
cognition, Arborview at Fitzgerald offers comprehensive
memory care support and a flexible, attentive, and
beautifully orchestrated way of life. Licensed as an
assisted living level of care, Arborview features devoted
and highly trained employees who enhance fun, alleviate
stress, engage the mind, foster community, respect the
dignity of, and deliver comfort to residents and their
loved ones.

Residents enjoy private rooms and an environment

that offers them light, uplifting energy, and beauty that
is both enriching and soothing to the senses. Safe and
secure outdoor areas serve as seamless extensions of the

interior’s lovely ambiance.

Arborview
Memory Care

Private Room

Entrance Fee

Daily fee includes meals,

laundry and utilities $344 per day

STRICKLAND PLACE

Strickland Place at Fitzgerald offers compassion and
quality of life to people who daily require the highest
level of personal and professional service from certified
nursing assistants and registered nurses. Residents enjoy
private rooms filled with personal furnishings that reflect
their tastes and generate for them an enriching sense

of home. Strickland Place delivers a warm, spacious,
and comforting environment, resplendent with nature’s
healing energies, that preserves dignity and provides
both hope and peace of mind to residents and

their families.

Strickland Place
Skilled Nursing Care

Private Room

- Entrance Fee $3,500

Daily fee includes meals,
laundry and utilities

$395 per day




Notification of Fee Increase(s)

Arbor Acres may increase fees or may otherwise adjust periodic charges and fees as determined
necessary by the Board of Directors in order to maintain the desired quality of service and to
operate Arbor Acres on a fiscally sound, non-profit basis. Proposed adjustments in charges and
fees are normally made if, and to the extent, found necessary in the course of preparing an annual
budget; then, upon approval by the Board of Directors, are implemented at the beginning of the
upcoming fiscal year.

Changes in Fees for the Previous Five Years
A five-year history of adjustments in Arbor Acres’ most common room fees is reflected on the
following page.
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ARBOR ACRES UNITED METHODIST RETIREMENT COMMURNITY, INC.
FIVE YEAR HISTORY OF ROOM FEES

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 Flve Year History
! CHG CHE CHG CHG CHG

Qucupaney % FROM % FROM % FROM % FRCM % FROM % AVGS AVG%
Classification Cha RATE RATE PREV Change RATE PREYV Change RATE PREV Change RATE PREV Change RATE PREV Change| Change CHANGE
Studio §1,788 | 51,851 § &3 35%[ 51,870 5 18 10%[ 51,88 5 18 1.0%| 51,927 5 38 2.0%S 2,023 5 96 5.0%| 4 47 2%
Studio Efficlency 1,854 | 1,919 €5 3.5%] 1,938 18 1.0%| 1,957 19 1.0%| 1,986 33 2.0% 2,085 iop 5.0% 48 2.5%
Connecting room Sulte 2,610 2,701 91 3.5%| 2,728 27 1.0%| 2,755 7 1.0%| 2,810 55 2.0% 2,951 141 5.0% 6B 2.5%
Corpening -ohe bedroom apartment 2,658 | 2,752 83 3.5%| 2,780 28 1.0%| 2,808 8 1.0%| 2,892 34 3.0% 3,037 145 5.0% e 2%
One Badroor House 371 2,454 a3 3.5%) 2,523 68 2.8%| 2,594 71 2.8%| 2,685 9 3.5% 2,845 161 5.0% 95  3.7%

One Bedroom Bayberry Courtyard Home | 2,730 | 2,826 96 3.5%| 2,905 79 2.8%] 2,986 81 2.8%| 2,091 105 3.5% 3,248 155 5.0%| 103 3.5%
Tweo Bedroom Bayberry Courtyard Home | 2,300 | 3,002 102 3.5%| 3,088 84 2,8%) 3,172 86 2.8%| 32,283 11 3.5% 3,447 164 5.0%| 109 3.5%

Two Bedroom House less than 1400 sf 2,814} 3,016 102 3.5%| 3,100 84 2.8%1 3,187 87 2.8%| 3,209 112 3.5% 3,497 198 6.0% 117 3.7%
Two Bedroom House 1400 sf ko 1589sf) | 3,120 | 3,229 108 3.5%] 3,319 90 2.8%| 3,412 93 2.8%| 3,531 119 3.5% 8,743 212 B.0%| 125  3.7%
Two Bedroom House 1600 sfto1799sf) § 3,49% | 3,617 122 3.5%) 3,718 101 8% 3,822 104 2.8%| 3,956 134 3.5% 4,193 237 B8.0%| 140  3.7%
Two Bedroom House 1800 sfto 1999sf) | 3,901 | 4,028 137 3.5%| 4,151 113 2.8%| 4,267 116 2.8%| 4,416 149 3.5% 4,681 265 B.0%| 156 3.7%
Twa Bedroom House 2000 sf to 2199sf) | 4,125 | 4,268 144 3.5%| 4,389 120 2.8%| 4,512 123 2.8%| 4,670 158 3.5% 4,904 234 5.0%) 156  3.5%

Two Bedroom Heuse over 2200 sf 4,484 | 4,641 152 3.5% 4771 130 2.8%| 4,905 134 2.8%| 5077 172 3.5% 5,331 254 S.0%] 169 3.5%
Stockton Apartment - §91 sf 2,511 | 2,599 48 8% 2,672 73 2.8%| 2,747 75 2.8%| 2,857 11c 4.0% 8,057 200 2.0%| 109 40%
Steckton Apartment - 1,160 sf 2,719 | 24,876 97 35%{ 2,957 81 2.8%] 3,040 83 2.8%| 3,162 122 4.0% 8,383 221 7.0% 121 A0%
Stockton Apartment - 1,217 sf 2,952 | 3,085 103 3.5%| 2041 86 .8%] 3,229 B3 2.8%| 3,358 129 4.0% 2,593 235 7.0% 128 A0%
Stocktan Apartment - 1,287 sf 3,131 | 2241 110 5% 3,332 21 2.8%| 3,425 83 2.8%| 3,562 137 4.0% 2,811 244 7.0%| 136 4.0%
Stoekton Apartment » 1,500 sf 3,310} 3,426 116 3.5%| 3,522 96 2.8%| 3,821 89 2.8%| 3,766 145 4.0% 4,030 264 0% 144 4.0%
Stockten Apartment - 1,582 sf 3,577 | 3,702 125 3.5%| 3,806 i04 2.8%| 3,913 107 2.8%| 4,070 157 4.0% 4,355 285 7.0% 156 A0%
stockten Apartment - 1,602 sf 3618 | 3,745 127 3.5%| 3,850 105 2.8%| 3,958 108 2.8%| 4,116 138 4.0% 4,404 288 7.0%| 157 A0%
Storkton Apartment - 1,728 sf 3,849 | 3984 138 3.5%) 4,096 112 2.8%| 4,211 115 2.8%( 4,379 168 4.0% 4,686 a7 70%| 167 A0%

Opening - 2023:

Aldersgate Seuare Apt - 1546 sf 4,333 nfa nfa nfa nfa
Aldersgate Square Apt - 1615 sf 4,527 nfa nfa nfa nla
Aldersgate Squars Apt - 1767 sf 4,908 nfa n/a n/fa nfa
Aldersgate Square Apt « 1800 sf 4,952 n/a n/a nfa nfa
Aldersgate Squars Apt - 2005 sf 5517  nfa nfa nfa nfa
Assisted Living-5tudlo 199 203 4 2.0% 207 4 2.0% 212 6 2.9%, 222 9 4.2% 233 11 5.0% 7 3.2%
Assisted Living-one Bedroom 231 238 5 2.2% 241 5 2.0% 248 7 1.9% 258 10 A4.0% 271 13 5.0% 8 3.3%
Assisted Living - MemoryCare Unit 318 318 - 0.0% 318 - 0.0% 318 - 0.0% 228 10 3.1% 344 16 4.9% 5 1.6%
Skilled - Private 318 331 13 4.1% 341 10 3.0% 351 19 2.9%) 376 25 7.1% 385 19 5.1% 15 4.4%

NOTE: The above rates are based upon ene parson occupancy In all residential type units, Dur overall rate structure also provides
far two-person occupancy in all types of independent living residential units. The rate structure also Indludes
meals for all independent living residents. Residents can elect a monthly $372, $186, or $0 meal plan on an annual basis.
All rates shown are monthly rates except Skilled Nursing and Assisted Living rates whith are daily rates.

All rates are adjusted annually and are effective fanary 1st of each respective year. No rates have hean adjusted other than annually for any vear presented.



Arbor Acres
The Advantage Program

Arbor Acres offers a Residency option to those who may not want to physically reside on our
campus. This program is called “The Advantage Program.” The Resident can continue to live in
his/her current home but have access to Arbor Acres’ Assisted Living, Skilled Nursing and other
health care programs. The Advantage Program is offered to residents of Forsyth County, NC and
surrounding counties in convenient proximity to Arbor Acres.

This residency status allows one to become a Resident of Arbor Acres with access to the campus
amenities, and ensures access to future health care services as needed, while remaining in his/her
current home and retaining his/her position on our waiting list for a potential future move to our
campus at a later date. Residents who join The Advantage Program may also move into Arbor
Acres if they so choose. Once one becomes a Resident of Arbor Acres, whether living on campus
or through the Advantage Program, he/she has equal access to all common areas of campus, equal
standing as members of the Residents Association and equal access to Arbor Acres’ health care
facilities.

POLICIES
Admission

Health Criteria: To be accepted as a resident, the applicant’s health must be such that the
applicant’s care requirements are appropriate to, and can be met within the level of care to which
the person is requesting admission. A person applying for admission to The Advantage Program
is considered an independent living resident and must be ambulatory, mentally alert, and able to
meet his’her personal care needs without assistance or supervision. The agreement entered into
between Arbor Acres and resident states that at the time of the execution of the agreement, Arbor
Acres has determined that the resident qualified for residency at Arbor Acres both with respect to
the resident’s mental and physical condition and the resident's ability to take care of anticipated
fees and charges. The agreement also provides that it will be necessary for the resident to meet the
Arbor Acres health and financial qualifications for residency at the time he/she becomes a physical
resident of the facility, subject to the understanding that if at that time the person is not mentally
or physically qualified to occupy a residential unit of the type contemplated under the agreement,
but is qualified to live in an Adult Care Home (Assisted Living) unit or in the Health Center
(Skilled Nursing) of Arbor Acres, he/she will be entitled to such accommodations in the facility
most appropriate to his/ber situation and needs. Once admitted to Arbor Acres, a resident, from
the standpoint of health, may continue to reside at Arbor Acres so long as the facilities and services
available can, in the opinion of the facility’s medical advisers, provide the level of care needed by
the resident. As a resident’s needs for care increases, the resident may be required to move to a
highet level of care provided by Arbor Acres in order to continue the right of residency at the
facility.

Financial and Insurance Criteria: To be accepted as a resident of The Advantage Program and in
order for residency to continue, an applicant must agree to pay the entrance fee and monthly fees
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and charges associated with The Advantage Program. Arbor Acres requires applicants to provide
a financial statement. Applicants with inadequate financial resources to carry them through their
projected life expectancy are nevertheless considered for admission if family members provide
guaranties of payment or if the applicant qualifies for financial assistance within the limit of Arbor
Acres’ ability to provide such assistance. Residents whose resources are depleted during residency
may remain as residents under the following circumstances: If members of resident’s family or
other interested parties provide guaranties of payment acceptable to Arbor Acres; or if the Arbor
Acres’ financial assistance resources are such as to enable the facility to provide the amounts
needed. Residents whose financial resources are diverted to other persons or causes, thereby
creating a financial need, are not eligible for consideration for financial assistance.

At present Arbor Acres has no insurance criteria affecting admissions. Applicants whose resources
are marginal or inadequate to cover their projected residency fees may be encouraged to consider
purchase of long-term care insurance as a method of increasing available income once the applicant
becomes a resident of a licensed level of care,

Age Requirements: One must be 62 years of age to become a resident of The Advantage Program.
In the case of a married couple, if one spouse is 62, the minimum age for the other spouse is 60.

Changes of Condition of Resident Prior to Occupancy/Refund(s)Applicable/Not Applicable/Time
Frame of Refund(s): If between the date of entering into a residency agreement such as The
Advantage Program and the date of initial occupancy on campus, an applicant’s financial condition
changes affecting the applicant’s ability to pay expenses associated with residency, the applicant
is required to submit a new financial statement. Improvement in the applicant’s financial position
may alter previous commitments by Arbor Acres to provide financial assistance. A decline in the
applicant’s capacity to pay the previously agreed upon periodic fees and charges may require
reassessment of the applicant’s ability to reside at Arbor Acres and whether Arbor Acres is in a
position to provide financial assistance. If the applicant is unable to move into Arbor Acres for any
reason, the applicant is entitled to an entrance fee refund to the extent of and in accordance with
the provisions of the agreement.

Cancellation/Termination - Refund(s) Applicable/Not Applicable/Time Frame of Refund(s):
Pursuant to the statute, the party (applicant) contracting with the provider (Arbor Acres) may
rescind the contract within thirty (30) days following the later of the execution of the contract or
the receipt of a disclosure statement. A resident may terminate residency upon thirty (30) days
written notice. Arbor Acres may terminate one's residency if:

L. Resident does not pay monthly fees and other charges on a timely basis;
Resident's behavior (or that of resident’s family members, responsible parties, or others
specified in the residency agreement) is detrimental to the spirit of Arbor Acres; or

3. Resident requires treatment or care other than that which Arbor Acres is licensed
or staffed to provide.

Termination of residency by Arbor Acres occurs only “as a last resort,” when it becomes clear that
termination is necessary, and after the resident and/or the resident’s responsible party has an

25



opportunity to be heard. On termination of residency any monthly fees paid in advance are prorated
and any appropriate refund is made thereof within sixty (60) days. Provisions relating to entrance
fee refunds upon termination of residency are set out in residency agreements, Subject to the
statutory refund provisions which apply in the event of rescission of the agreement within thirty
(30) days or preclusion, by death, illness, injury, or incapacity, from occupying a unit under the
terms of the agreement, then the entrance fee is refundable on a declining basis of two percent
(2%) per month for fifty (50) months, with no part of the entrance fee being refundable after a
person has participated in The Advantage Program with Arbor Acres for fifty (50) or more months.
The calculation and payment of any refund to a person who has become a resident is made in the
same manner whether termination of residency is voluntary, is at the request of Arbor Acres, or is
occasioned by death.

1. If aresident dies while a participant in The Advantage Program or before occupying a
living unit in the facility, or if, on account of illness, injury, or incapacity a resident
would be prectuded from occupying a living unit in the facility under the terms of the
contract for continuing care, the contract is automatically cancelled. Arbor Acres will
refund entrance fees paid, as stated in the residency agreement. The refund will be
provided within thirty (30) days of receipt by Arbor Acres of all billable costs incurred by
the resident.

2. Inthe event of the death of a resident as a participant of The Advantage Program, Arbor
Acres will refund the entrance fee, less the $1,000 non-refundable portion as stated in the
residency agreement, and under the prorated refund policy of 2% per month for fifty (50)
months, with no part of the entrance fee being refundable after fifty (50) or more months
or residency. Upon receiving payment of an entrance fee in The Advantage Program,
Arbor Acres will refund to the resident or the resident’s estate.

3. Inthe event of a resident vacating a unit due to moving to a higher level of care, then no
refund of the entrance fees paid will be provided unless that move occurs within ninety
(90) days of the resident’s physical move-in date, as provided by the stated refund policy.

4. Entrance fees paid to Arbor Acres under The Advantage Program will be counted toward
any future entrance fee payable to Arbor Acres for a residence should the Advantage
Program participant elect to move into the physical campus.

Inability to Pay: If a resident should encounter financial difficulty while participating in The
Advantage Program with Arbor Acres, there are guaranty agreements between Arbor Acres and
members of a resident’s family which make possible the resident’s continued participation in the
program.
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SERVICES

Standard Services Available:
Services provided by Arbor Acres while participating in The Advantage Program are addressed
in resident agreements. An overview of the benefits is listed below:

1. An annual health and wellness assessment.

2. Access to recreational, educational, cultural and spiritual life programs.

3. Limited in-patient temporary care in Arbor Acres skilled nursing facility. Arbor Acres
Nursing and Continuing Care staff will assist with admission to and discharge form
Arbor Acres’ licensed facilities, including skilled nursing and assisted living. Residents
pay the standard per diem for residency beginning on the day of admission.( This does
not appear in this document

4. Arbor Acres fitness center — complete access to our fitness center, consultation with our
wellness staff, a variety of exercise and wellness classes and development of a personal
health and fitness plan.

5. Arbor Acres dining and catering facilities -- No monthly fee required. Each member pays
only for any food purchased.

6. Nursing consultation in our onsite medical clinic — At no additional charge, residents may
visit the Clinic as needed and receive support and guidance over the phone as well,

7. Support and guidance during a health care crisis. Arbor Acres Continuing Care staff is
available when needed for consultation and assistance with navigating the broader health
care system.

8. Coordination of and access to Licensed Home Care services in the resident’s home.
Residents pay prevailing rates for these services.

FEES

Application/Registration Fee - Refundable/Non-Refundable
Arbor Acres’ application fee is $100.00; it is non-refundable.

Entrance Fees

The Advantage Program entrance fee is $12,500 per resident. On the day of execution of The
Advantage Program Residency Agreement, $1,000 of the single residency fee becomes
nonrefundable. The balance amortizes at a rate of 2% per month until the total amount paid
becomes fully nonrefundable. The entire amount of the entrance fee paid may be applied to the
amount of any future entrance fee payable to Arbor Acres in the event The Advantage Program
resident elects to physically move to Arbor Acres campus.

Monthly Fees

The monthly fee per resident is $400.00. This covers costs associated with utilization of
programs, services, facilities and amenities, support staff and dining. It does not include the cost
of any meals.
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FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Financial Overview Statement

Arbor Acres has relied upon gifts, pledges and bequests, and upon funds received from entrance
fees to cover most of the cost of construction, equipment, land improvements, other
extraordinary expenses, debt amortization and accumulation of reserve funds. Secondly, Arbor
Acres generally relies upon periodic fees and charges from residents to support the cash
requirements for operations.

On June 10, 2010 Arbor Acres obtained a tax-exempt bond issue (series 2010 Bonds) in the form
of a Bank Qualified loan to be withdrawn as needed up to $28,875,000. The Bank Qualified loan
was issued for the purpose of new construction of 8,500 square feet, 12-bed addition to
Arborview (Dementia Care) and for new construction of an 117,000 square feet Assisted Living
Building to contain 72 beds, new kitchen and dining areas, a new Physical Therapy space and a
new Community Life space for programming, The series 2010 Bonds consist of variable rate tax
exempt bonds, with a fixed interest rate swap at 3.333% per annum. Principal and interest is
payable monthly with a final maturity date of Januvary 1, 2038,

In June, 2015, Arbor Acres entered into a construction loan agreement with a commercial bank
to provide financing for the renovation of the skilled nursing facility, Strickland Place at
Fitzgerald. In 2019 the construction loan was refinanced and an additional $1,000,000 was drawn
to finance construction of a new bistro dining space in independent living, The 2019 Bank Loan
consists of a $8,450,000 taxable loan amortized over 15 years with a maturity date of September
15, 2034. Interest is payable monthly at a variable rate of 1.15% over the 30 day LIBOR, and
reset monthly with a fixed rate swap with a rate of 2,865%. Principal and interest are payable
monthly. On July 27, 2021 Arbor Acres converted this taxable loan to a tax-exempt bond, the
Series 2021 A-3 bonds. The bonds carry a variable rate of 79% of one month SOFR plus
1.027%.

In December 2016, $13,159,000 of North Carolina Medical Care Commission Retirement
Facilities First Mortgage Revenue Refunding Bonds (Arbor Acres Methodist Retirement
Community) Series 2016 (the “Series 2016 Bonds”) were issued to refund the outstanding North
Carolina Medical Care Commission Health Care Facilities First Mortgage Revenue Refunding
Bonds (Arbor Acres Methodist Retirement Community) Series 2007 (the “Series 2007 Bonds™).
The Series 2016 Bonds consist of variable rate tax-exempt bonds, with a fixed interest rate swap
at 2.914% per annum. Principal and interest on the Series 2016 Bonds is payable monthly with a
final maturity of January 1, 2031.

In July 2021, the Series 2021 A-1 and A-2 Health Care Facilities First Mortgage Revenue Bonds
were issued for a total amount available up to $55,000,000 for the construction of new
independent living apartments on the existing campus at Arbor Acres. The project, Aldersgate
Square, is expected to be complete by May 2023, Approximately $38.9 million had been drawn
on these bonds as of December 31, 2022. The Series A-1 Bonds ($33m) provide for a 30 year
amortization period, with interest only through September 2024. The Series A-2 Bonds ($22m)
are expected to be repaid with initial entrance fees collected on Aldersgate Square by January 1,
2027.
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As required by G.S. 58-64-30, a comparison of Actual Results with Forecasted Projections as of
December 31, 2022 follows the financial section of this Disclosure Statement.

Reserves, Escrow and Trusts

As of the end of 2022, Arbor Acres had unrestricted cash and investments of $25,008,063,
investments funding operating reserves of $7,962,500, and restricted cash and investments for
purposes other than financial assistance of $651,204. The restricted investment includes a
$500,000 endowment, the income from which helps support the operating expense of a
swimming pool and spendable restricted funds to support a number of smaller ongoing projects
on campus.

The facility expects to have a reserve requirement of $8,727,250 based on the 2023 Forecast.
The building of these reserves will continue in future years and will be accomplished primarily
through the receipt of entrance fees, contributions, and bequests from wills and trusts. These
projections show the achievement of an increasing operating reserve fund (projected at
$10,019,000 at December 31, 2027) which will enable Arbor Acres to maintain the reserve
requirements of G.S. 58-64-33 during the period of this forecast. The achievement of this reserve
requirement is predicated upon Arbor Acres being subject to the 25% reserve requirement based
upon the facility’s anticipated occupancy of units exceeding 90%. The facility’s occupancy is
projected to be approximately 94.9% for existing independent living units and 94.6% for new
independent living units after stabilization during this five-year period.

In addition to the investments discussed above, Arbor Acres had $18,468,774 of financial
assistance funds in place at the end of 2022. Of that amount, $17,553,793 constituted the
Assistance Endowment Fund; the balance constituted funds available for assistance to residents,
These are funds which are used to provide charitable assistance to residents who otherwise
would not be able to afford residency at Arbor Acres.

Investments of funds are currently managed by an investment advisor, Bank of America. These
funds are invested in separate accounts each consisting of a variety of funds including US
equities, International equities, Fixed income bond funds, a Real Estate Fund and alternative
funds. Investment fund accounts specifically for Assistance Endowment resources are segregated
from non-financial assistance amounts. Future investment strategies will depend upon future
investment opportunities and market conditions. Additional fund accounts include the operating
reserve fund and the strategic fund. Investment strategies will be reviewed continuously, and as
the amount of money available for long-term investment changes, the diversity of investment
vehicles utilized by the facility is likely to change,

Overall policies and decisions relative to the magnitude of reserve funds and the investment of
reserve funds and financial assistance funds are under the direction of the Investment Committee
of the Board of Directors. In 2022, Arbor Acres engaged Bank of America, to act as its
Investment Manager. As the Investment Manager, Bank of America has the authority to exercise
security trades as established by the Investment Policy parameters. Within the parameters of
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these policies, specific investment decisions may be authorized by the Investment Committee
and are executed by the Chief Financial Officer. All Investment Committee positions are held by
board members and other community volunteers approved by the Board of Directors. David W.
Matthews, Chief Financial Officer, is the only individual in the direct employment of Arbor
Acres who is included in this investment authorization process. Mr. Matthews holds a Bachelor
of Science degree in Accounting from The University of North Carolina at Charlotte (1995). Mr.
Matthews is a Certified Public Accountant licensed in North Carolina (1999), His experience
includes 17 years in public accounting, serving as a Senior Manager with a national accounting
firm and nine years working in the hospitality and senior living industries as Controller and CFO.

An Escrow Agreement has been established for administering entrance fee receipts to the extent
and as required by applicable statutes. A copy of the Escrow Agreement follows the financial

section of this Disclosure Statement.

Facility Development/Expansion

The Board of Directors in 2019 approved a Core Facilities renovation plan that calls for
independent living expansion and replacements of aging structures,

On May 1, Arbor Acres completed an Independent Living expansion on its current campus with
the addition of two hybrid villa apartment buildings, adding a total of 56 new units. The project
feature connectivity to the existing independent living common areas, including dining venues
and meeting spaces. The steel and concrete apartment buildings include covered parking on the
ground floor with apartments above, with unit sizes ranging from 1546 to 2005 square feet,
Amenities include indoor and outdoor gathering areas, and two elevators in each building. SFCS
Architects produced all architectural plans and drawings related to the project.

Arbor Acres continues to invest in its facilities to improve their appearance, functionality, and
marketability. Occasionally, older houses that prove difficult or too costly to renovate are
removed and replaced with new construction. Likewise, aging apartment buildings are constantly
under renovation in order to improve the livability and marketability of smaller residential
offerings. The eventual renovation and/or replacement of these aging structures remains part of
the strategic master facilities plan, though no specific plans are in place to advance these
initiatives in the foreseeable future.

Completion of Annual Disclosure Statement Filing Supplement
An Annual Disclosure Statement Filing Supplement was completed and included with Arbor
Acres’ 2023 disclosure filing to the North Carolina Department of Insurance.

OTHER MATERIAL INFORMATION, AS APPLICABLE

Arbor Acres is not the subject of any existing bankruptcy filing, receivership, liquidation or the
like, The facility has historically been exempt from property taxes and remains exempt under
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current statute which bases the degree of exemption upon the amount of charity care and
community benefit provided by the facility.

STATEMENT OF RELATIONSHIP
ATTACHMENT I

Current Audited Financial Statements

Arbor Acres operates on a fiscal year which coincides with the calendar year and the financial
records of the facility have been audited annually. Arbor Acres sclected Forvis, LLP, as its
independent auditor for fiscal year beginning January 1, 2004 and anticipates continuing this
relationship through at least 2023. Audited figures for 2022 are included in the financial section
of this Disclosure Statement.

ATTACHMENT 2

Five Year Projection Statements
Five year projections are included in the financial section of the Disclosure Statement.

ATTACHMENT 3

Escrow Agreement
An Escrow Agreement has been established for administering entrance fee receipts to the extent
and as required by applicable statutes.

ATTACHMENT 4

Resident's Agreements/Contracts

Copies of standard resident agreements for each level of care available in the facility are inserted
in the back of the Disclosure Statement and were filed with the Disclosure Statement submitted
annually to the North Carolina Department of Insurance.
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STATEMENT OF RELATIONSHIP

THIS STATEMENT OF RELATIONSHIP is made and effective as of the day of
August 28, 2018 by and between the Western North Caroling Annval  Conference of the United
Methodist Chwrch (the “Confercpce™) and Adbor Acres United Methodist Rctirement
Commuoity, Inc., & nonprofit corporation organized and existing under the laws of the State of
North Carolina (the “Atflisted Organization™),

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The Conference is one of the unnval conferences of The United Methodist Church, The
lerm *“The United Meothodist Church” vefers to the overall denominastion snd conncctlonal
relation and identity between it§ many local churches, the various conferences and their
respective councils, boards and agencies, and other church units, which collectively constitute
the relipious system known as United Methodism, Under the Congtitution and disciplinary
procedures set forth in The Book of Discipline of The United Methodist Church (the
“Discipline”), “The United Methodist Church™ as & denominational whole is not an cntity, not
does it possess legal capacities and attributes. It does not and catnot hold title to property, noc
does it have any officer, sgent, employee, office or location. Conlerences, councils, boards,
ageneies, local clwrches and other units bearing the name *United Methodist” are, for the most
part, legal entities capable of suing and being sued and possessed of legal capacities:

The connectional structure of the Chuech is maintained through the conferences, Each of
the Apnual Copferences (of which the Conference is onc) is composed of an equal munber of
ministers and lny members elected by the local churchos. In tum, thore iv one Genepul
Conforence, composed of an equel numiber of ministers and lay members elected by the Annual
Clonferences. The Diszipline is the hook of law of the Church. The Discipline is the product of
more than 200 years of the Genoral Conferences of the denominations which now form. tho
Clinreh, Rach General Conference amends, perfects, clarifies, and adds its own contribution to
the Discipline. The Dzsc:y!me reflects what is expecled.of its laily and clorgy as thoy seek to be
elfbetive withesses in the world as a part of the whole Rody of Chiist, (See pumgi‘aph 114 of the
1992 Discipling). The relationship set forth in this Statement of Relationship is solely and
exclusively between the Conforence and the Affiliated Organization, .

United Methodista give high priotity to helping and healing ministries as a vital part of
their Christian mission. In the United Stute alone, there aré hundreds of helping and healing
programs related to focal churches, and there arc also hundreds of ins_timtlmml ministrics of
“which the Affiliated Qrganization is one, United Methodists recognize the importance of
operating, mamtamm,g and protecting those institutions]l mindstties as o vital means of carrying
out the Christian roission of United Mothodism, The health and welfare ministdes cmbraced
within this mission include services in the areas of child care, aging, health care and

handicapping conditions.

United - Methidists, the Conforénce and the varlous institutionnl ministrics share a
common intorest that health and welfare ministries beating the name United Methodist shall be
demonstrably caving, quality missions of Christian service that operate in a manner consistent
with the Social Principles and ofher pontinent provisions of the Diseipline,

WED (L) 427232 1)
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The Affillated Organization is onc of the Dbealth and welfatc minlstries of United
Methodism within the houndariey of and affilisted with the Conference. The Affillated
organization was orgunized with the eocoursgernent wod approval of the Confirence by
individuals membears of the Chwrch who were committed to the helief that the Affiliaed
Organization was needed to perform the ministry set forth in its charter (the “Ministry”), The
Conference und the Alfiliated Organization continue in that belicf The Ministry is among the
Christinn missions of United Methodism and of the Conference,

The purpose of this Stutement of Relationship is to vet forth an accurale stateroent of the
rolationship between the Conference and the Affiliated Organization,

NOW, THERIFORE, the Conference covenants and agrees with the Affilisted
Orgunization and the Affiliated Organization covenants riid agrees with the Conference that (his
Statement of Relationghip, including the foregoing Pteliminary Statement, is. an accurate
statement of the relationship betwewn the Conference and the Af¥iliated Organization,

COVENANTS

[. Although the Conference and the Affilisted Organization share 8 commen interest in
cartying oul the Chrigtian mission of United Methodism and in the purposes of the Minislry of
the Afflliated Organization, the Conference and the Affitisted Organization ere separate, self-
governing and independent, Nuither is owned by the other nor is either the patloor or agent of the
other. ‘Lhe sole purpose of sach of the parties in affiliating with the othec ag beren set out is that
each believes this affiliation with the other is mutually beneficial o parties in the performance of
thelr respective missions of Chustlan scrvice. The partios horcto agrae that under this affiliation:

8) The members of the governing board of the Affiliated Organization shall be confirmed,
closted andfor selected by the Conference, subjecl to tho arficlos of incotporalion and
bylaws, present end future, as amended from thine to time, of the Affiliated Organization,
The governing board of the Affilisted Organization includes smong ity members both
United Methoflist ministcrs and laity within the Confercncg, and may includo dlher
persons as provided in ity charter or bylaws,

b) The Conterence provides: (i) encouragement and supporl, including finaacial support to
tho cxtont deomed appropriate and feasible by the Confarence; (ii) opportunities for tho
interchange of information and ideas among persons and institutions performing similar
work and for the development of the Minisicy goals and crileria; (iil) suthorization for the
Affilintcd Orpanizetion to identify itself as an organization affiliated with the

" Conference; and (iv) an opporiunity for the Affiliated Organization to report on the
Ministry to each regular session of the Conference,

¢) The Affiliated Orgamization undurtakes: (1) to fulGll its mission of Christian service in a
manner that is consistont with the Social Principles and othor pertinent provislons of the
Discipline, and acceptoble to those whom it wonld gerve and to members of the Churoh 1n
the Conference; and (ii) to the extent it decms sppropriate, to wilize services of the
Conference and the Church available to the Affiliated Orpanizatlon in petforming its

Ministry,
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d} The Affiliated Organizution, desivous of guining maximwm benelit from its affilistion
with the Couforence and to satisfy the Conference thet it continues to opstate 1 n manner
wortly of o United Methodist ministry, will continze to provide to the Conterence such
of the tollowing ay may be requested or desired by the Conference: (1) information that
gy be of Interest to other similar mindstries; (i) copies of fagular operational and
finanoinl reports; and (ifi) other informution regurding plans, services and mindstries of

{he Afiliated Organization

2 The Conference is not eontractually ar legally conumitted to provide any particular level
or amonnt of financial support to the Affiliated Orga'niz.alian Any support thet the Conference
does or may provide to the Affillated Organization is, and shall be, voluntary, av determined,
from time to time, solely by the Conference. The Conference has no authority to require the
Affiliated Oiganization lo assume any contractual, financial or other cbligation; nor may the
Conforence accept or assumae any such obligation in the name of the Affiliated Organization.
Himilartly, the Affiliated Organization hus no guthoxity to accept or assome any such obligation in
the name of the Conforence. Both apree thet the Conference shall have no obligation or
responsibility for or with respect to any contract, commitment or Hability of the Affiliated

Organization.

3, Church-wide solicitations (that i3, solicitations addressed to the general membership of a
local church) within or through local United Methodist vhurches of the Conference are not to be
mede by the Affliated Organization except ns Leretofore or herenfter npproved by the
Conference ot the resident bishop. Other solivitations, such as solcitations of individuals and
entities, whether or not church membors or church-clated, ate mattors between the Affiliated
Orpanization and the parties solioited and do not require the approyal of the Conference.

4, If the affiliation between the Conference and the Affiliatcd QOrganlzation should at any
time beeome wnaceeptable to them, or to one of them, they or either of thern may sever the
affilistion hetwesn them and thereafter operate entitely independently of the other, If action to
sever the relutionship is lakon by onc party only, that party shall give prompt written notice of
tho soveranoe of the relationship to the other party.

5 In the event of the dissolution of the Affiliated Qrygunizalion, ity assels may be conveyed
to the Conference or as othcrwisc provided In the artloles of incorporation, as amended from time
to time, of the Affiliated Organization,

6. This Statement of Relatlonship shall be subject to review and amendment at such times
and in much manner as may be mutoally sgreeable to the Conference and the Allilated

Organization.

{Signatnre Page Kollows]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOFR, cach of the parties hersto hus caused this Statement of
Relationship to be executed in its name on the date et opposite its name below.

CONFERENCE:

WESTERN NORTH CAROLINA ANNUAL
CONFERENCE OF THE UNITEDR METIIODIST
CHURGHr~

SO I

Name:_Dr. R. Mark ing
Tifle: Treamurer, Wester North Caraling,

Cunforence of The United Methodist Church

AFFILIATED ORGANIZATION:

ARBOR  ACRES  UNITED METHODIST
RETIREMENT COMMUNITY, INC,
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FORV/S

Independent Auditor’s Report

Board of Directors
Arbor Acres United Methodist Retirement Community, Inc. and Affiliate
Winston-Salem, NC

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Arbor Acres United Methodist Retirement
Community, Inc. and Affiliate (collectively, the "Company”), which comprise the consolidated balance
sheets as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, and the related consolidated statements of operations,
changes in net assets, and cash flows for the years then ended, and the related notes to the consolidated
financial statements.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects,
the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, and the results of its operations
and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States of America.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States
of America (GAAS). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are
required to be independent of the Company and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance
with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audits. We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Responsibilities of Management for the Consolidated Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial
statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America,
and for the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and
fair presentation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there
are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Company's
ability to continue as a going concern within one year after the date that the consolidated financial
statements were available to be issued.

FORVIS is a trademark of FORVIS, LLP, registration of which is pending with the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office. 1



FORV/S

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reascnable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's
report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not absolute
assurance, and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Misstatements are considered material
if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment
made by a reasonable user based on the financial statements.

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS, we:

e Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.

e |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such
procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures
in the financial statements.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is
expressed.

e FEvaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the
financial statements.

e Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate,
that raise substantial doubt about the Company's ability to continue as a going concern for a
reasonable period of time.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-related
matters that we identified during the audit.

Report on Supplementary Information

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the basic consolidated financial
statements taken as a whole. The supplemental schedules listed in the foregoing table of contents are
presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic consolidated
financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2022. Such information is the responsibility of
management and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records
used to prepare the consolidated financial statements. The information has been subjected to the auditing
procedures applied in the audit of the consolidated financial statements and certain additional
procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting
and other records used to prepare the consolidated financial statements or to the consolidated financial
statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally
accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the information is fairly stated in all material
respects in relation to the consolidated financial statements as a whole.

FORVIS,LLP

Charlotte, NC
April 13, 2023

FORVIS is a trademark of FORVIS, LLP, registration of which is pending with the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office. 2



Arbor Acres United Methodist Retirement Community, Inc. and Affiliate
Consolidated Balance Sheets
December 31, 2022 and 2021

2022 2021
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 7,330,671 $ 4,768,407
Investments 17,677,389 21,951,674
Accounts receivable : 625,989 635,398
Other receivable 4,052,925 -
Prepaid expenses 399,996 384,548
Total current assets 30,086,970 27,738,025
Non-current assets:
Assets limited as to use:
Board designated for;
Assistance endéwment 5,853,027 7,107,194
Capital projects 2,520,013 2,520,013
Strategic fund 927,517 708,570
Donor restricted for:
Resident assistance 914,981 597,958
Assistance endowment 11,700,766 12,073,109
Other specific purposes 651,203 799,536
Operating reserve requirement 7,962,500 7,598,500
Escrow deposits held by trustee 3,135,750 2,034,650
Total assets limited as to use 33,665,757 33,439,630
Beneficial interest in perpetual trusts 1,219,500 1,536,729
Other long-term assets 223,093 121,083
Interest rate swap asset 4,775,082 -
Property and equipment, net 123,153,811 91,186,585
Total non-current assets 163,037,243 126,283,907
Total assets ‘ $ 193,124,213 $ 154,021,032

See accompanying notes.



Arbor Acres United Methodist Retirement Community, Inc. and Affiliate

Consolidated Balance Sheets
December 31, 2022 and 2021

{continued)

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable

Accrued expenses

Accrued interest payable

Estimated refundable entrance fees

Unearned grants

Current maturities of long-term debt

Total current liabilities
Long-term liabilities:
Refundable deposits
Deferred revenue from entrance fees
Long-term debt, less current maturities
Liability for interest rate swaps
Total long-term liabilities
Total liabilities
Net assets:
Without donor restrictions
With donor restrictions

Total net assets

Total liabilities and net assets

See accompanying notes.

2022 2021
8,581,308 $ 4,472,065
1,468,262 1,357,982

244,200 105,450
464,254 367,577

. 113,250
2,146,000 2,050,000

12,904,024 8,466,324
3,172,670 2,076,530

36,969,430 33,488,795

73,661,644 44,435,656

- 3,185,035
113,803,744 83,185,916
126,707,768 91,652,240

51,929,995 47,362,360

14,486,450 15,007,332

66,416,445 62,369,692

193,124,213 $ 154,021,932




Arbor Acres United Methodist Retirement Community, Inc. and Affiliate
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets
Years Ended December 31, 2022 and 2021

2022
Without Donor With Donor
Restrictions Restrictions Total
Revenue, gains, and other support:
Contributions $ 258,725 $ 2,895,824 $ 3,154,549
Reasident fees 28,493,439 - 28,493,439
Home Care revenue 1,772,121 - 1,772,121
Entrance fees earned 5,845,146 - 5,845,146
Investment income, net 601,032 198,665 799,697
Other 4,139,724 - 4,139,724
Net assets released from restrictions 1,143,655 . {1,143,655) -
Total revenue, gains, and other
support 42,253,842 1,950,834 44,204,676
Expenses:
Madical and personal care 8,692,743 - 8,692,743
Food service ’ 5,883,277 - 5,883,277
Facility services 5,377,669 - 5,377,669
Utilities ‘ 1,394,417 - 1,394,417
Resident services 1,303,789 - 1,303,789
Administration 4,417,751 - 4,417,751
Human resources 1,068,572 " 1,068,572
Home Care expenses 1,556,130 - 1,556,130
Marketing and development 1,106,596 - 1,106,596
Depreciation 7,570,817 - 7,570,817
Interest 1,346,142 - 1,346,142
Total expenses 39,717,903 - 39,717,903
Operating income 2,535,939 1,950,834 4,486,773
Non-operating revenue (expenses):
Loss on disposal of property (468,144) - {468,144)
Net realized loss on investments {39,944) (229,066) {269,010)
Unrealized gain from interest rate swaps 7,960,117 - 7,960,117
Change in value - perpetual trusts - (317,229) {317,229)
Net unrealized loss on investments {5,779,040) (1,566,714) (7,345,754)
Excess of revenues over {under) expenses 4,208,928 (162,175) 4,046,753
Other changes in net assets:
Net assets released from restrictions -
capital 358,707 (358,707) -
Change in net assets 4,567,635 (520,882) 4,046,753
Net assets, beginning of year 47,362,360 15,007,332 62,369,692
Nst assets, end of yesar $ 51,929,985 $ 14,486,450 $ 66,416,445

{continued)

See accompanying notes.



Arbor Acres United Methodist Retirement Community, Inc, and Affiliate

Consolidated Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets

Years Ended December 31, 2022 and 2021

(continued)

2021
Without Donor With Donor
Restrictions Restrictions Total
Revenue, gains, and other support;
-Contributions $ 217,363 1,433,211 $ 1,650,574
Resident fees 27,175,394 - 27,175,394
Home Care revenue 1,537,329 - 1,637,329
Entrance fees earmed 5,458,858 - 5,458,858
Investment income, net 877,252 270,281 1,147,633
Other 433,805 - 433,805
Net assets released from restrictions 1,088,428 {1,088,428) -
Total revenue, gains, and other
support 36,768,429 615,064 37,403,493
Expenses:
Medical and personal care 8,339,294 - 8,339,294
Food service 5,723,448 - 5,723,448
Facility services 5,093,458 - 5,093,458
Utilities 1,292,333 - 1,292,333
Resident services 1,268,465 - 1,268,465
Administration 3,984,418 - 3,984,418
Human rescurces 796,456 - 798,456
Home Care expenses 1,383,832 - 1,383,832
Marketing and development 977,311 - 977,311
Depreciation 7,574,257 - 7,574,257
Interest 1,394,583 - 1,394,583
Total expenses 37,827,855 - 37,827,855
Operating income (loss) (1,039,426) 615,064 (424,362}
Non-operating revenue (expenses):
Loss on disposal of property {584,588) - (584,588}
Net realized gain on investments 1,805,282 695,857 2,501,139
Unrealized gain from interest rate swaps 2,164,564 - 2,164,564
Change in value - perpetual trusts - 87,234 87,234
Net unrealized gain on investments 1,072,463 119,743 1,192,206
Excess of revenues over expenses 3,418,205 1,617,898 4,936,193
Other changes in net assets:
Net assets released from restrictions -
capital 34,194 {34,194) -
Change in net assets 3,452,489 1,483,704 4,936,193
Net assets, beginning of year 43,909,871 13,523,628 57,433,499
Net assets, end of year $ 47,362,360 15,007,332 $ 62,369,692

See accompanying notes.



Arbor Acres United Methodist Retirement Community, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Years Ended December 31, 2022 and 2021

and Affiliate

Operating activities:
Change in net assets
Adjustments to reconcile change in net assets to
net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation
Loss on disposal of property
Realized and unrealized (gain) loss on investments
Change in value perpetual trusts
Contributions restricted for long-term investment
Entrance fees and deposits received
Amortization of entrance fees
Amortization of deferred costs
Unrealized gain on interest rate swaps
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable
Other receivable
Prepaid expenses
Other long-term assets
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses
Refundable deposits
Unearned grants

Net cash provided by operating activities
investing activities:
Acquisition of property and equipment
Proceeds from disposal of property and equipment
(Increase} decrease in investments
Increase (decrease) in assets limited as to use

Net cash used by investing activities

See accompanying notes.

2022 2021
$ 4,046,753 4,936,193
7,570,817 7,574,257
468,144 584,588
7,614,764 (3,693,345)
317,229 (87,234)
{1,737,193) (382,761)
9,851,483 6,981,629
(5,845,146) (5,458,858)
141,735 87,026
(7,960,117) (2,164,564)
9,409 162,798
(4,052,925) -
{15,450) (24,144)
(102,030) -
2,013,068 (264,334)
249,030 86,534
1,096,140 (68,760)
(113,250) (280,239)
13,552,461 7,988,786
(37,920,975) (9,404,729)
10,963 ;
(3,340,479) 487,711
(226,227) (2,607,357)

(41,476,718)

(11,524,375)




Arbor Acres United Methodist Retirement Community, Inc. and Affiliate
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Years Ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 {continued)
2022 2021
Financing activities:
Payment for financing costs $ . $ (629,909)
Payment on long-term debt (2,050,163) (1,974,038)
Proceeds from bonds 31,230,516 7,757,080
Refunds of entrance fees and deposits (429,025) {808,479)
Contributions restricted for long-term investment 1,737,193 382,761
Net cash provided by financing activities 30,488,521 4,727,417
Change in cash and cash equivalents 2,564,264 1,191,828
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning 4,766,407 3,574,579
Cash and cash equivalents, ending $ 7,330,671 $ 4,766,407

Supplemental information:
Interest paid $ 1,616,352 $ 1,323,120

Unit customization feg, included in existing
unit entrance fees and deposits % 1,447,896 ) 881,376

Non-cash activities:
Purchase of property and equipment in
accounts payable at year-end $ 5,779,815 $ 3,683,640

Deposits held in escrow at year-end $ 3,135,750 3 2,034,650

See accompanying notes.



Arbor Acres United Methodist Retirement Community, Inc. and Affiliate
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

1.  Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Organization

Arbor Acres United Methodist Retirement Community, Inc. (“Arbor Acres”) is a non-profit corporation that operates
a continuing care retirement community in Winsten-Salem, North Carolina, providing residential, personal, and
medical care to its residents. Arbor Acres is accredited by the Commission on Accreditation of Rehabilitation
Facilities—Continuing Care Accreditation Commission,

In November 2018, Arbor Acres became the parent corporation and sole member of Arbor Acres Home Care, LLC
{"Home Care"). Home Care operations began during the year ended December 31, 2019.

Principles of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Arbor Acres and Home Care (collectively, “the
Company™). All material intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

Basis of accounting and presentation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the accrual basis of accounting and in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (GAAP).

The Company classifles its net assets as net assets with or without donor restrictions:

* Nest assets without donor restrictions — resources of the Company that are not restricted by donors or
grantors as to use or purpose. These resources include amounts generated from operations,
undesignated gifts, and the investment in property and equipment.

« Net assels with donor restrictions — resources that are subject ¢ donor-imposed resfrictions. Some
donor imposed restrictions are temporary in nature, such as those satisfied by the passage of time or
actions of the Company. Other donor-imposed restrictions stipulate that donated assets be maintained
in perpetuity, but may permit the Company to use or expend part or all of the income derived from the
donated assets. '

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents, excluding those classified as investments and assets whose use is limited, include cash
in banks, cash on hand and investments in highly liquid debt instruments with an original maturity of three months or
less when purchased. The Company maintains its cash in bank accounts which, at times, may exceed federally
depository insurance {(FDIC) limits. Management believes the credit risk associated with these deposits is minimal.

Investments

Investments in mutual funds, exchange traded funds, and fixed income securities are measured at fair value based
on quoted market prices. Investment in certain alternative investments are recorded at net asset value. Net
investment gain (loss) is reported in the consolidated statement of operations and consists of interest and investment
income, realized and unrealized gains and losses, less external investment expenses. See Note 3 for further
discussion of falr value measurements.



Arbor Acres United Methodist Retirement Community, Inc. and Affiliate
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Beneficial interests in perpetual trusts are recorded when the Company is notified of the trust's existence and the
necessary information to measure the interest is available. The arrangement is recoghized as a donor-restricted
contribution to revenue and as an asset, measured at fair value, Annual distributions from the trust are reported as
investment income. Unrealized gains and losses are included in the change in net assets on the consolidated
statements of operations and change in net assets. See Note 4 for further discussion of charitable trust
arrangements.

Assels limited as to use

Assets limited as to use primarily include assets designated by the Board of Directors for specific purposes, assets
restricted by donors for future capital improvements and resident assistance, assets limited under state statute and
assets limited under trust agreements for debt service.

North Carclina General Statute Chapter 58, Article 64, requires continuing care retirement communities to maintain
an operating reserve equal to a statutorily required percentage of total forecasted operating costs (less certain
expenses) for a specific period. This operating reserve is not Board-controlled and cannot be used without the prior
approval of the commissioner of the North Carolina Department of Insurance pursuant to GS § 58-64-33(c). At
December 31, 2022 and 2021, this reserve totaled $7,962,500 and $7,598,500, respectively.

Assistance endowment funds include donor restricted funds and amounts designated by the Beard of Directors, The
Company uses certain board designated net assets and the earnings from certain restricted net assets for assistance
to residents,

Fair value measurements

Fair value as defined under GAAP is anh exit price, representing the price that would be recelved to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The
Company utilizes market data or assumptions that market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability.
GAAP establishes a three-tier fair value hierarchy, which prioritizes the inputs used when measuring fair value.
These tiers include: Level 1, defined as observable inputs such as quoted prices in active markets; Level 2, defined
as inputs other than quoted prices in active markets that are either directly or indirectly observable; and Level 3,
defined as unobservable inputs about which little or no market data exists, therefore requiring an entity to develop
its own assumptions,

Accounts recelvable
Accounts receivable consists of resident accounts receivable, Medicare and other third-party payers, and other
miscellaneous receivable amounts. Accounts receivable are recorded at the amount management expects to collect.

Property and equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. Donated property is recorded at its
estimated fair value at the time of receipt. Interest on borrowings used to finance the facility is capitalized during
construction, Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method based on the following estimated useful lives:

Land improvements 20 years
Buildings 10 to 40 years
Furniture and equipment 3 to 10 years

10



Arbor Acres United Methodist Retirement Community, Inc. and Affiliate
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Debt issuance costs

Debt issuance costs include underwriter fees, feasibility studies, modification fees and other professional fees. Debt
issuance costs have been recorded as a deduction against the related debt and are being amortized using the
straightine method over the lives of the various debt issues, which approximate amortization computed using the
effective interest method.

Refundable deposits

The Company had collected escrow deposits totaling $3,135,750 and $2,034,650 as of December 31, 2022 and
2021, respectively. These escrow deposits are reflected as refundable deposits and escrows deposits held by trustee
on the balance sheet. Refundable deposits also include the portion of the payment of parking and golf cart fees that
will be refunded to the resident when parking or ‘golf carts fees are no longer required.

Donor restrictions

Gifts of cash and other assets are reported as restricted support if they are received with donor stipulations that limit
the use of the donated assets. When a donor restriction expires (that is, when a stipulated time restriction ends or a
purpose restriction is accomplished), net assets with donor restrictions are raclassified to net assets without donor
restrictions and reported in the consolidated statement of operations and changes in net assets as net assets
released from restrictions.

Gifts of property and equipment {or other long-lived assets) are reported as support without donor restrictions unless
spacific donor stipulations specify how the donated assets must be used. Gifts of long-lived assets with explicit
restrictions that specify how the assets are to be used and gifts of cash or other assets that must be used to acquire
long-lived assets are reported as restricted support. Absent explicit donor stipulations about how long those assets
must be maintained, expirations of donor restrictions are reported when the deonated or acquired long-lived assets
are placed in service.

Interest rate swaps

The Company utilizes interest rate swaps to manage the variability in interest rates on its variable rate debt. The
Company accounts for its interest rate swaps under GAAP, which requires companies to recognize all derivative
instruments as either assets or liabilities in the balance sheet at fair value. The accounting for changes in the fair
value {i.e., gains or losses) of a derivative instrument depends on whether it has been designated and qualifies as
part of a hedging relationship and, further, on the type of hedging relationship. For those derivative instruments that
are designated and qualify as hedging instruments, a company must designate the hedging instrument, based upon
the exposure being hedged, as a fair value hedge, cash flow hedge, or a hedge of the foreign currency exposure of
a net investment in a foreign operation. For derivative instruments not designated as hedging instruments, the
changes in fair value are recognized in excess of revenue over expenses. The Company's interest rate swaps are
not designated as a hedging instrument and the change in fair value is included in excess of revenue over expenses.

Obligation to provide future services

The Company annually calculates the present value of the nst cost of future services and the use of facilities to be
provided to current residents and compares that amount with the balance of deferrad entrance fees. If this calculated
value exceeds the deferred entrance fees, a liability is recorded, with a corresponding charge to income. The
obligation is discounted at 2.71 percent based on management’s estimate of interest earnings. At December 31,
2022 and 2021, the calculated value did not exceed the balance of deferred enirance fees; therefore, no liability for
the cbligation to provide future services is required to be recorded.

11



Arbor Acres United Methodist Retirement Community, Inc. and Affiliate
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Income taxes

The Company Is exempt from federal income taxes under Section 501(c){(3) of the Internal Revenue Code. Home
Care is a limited liability company that has not elected to be taxed as a corporation under current Internal Revenue
Code (IRC) regulations. Home Care is wholly owned by Arbor Acres. As such, Home Care is considered a
disregarded entity under current IRC regulations.

Based on the information above, the accompanying consolidated financial statements do not refiect a provision or
liability for federal and state income taxes. The Company has determined that it does not have any material
unrecognized tax benefits or obligations as of December 31, 2022.

Deferred revenue from entrance fees

Fees paid by a resident upon entering into a contract agreement are recorded as deferred revenue and amortized
into income using the straight-line method over the estimated remaining life expectancy of the resident, adjusted on
an annual basis. The non-refundable portion of the entrance fee that is considered an application fee is recognized
as income when the resident moves in. Subject to certain exceptions, entrance fees are initially refundable, but
become non-refundable at the rate of two percent per month untit becoming fully non-refundable after 50 months.
Upon recelving payment of an entrance fee from an acceptable substitute resident, the Company will refund to the
resident, or to resident’s estate, the applicable amount of refund owed. Total contractual refund obligations under
existing contracts (that is if all residents with a refundable balance were to have withdrawn) are $12,321,035 and
$9,521,425 at December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

Statement of operations and changes in net assets

The consolidated statements of operations include excess of revenues over expenses. Changes in net assets which
are excluded from excess of revenues over expenses, consistent with industry practice, include contributions of long-
lived assets (including assets acquired using contributions which by donor restriction were to be used for the
purposes of acquiring such assets). The Company considers excess of revenues over expenses to be its
performance indicator,

Methods used for allocation of expenses among programs and supporting services

The Company has presented a schedule of expenses by both function and nature in Note 17. The Company allocates
expenses on a functional basis among its various programs and supporting services. The schedule of expenses in
Note 17 reports certain categories of expenses that are attributable to one or more program or supporting services
of the retirement community. These expenses include food service, facilities service, and depreciation. Facilities
service and depreciation are allocated based on square footage. Food service is allocated based on occupancy.

Resident fees

Resident fees represent the estimated net realizable amounts from residents, third-party payors, and others for
services rendered as further described in Note 2.

12



Arbor Acres United Methodist Retirement Community, Inc. and Affiliate
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Financial assistance

The Company currently maintains a financial assistance program and policy for residents holding continuing care
residency agreements in the event the resident(s) should become unable t¢ pay for services. The Company reserves
the right to change the program and policy and dees not guarantee future financial assistance. Since the Company
does not expect to collect the narmal charges for services provided for those residenis who meet the financial
assistance provisions, estimated charges for such assistance are not included in revenue, The cost of the charity
care provided by the Company is based on financial assistance awarded 1o qualifying residents (Note 7), charges
forgone under government and other third-party payer programs as well as charges that residents are unable to pay.
The cost of providing charity care was approximately $1,346,000 in 2022 and $1,443,000 in 2021. The cost is
discounted by the operating margin percentage {operating revenues less realized gains/losses on investments
divided by operating expenses), which calculated to be -7.30 percent for 2022 and -6.70 percent for 2021. The
Company uses both board restricted funds and net assets with donor restrictions that are temporary in nature to
provide financial assistance. The Company receives contributions in three main ways: through annual fundraising
efforts, annual requests of outreach ministries, and estate donations. Donations and other services provided by the
Company that were not reimbursed by other sources were approximately $515,000 and $335,000 in 2022 and 2021,
raspectively, for a total community benefit of $1,861,000 and $1,778,000, respectively.

Use of estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements and
accompanying notes. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Adoption of New Accounting Standards

On January 1, 2022, the Company was required to adopt the requirements of Accounting Standards Update (*"ASU")
2016-02, Leases (Topic 842). The objective of this ASU, along with several related ASUs issued subseguently, is to
increase transparency and comparability between organizations that enter into lease agreements. For lessees, the
key difference of the new standard from the previous guidance (Topic 840) is the recognition of a right-of-use (ROU)
asset and lease liability on the balance sheet. The most significant change is the requirement to recognize ROU
assets and lease liabilities for leases classified as operating leases. The standard requires disclosures to meet the
objective of enabling users of financial statements to assess the amount, timing, and uncertainty of cash flows arising
from leases.

As part of the transition to the new standard, the Company was required to measure and recognize leases that
existed at January 1, 2022 using a modified retrospective approach. For leases existing at the effective date, the
Company elected the package of three transition practical expedients and therefore did not reassess whether an
arrangement is or contains a lease, did not reassess lease classification, and did not reassess what qualifies as an
initial direct cost.

There was no material impact to the consolidated financial statements as a result of Topic 842.

Subsequent events

Subsequent events have been evaluated through April 13, 2023, which is the date the consolidated financial
statements were available to be issued.

Reclassifications

Certain amounts in the 2021 financial statements were reclassified in order to conform to the 2022 presentation.
Such reclassifications include a $897,000 decrease to cash and a $897,000 increase to investments.

13
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

2. Revenue Recognition

The Company generates revenues, primarily by providing housing and health services to its residents. The following
streams of revenue are recognized as follows:

Monthly service fees

The contracts that residents select require an advanced fee and monthly fees based upon the type of accommodation
they are applying for. Resident fee revenue for recurring and routine monthly services is generally billed monthly in
advance. Payment terms are usually due within 30 days. The services provided encompass social, recreational,
dining along with assisted living and nursing care and these performance obligations are earnad each month, Under
Accounting Standards Codification ("ASC”} Topic 606, management has determined that the performance obligation
for the standing obligation to provide the appropriate level of care is the predominate component and does not
contain a lease component under ASC Topic 842. Resident fee revenue for non-routine or additional services are
billed monthly in arrears and recognized when the service is provided.

Entrance fees

The nonrefundable entrance fees are recognized as deferred revenue upon receipt of the payment and included in
liabilities in the consolidated balance sheet until the performance obligations are satisfied. The refundable portion of
an entrance fee is not considered part of the transaction price and as such is recorded as a [iability in the consolidated
balance sheet. Additionally, management has determined the contracts do net contain a significant financing
compaonent as the advanced payment assures residents the access to health care in the future. These deferred
amounts are then amortized on a straight-line basis into revenue on a monthly basis over the life of the resident as
the performance obligation is the material right associated with access to future services as described in FASB ASC
606-10-55 paragraph 42 and 51.

Health care services

In the facility, the Company provides assisted and nursing care to residents who are covered by government and
commercial payers. The Community is paid fixed daily rates from government payers. The fixed daily rates and other
fees are billed in arrears monthly. The monthly fees represent the most likely amount to be received from the 3rd
party payors. Most rates are predetermined from Medicare.

Under ASC Topic 606, management has elected to utilize the portfolio approach in aggregating the revenues under
these revenue streams.

December 31, 2022

Independent Assisted Skilled Home
Living Living Nursing Care Total
Private pay $ 11,128,368 % 8,503,278 $ 7,962,072 $ 1772121 $ 29,365,830
Medicare - - 899,721 - 899,721
Total $ 11128368 $ 8503278 $ 8861793 $ 1772121 $_ 30,265560
December 31, 2021
Independent Assisted Skilled Home
Living Living Nursing Care Total
Private pay $ 10,955,923 $ 8,423,395 $ 7333048 $ 1,537,329 $ 28,249,695
Medicare - - 463,028 - 463,028
Total $ 10,955,923 $ 8,423,395 $ 7796076 $ 1537329 § 28712723
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

3. Fair Value of Financial Assets and Liabilities

Prices for certain investments, such as mutual funds, exchange traded funds, and fixed income securities, are readily
available in active markets in which those securities are traded thus the resulting fair values are categorized as Level
1. Prices for Level 2 assets and liabilities are determined on a recurring basis based on inputs readily available in
public markets or can be derived from information available in publicly quoted markets. As further explained in Note
4, the Company has a beneficial interest in a perpetual trust. The value of this trust is disclosed as level 3 in the fair
value table below in accordance with GAAP and is valued at the market price of the underlying investments.

The Company invests in certain investments for which guoted prices are not available in active markets for identical
instruments. The Company utilizes the net asset value (NAV) provided by the administrator of the fund as a practical
expedisnt to estimate fair value. This practical expadient would not be used if it is determined to be probable that the
fund will sell the investment for an amount different from the reported NAV. These investments are not required to
be classified within a level on the fair valus hierarchy.

There were no changes during the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 to the Company’s valuation technigues
used to measure asset and liability fair values on a recurring basis.

Assets and liabilities are classified in their entirety based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair
value measurement. The Company's assessment of the significance of a particular input to the fair value
measurement requires judgment, and may affect the valuation of fair value assets and liabilities and their placement
within the fair value hierarchy levels. The following table sets forth by level, within the fair value hierarchy, the
Company’s financial assets and liabilities accounted for at fair value on a recurring basis as of December 31, 2022
and 2021;

Fair Value as of December 31, 2022

Leve! 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Investments:

Mutual funds $ 8959498 $ - § - $ 8,959,498

Exchange traded funds 12,256,653 - - 12,256,653

Stocks 7,310,864 - - 7,310,864
Total investments in the fair value
hierarchy $28,527.015 § - $ - $28,527,015
Investments at NAV (a) 7,361,334
Total investments at fair value $ 35,888,349
Beneficial interest in perpetual trusts $ - 3 - $ 1,219,500 § 1,219,500
Interest rate swap asset, net $ - $4775082 $§ - § 4775082
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Investments:
Mutual funds

Exchange traded funds

Stocks
REIT

Total investments in the fair value

hierarchy

Investments at NAV (a)

Total investments at fair value

Beneficial interest in perpetual trusts

Interest rate swap liability, net

Fair Value as of December 31, 2021

Level 1 Level 2 _Level 3 Total
$25768,688 § - % - $25768,688
5,680,867 - - 5,680,867
10,339,494 - - 10,339,494
229,450 - - 229,450
$42,018499 § - 8 - $42,018,499
9,203,200
$ 51,221,699
$ - 8 - $ 1536729 1,536,729
$ - 53185035 § - § 3185035

(a}in accordance with Topic 820, certain investments that were measured at NAV per share (or its equivalent)
have not been classified in the fair value hierarchy. The fair value amounts presented in this table are
intended to permit reconciliation of the fair value hierarchy to the line items presented in the consolidated

balance sheets.

Mutual funds consist of the following at December 31, 2022: 33% large cap, 18% mid cap, 18% investment grade
taxable bonds, 14% international development, and 17% other.

Mutual funds consist of the following at December 31, 2021: 12% intermediate-term bond, 19% large growth, 11%
small growth, 14% short-term bend, 32% multisector, and 12% other.

The Company has $12,319,047 and $3,716,464 of cash and cash equivalents included in investments and assets
limited as to use on the consolidated balance sheets at December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively, which was not
classified as a level as prescribed within the provision,

The Company recognizes transfers between the levels as of the beginning of the reporting period. There were no
gross transfers between the levels for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021,

The following table summarizes investments for which fair value is measured using the NAV per share practical

expedient as of December 31, 2022 and 2021:

European Equity Fund
Global Absolute Return Fund
Real Property Fund

Global Absolute Return Fund
Global Equity Fund

Fair Value at Fair Value at
December 31, December 31, Unfunded
2022 2021 Commitments
$ 1,769,053 $ 1,695,606 None
$ - 8 1,369,340 None
$ 2,707,289 $ 3,138,253 Nene
$ 1,530,075 $ 1,500,000 None
$ 1,354,917 $ 1,600,000 None

Other Redemption
Redemption Nofice
Restirictions Pericd

Monthly 30 days
Annually 90 days
Quarterly €0 days
Quarterly 65 days
Quarterly 60 days
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The preceding methods described may produce a fair value calculation that may not be indicative of net realizable
value or reflective of future values. Furthermore, although the Company believes its valuation methods are
appropriate and consistent with other market participants, the use of different methodologies or assumptions to
determine the fair value of certain financial instruments could result in a different fair value measurement at the
reporting date,

The following is a reconciliation of the beginning and ending balances of assets measured at fair value on a recurring
basis classified as Level 3 during the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021.

2022 2021
Balance, beginning of year $ 1,536,729 $ 1,449,495
Unrealized gains {losses) (317,229) 87,234

$ 1,219,500 $ 1,536,729

4. Charitable Trust Arrangements

Charitable Remainder Trust

A charitable remainder trust provides the payment of distributions to the donor ¢r other designated beneficiaries
over the income beneficiaries’ lifetimes, At the end of the trust’s terms, the remaining assets are available for the
Company’s use as specified by the doner,

A charitable remainder trust has named the Company the remainder beneficiary. The trust provides payments out
of principal which prevents the ability to measure the interest. No asset is recorded in relation to the trust.

Perpetual Trusts

During 2019, the Company received information that identified it is the beneficiary of perpetual trusts and
subsequently recorded an asset for the beneficial interests and a corresponding donor-restricted contribution which
is reflected on the consolidated statement of operations and changes in net assets. The Company will receive income
distributions from the perpetuatl trusts but will not receive the assets of these trusts. Distributions from the trusts are
unrestricted. The beneficial interest in these perpetual trusts, recorded as donor-restricted net assets, were
$1,219,500 and $1,536,729 at December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

5. Property and Equipment

Property and equipment consists of the following at December 31, 2022 and 2021:

. 2022 2021
Land and improvements $ 14,142,345 $ 13,764,821
Buildings 141,543,174 137,100,020
Furniture and equipment 11,589,178 10,982,121
Construction in progress 43,914,826 11,178,652
211,189,523 173,025,614
Accumulated depreciation (88,035,712) {81,839,029)

$ 123,153,811 § 91,186,585
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Arbor Acres United Methodist Retirement Community, Inc. and Affiliate
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

A 56 unit independent living expansion project was started in 2021, Construction commitments at December 31,
2022 consisted of approximately $9,630,000 to the project contractors. Interest costs totaling approximately
$551,000 were capitalized in construction in progress during the year ended December 31, 2022,

6. Long-Term Debt

Long-term debt consists of the following at December 31, 2022 and 2021:
2022 2021

Series 2010 Health Care Facilities First Mortgage Revenue Bonds at

variable rate of 79% of one month LIBOR plus 1.0854% in 2022 and

2021, and reset monthly with a fixed interast rate swap with a rate

of 3.333% in 2022 and 2021 on the outstanding principal balance

(See Note 12); monthly payments of $60,000 to $240,000 due

January 1, 2038. 22,780,000 23,440,000

Series 2016 Health Care Facilities First Mortgage Revenue Bonds at

variable rate of 79% of one month LIBOR plus 0.948% in 2022 and

2021, and reset monthly with a fixed interest rate swap with a rate

of 2.914% in 2022 and 2021 on the outstanding principal balance

(See Note 12); monthly payments of $76,000 to $92,000 due

January 1, 2031. 8,149,000 9,049,000

Series 2021 Health Care Facilities First Mortgage Revenue Bonds:

Series 2021 A-1 for a total amount available up to $33,000,000 at

variable rate of 79% of one month Secured Overnight Financing

Rate (“SOFR”} plus 1.027% and reset monthly with a fixed interest

rate swap with a rate of 2.205% effective starting July 2023 on the

outstanding principal balance up to $23,000,000 (See Note 12);

monthly payments of interest only through September 2024 then

interest and principal payments ranging from $130,000 to $135,000

through January 1, 2052, 19,572,483 164,993

Series 2021 A-2 for a total amount available up to $22,000,000 at
variable rate of 79% of one month SOFR plus 0.948% and reset
monthly; monthly payments of interest only through January 1, 2027
to be repaid with entrance fees from new units. 19,377,261 7,556,235

Series 2021 A-3 at variable rate of 78% of one month SOFR plus
1.027% and reset monthly with a fixed interest rate swap with a rate
of 2.865% in 2022 on the outstanding principal balance (See Note
12); monthly payments interest and principal ranging from $49,000

to $56,000 due January 1, 2035. 6,985;837 7,474,000
76,864,581 47,684,228
Current maturities (2,146,000) (2,050,000)
Bond issuance costs {1,056,937) (1,198,672)

$§ 73661644 5 44435556

The Series 2010, 2016, and 2021 bonds bear interest payable monthly on the amount of bond proceeds outstanding.
The bonds are secured by a pledge of future revenues and substantially all of the property and equipment of the
Company. The trust indenture and loan agreements underlying the Series 2010, Series 2016 and Series 2021 bonds
contain certain covenants and restrictions.
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Annual principal maturities of long-term debt are as follows:

2023 $ 2,146,000
2024 2,172,000
2025 2,275,000
2026 2,321,000
2027 21,792,251
Thereafter 46,158,330

' $ 76,864,581

The Company has a revolving line of credit with a bank in the amount of $3,000,000. Interest is payable monthly at
a rate of one-month SOFR index plus 1.30 percent and is secured by a deed of trust. There was no balance
outstanding as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, The line of credit expires in December 2023, '

7. Net Assets with Donor Restrictions

Net assets with donor restrictions that are temporary in nature consist of the following at December 31, 2022 and
2021:

2022 2021
Financial agsistance $ 1,836,678 $ 3,629,191
Other 151,203 299,536

$§ 19087881 § 3928727

Net assets were released from donor restrictions by incurring expenses satisfying the restricted purposes or by
-occurrence of other events specified by donors as follows for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021:

2022 2021
Financia! assistance $ 947,649 $ 047,082
Other 196,006 140,446
Net assets released from restrictions—operating 1,143,655 1,088,428
Net assets released from restrictions—capital 358,707 34,194

$...1502362 § 1122622

Net assets with donor restrictions that stipulate assets be held in perpetuity consist of the following at December 31,
2022 and 2021:

2022 2021
Assistance endowment $ 10,779,069 $ 9,041,876
Swimming pool endowment 500,000 500,000
Beneficial interest in perpetual trusts 1,219,500 1,636,729

$§ 12498560 § 11,078,605
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8. Endowment Funds

The Company’s endowment was organized to provide financial assistance to the residents of the Company in the
event the resident(s) become unable to pay for services, and to help provide maintenance to the swimming pool.
The Company’s endowment funds include donor-restricted funds and board designated funds classified as net
assets without restrictions. As required by generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America,
net assets associated with endowment funds, including funds designated by the Board of Directors to function as
endowments, are classified and reported based on the existence or absence of donor-imposed restrictions.

Interpretation of relevant law

The Board of Directors of the Company has interpreted the North Carclina Uniform Prudent Management of
Institutional Funds Act (the Act) as requiring the preservation of the fair value of the original gift as of the gift date of
the donor-restricted endowment funds absent explicit donor stipulations to the contrary. As a result of this
interpretation, the Company has classified as perpetually restricted net assets (a) the original value of gifts donated
to the perpetual endowment, (b} the original value of subsequent gifts to the perpetual endowment, and (c)
accumulations to the perpetual endowment made in accordance with the direction of the appiicable donor gift
instrument at the time the amount is added to the fund. The remaining portion of the donor-restricted endowment
fund that is not classified in perpetually restricted net assets is classified as with donor restrictions until those amounts
are appropriated for expenditure by the Company in a manner consistent with the standard of prudence prescribed
by the Act. In accordance with the Act, the Company considers the following factors in making a determination to
appropriate or accumulate donor-restricted endowment funds:

The duration and preservaticn of the fund

The purposes of the organization and the donor-restricted endowment fund
General economic conditions

The possible effect of inflation and deflation

The expected total return from income and the appreciation of investments

L o A

The investment policies of the Company

Return objectives and risk paramelers

The Company has adopted investment and spending policies for endowment assets that are intended to provide an
ongoing stream of funding for financial assistance that is supported by the endowment. Endowment assets include
assets of donor-restricted funds that the organization must hold in perpetuity as well as board- designated funds.
Under this policy, as approved by the Board, the endowment assets are invested in a manner that is intended to
produce a high level of total investment return consistent with a prudent level of portfolio risk. The Company expects
its endowment funds, over time, to provide an average rate of return of approximately 4.5 percent annually. Actual
returns in any given year may vary from this amount.

Strategies employed for achieving objectives

To satisfy its long-term rate-of-return objectives, the Company relies on a total return strategy in which investment
returns are achieved through both capital appreciation (realized and unrealized) and current yield (interest and
dividends). The Company targets a diversified asset allocation that includes fixed income instruments and equity-
based investments to achieve its long-term return objectives within prudent risk constraints. Investments are
rebalanced quarterly in order to maintain the desired asset allocation mix.
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Spen-ding policy and how the investment objectives relate to the spending policy

The Company’s policy is to appropriate for distribution the accumulated income and appreciation up to 4.5 percent
of the trailing three calendar year end average market balance. In establishing this policy, the Company considered
the long-term expected return on its endowment, Accordingly, over the long term, the Company expects the current
spending policy to allow its endowment to groew at an average of 4.5 percent annually. The exception to this policy
would be that if the accumulated income and appreciation of the donor restricted endowment is less than 4.5 percent
of the trailing three calendar year-end average market balance, the funds necessary to support the annual financial
assistance would be taken from the board designated portion of the endowment fund. In this way, the principal of
the donor restricted endowment is preserved. This is consistent with the Company objective to maintain the
purchasing power of the endowment assets held in perpetuity or for a specified term as well as to provide additional
real growth through new gifts and investment return.

Changes in endowment net assets for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 are as follows:
Without Donor With Donor

Restrictions Restrictions Total

Endowment net assets

December 31, 2020 $ 6,720,732 $ 11,568,224 $ 18,288,956
Contributions - 382,761 382,761
Investment earnings 150,836 247,781 398,617
Net appreciation 506,071 815,600 1,321,671
Appropriation of endowment

assets for expenditure (270,445) {441.257) (711,702)
Endowment net assets

December 31, 2021 7,107,194 12,573,109 19,680,303
Contributions - 1,737,196 1,737,196
Investment earnings 96,477 176,165 272,642
Net depreciation {(1,050,368) {1,795,780) (2,846,148)
Appropriation of endowment

assets for expenditure (300,276) (4892,928) {720,204)
Endowment net assets

December 31, 2022 § 5853027 $ 12,200,762 $ 18,053,782

9. Employee Benefits

The Company’s employees may participate in the United Methodist Personal Investment Plan defined contribution
retirement plans of the General Board of Pensions of The United Methodist Church. These plans cover all employees
who elect to participate the first of the month following their employment, as determined at enrollment dates each
month. Arbor Acres confributes a match equal to 200% of all contributions up to a maximum of 6 percent of regular
earnings for all eligible participating employees. Effective January 1, 2021, Home Care conditionally contributes a
match equal to 50% of contributions up to a maximum of 3 percent of regular earnings for all eligible participating
employees. Company contributions for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 were approximately $627,000
and $565,000, respectively.

On February 23, 2023, The Company merged the Arbor Acres and Home Care Plans. The merged plan is called the
Arbor Acres 403(b) Plan. The merged plan covers all employees of Arbor Actes and Home Care. New hires are
eligible for participation on their first day of employment. The Company contributes a match equal to 200% of all
contributions up to a maximum of 6 percent of regular earnings for all eligible participating employees.
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10. Professional Liability and Workers Compensation Coverage

The Company has an insurance policy for possible litigation in the ordinary course of business related to professional
liability claims. Management believes that claims, if asserted, would be settled within the limits of coverage, which is
on a claims-made basis. Should the Company not renew its claims-made policy, or replace it with equivalent
insurance, occurrences incurred during its term but asserted after its expiration would be uninsured, unless the
Company obtains tail coverage. No claims were outstanding at year-end and the Company has made no accrual for
unasserted claims.

In 2022, the Company contributed surplus of $92,530 and became a subscriber of the Unity Mutual Insurance
Company (UMIC), reciprocal captive insurance company. UMIC provides reinsurance coverage for workers’
compensation coverage, for the UMIC subscribers, based on a quota share arrangement. The workers’
compensation policy covers workers’ compensation claims on a statutory basis and also provides Employers
Liability limits of $1,000,000 per occurrence. As part of this arrangement, the Company is entitled to a share in the
profits and losses of UMIC in accordance with an Allocation Policy Agreement. These annual allocations are not
cash allocations, but rather income or loss allocations retained in their subscriber's allocation account of UMIC
which will increase and decrease the Company's subscriber interest in UMIC. Subscriber allocations are
determined and made on or before March 15th and are recorded in the Company's change in net assets in the
year the allocation is made.

11. Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable and other assets approximate fair value.
Investments, assets limited as to use, beneficial interests in trusts and the interest rate swaps are reported at fair
value as of the date of the consolidated financial statements. See Note 3 for more information relating to the fair
value of investments, assets limited as to use and the interest rate swaps.

The carrying amounts of accounts payable, accrued expenses, accrued interest payable and other accrued and
“long-term liabilities approximate fair value. The carrying amount of the 2010 series, 2016 series and 2021 bonds
approximates fair value as they contain variable interest rates.

12. Interest Rate Swap Agreements

The Company has entered into interest rate swap agreements ("Swaps”). The table below summarizes the terms of
the various swap agreements.

Original Notional Effective Date __Maturity Date Borrower Pays
$ 25,800,000 21112018 12/1/2037 3.333%
$ 12,297,000 2/1/2018 1/1/2031 2.914%
$ 8,450,000 9/25/2019 9/25/2034 2.865%
$ 23,000,000 7/1/2023 7/1/2033 2.205%

The fair value of the Company's interest rate swaps are reported as a long-term asset ot liability in the consolidated
balance sheets. The change in fair value of the interest rate swaps are included in excess of revenues over expenses
in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations and changes in net assets,
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Absent an early termination, subsequent changes in the interest rate swaps will continue to be reflected in excess
of revenues over expenses, which has no cash flow impact to the Company. The cash flow settlements of the interest
rate swap agreements are reflected annually in interest expense as the Company pays interest to the swap counter-
party at the rates noted above.

13. Health Insurance Plan

In 2019, the Company established a self-funded employee health insurance plan administered by a third party. The
plan is funded by employee and employer confributions and is available to all full-time staff. The costs of the plan
are comprised of expected net claims, insurance premiums to acquire specific stop loss coverage and claims
administration fees. Claims in excess of the stop-loss limit of $100,0000 are funded by insurance coverage. The
Company has estimated and recorded amounts for the self-insurance portion of this arrangement. Plan costs
incurred by the Company were approximately $1,839,000 and $1,709,000 for the years ended December 31, 2022
and 2021, respectively. The estimate for claims incurred but not reported is approximately $225,000 as of December
31, 2022 and 2021.

14. Liquidity and Availability

As part of its liquidity management, the Company has a policy to structure its financial assets to be available as its
general expenses, liabilities, and other obligations come due. In addition, the Company Invests cash in excess of
daily operating funds in short-term investments such as treasury bills, certificates of deposit, and money market
funds.

The following schedule reflects the Company’s financial assets to meet cash needs for general expenses within one
year. The financial assets were derived from the total assets on the consolidated balance sheets by excluding the
assets that are unavailable for generat expenses in the next 12 months. Board designated amounts for capital
projects have been included in the schedule below as the board could release these funds for liquidity purposes if
needed.

The Company also has the ability to draw down on a $3,000,000 line of credit if needed {as discussed in Note 6).

The Company seeks to maintain sufficient liquid assets to cover 30 to 45 days of operating and capital expenses.

Asset Categories 2022 2021
Cash and cash equivalents $ 7,330,671 $ 4,766,407
Accounts receivable 625,989 635,398
Investments and assets limited as to use 51,343,146 55,391,204
Less: operating reserve (7,962,500) (7,598,500)
Less: board designated funds for assistance endowment (5,853,027) {7,107,194)
Less: escrow held for deposits held by trustee (3,135,750) (2,034,650)
Less: donor restricted funds for resident assistance, endowment

and other purposes {13,266,950) {13.470.603)

$ 20081579 § 30582062
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15. Related Pa'rty Transactions

The Company utilized a construction company in which a board member’s spouse is a key member of management.
The Company received services in the amount of approximately $34,322,000 and $7,886,000 from the construction
company in 2022 and 2021, respectively. Additionally, the Company owed approximately $5,582,000 to the
construction company as of December 31, 2022 which is included in accounts payable on the consolidated balance
sheets.

16. Provider Relief Funds and Government Grants

In response to the economic impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, Congress alseo introduced the Employee Retention
Credit (ERC). The ERC is a refundable payroll tax credit available to taxpayers who experienced either a full or
partial suspension of business operations due to government orders or had a significant drop in gross receipts in
2020 or the first three gquarters of 2021. The credit is available for 50 percent of qualified wages for 2020 and 70
percent of qualified wages for the first three quarters of 2021 limited to a maximum credit per qualified employee.
The Company qualifies for the ERC and accounts for the ERC as a government grant, The ERC may be recognized
once the conditions attached to the grant have been substantially met. As of December 31, 2022, the Company
incurred qualifying wages and has recognized approximately $4,052,000 associated with the ERC as other income
in the consolidated statement of operations and changes in net assets with a corresponding receivable in the
consolidated balance sheet.
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Arbor Acres United Methodist Retirement Community, Inc. and Affiliate

Consolidating Balance Sheet
December 31, 2022

ASSETS
Current assets;
Cash and cash equivalents
Investments
Accounts receivable
Other receivable
Prepaid expenses
Due from Home Care

Total current assels

Non-current assets:
Assets limited as o use:

Board designated for:
Assistance endowment
Capital projects
Strategic fund

Denor restricted for;

Resident assistance

Assistance andowment

Other specific purposes
Escrow deposits held by trustee
Operating reserve requirement

Total assets limited as to use

Beneficial interest in perpetual trusts
Investment in Home Care

Other long-term assets

Interest rate swap asset

Property and equipment, net

Total assets

Arbor Acres Home Care Eliminations Total
$ 5,356,340 $ 1,974,331 $ - $ 7,330,67
17,677,389 - - 17,677.38
416,578 209,411 - 625,98
4,052,925 - - 4,052,92
399,996 - - 399,99
1,888,993 - {(1,988,893)
29,892,221 2,183,742 {1,988,993) 30,088,97
5,853,027 - - 5,853,02
2,520,013 - - 2,520,01
927,517 - - 927,51
914,981 - - 914,98
11,700,766 - - 11,700,76
651,203 - - 651,20
3,135,750 - - 3,135,75
7,962,500 - - 7,862,50
33,665,757 - - 33,665,75
1,219,500 - - 1,219,50
111,946 - {111,946)
111,147 111,946 - - 223,09
4,775,082 - - 4,775,08
123,153,811 - - 123,153,81
$ 192,829,464 $ 2,295,688 $ (2,100,939) $§ 193,124,21




Arbor Acres United Methodist Retirement Community, Inc, and Affiliate

Consolidating Balance Sheet

December 31, 2022 {conti
LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS Arbor Acres Home Care Eliminations Total
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 8,575,067 $ 6,241 $ - 8,58
Accrued expenses 1,415,605 52,657 - 1,4€
Accrued interest payable 244,200 - - 24
Estimated refundable entrance fees 464,254 - - 4€
Due to Arbor Acres - 1,968,993 (1,988,993)
Current maturities of long-term debt 2,146,000 - - 2,14
Total current liabilities 12,845,126 2,047,891 {1,988,993) 12,90
Long-term liabilities:
Refundable deposits 3,172,670 - - 3,17
Deferred revenue from entrance fees 36,969,430 - - 36,9¢
Long-term debt, less current maturities 73,661,644 - - 73,6€
Total long-term liabilities 113,803,744 - - 113,80
Total liabilities 126,648,870 2,047,891 (1,988,993) 126,7C
Net assets:
Without donor restrictions 51,794,144 247,797 {111,946) 51,92
With donor restrictions 14,486,450 - - 14,48
Total net assets 66,280,594 247,797 {111,946) 66,41
Total liabilities and net assets $ 192,929,464 $ 2,295,688 $ (2,100,939) 193,12




Arbor Acres United Methodist Retirement Community, Inc. and Affiliate
Consolidating Statement of Operations - Without Donor Restriction

Year Ended December 31, 2022

Revenue, gains, and other support:
Contributions
Resident fees
Home Care revenue
Entrance fees earned
Investment income, net
Other
Net assets released from restrictions

Total revenue, gains, and other
support

Expenses:
Medical and personal care
Food service
Facility services
Utilities
Resident services
Administration
Human resources
Home Care expenses
Marketing and development
Depreciation
Interest

Total expenses
Operating income

Non-operating revenue {expenses):
Loss on disposal of property
Net realized loss on investments
Unrealized gain from interest rate swaps
Net unrealized loss on investments

Excess of revehues over expenses

Arbor Acres

Home Care

Eliminations

$

258,725
28,493,438
5,845,146
601,032
4,199,724
1,143,855

1,772,121

40,541,721

1,772,121

(60,000)

8,692,743
5,883,277
5,377,669
1,394,417
1,303,789
4,417,751
1,068,572

1,106,596
7,570,817
1,346,142

1,616,130

38,161,773

1,616,130

2,378,948

(468,144)

(39,044)
7,960,117

(5,779,040}

155,991

$

4,052,937

$

155,991

$




Arbor Acres United Methodist Retirerent Community, Inc.

Balange Sheats
March 34, 2023 and 2022
ASSETS (Unaudited) (Unaudited)
2023 2022

Curtent Assets:
Cash and cash équivalents $ 2606120 % 762,986
Invastrnents 18,799,846 21,407,702
Accounts recelvable, net 630,682 509,386
ERC grant recelvable 4,052,925
Prepaid expehses . 2488120 2,013,262

Total Current Assets 28,564,693 24,693,326
Nan-Gurrent dssats;
Assets Itmltad 08 to use:

‘Board designated for: - ‘
Assistance endowment 6,061,45% 8,675,592
Capital projects 2,620,013 2,520,013
Strategic fund 1,058,698 '792;263

Donorresirictad for:

Résident assistance 668,916 BEG,477
Assistarice andgwment 12,037,578 11,349,270

QOther specific purposes 713,762 1,058,421

State oparaling reserve requlrement 7,962,500 7,598,500

Escrow deposits ~ unaccupied units 8,845,450 D245 600
Total assets limited a8 to Uke 39,867,776 2 791(126

Beneficial interest in perpetual trusts 1,219,500 1,636,729
Other long-term gasets 223,093 121,083
Interest rate swap asset 3,505,310 1,156,367
Property-and eguipmeént, net 130,904,538 97,463,119
Total tion-edirent assets 175,720,217 133,068,404
TOTAL ASEETS $ 204,274,910  § 57,761,730
LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS
Current Fablities: o
‘Accounts payable [ 8,810,285 § 4221522
Accrued expenses 1,311,532 1,620,002
Deferred revenue - 118,250
Cyrrent maturities of long-term. debt 2,146,000 2,050,000
Estimated refundable enfrarnce fess 484,254 367,577
Total eurrent liabilities 12,732,089 8,372,444
Long-term Nabllitios:
‘Refundable depasits 35,070 41,880
Deposits - ingceupled units B,845,450 2,242,800
Deferred reveriue from entrance fees 36,799,774 35,222,158
Long-termi debt, less surent maturities 79,369,814 48,366,400
Interest rate swap liabllity - 1 "129 983
Tota) long terth llabilities 126,041,968 87,008,111
Tetal Liabilitles 1 37.??4 027 95,37"5_!552
Net Assets

Withouf donar restrictions 51_,_881,727 47,887,283

With donor restrigtions 14,638,156 44,498,805

Totil Net Assets "~ 66,600,883 2,366,178

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS $ 204,274,910 $ 157,761,730




Arbor Acres United Methodist Retirement Comniunity, Ina,

Statemonts of Operations and Changes In Net Assets

For the Three Months Ended March 31,2023 with Comparative Totals for 2022

Revenueg, gains and other support
Contibutions
Resident fees
Confinulng care seivices without lodging
Enfrance fees samed
Invéstmant income
Other revenue
Net assels raleased from restrictions

Total revenue, gains and other support

Expenses
Medical and personal care
Food service
Facility services
Utilities
Resldent services
Administration
Human resources
Marketing & development _
Continting care services without lodging:
Depraclation
Interast éxpense

Total gkpenses
Operating income {loss)

‘Non-oparating revenue {expenses):
Gain (loss) on-disposal of propery
Net realized gain {loss) on investments
Wnrealized gain (loss) from interest rate swap-
Nat unrealized gain Hose) on investments

Excess (deficit) of reveniies over-eXpehios

Other changes in net assets!
Met assets raleased from restrictions - capital

Change i net assets
Net assets, baginning

Net assets, ending

2023 {Unaudited)
Without Donor With Donor 2022

Restrictions Restrictions Total {Unaudited)
$ 73805 § 136,405 § 210,010 "§ 466,940
1,797,572 . 7,797,572 6,888,726
52,890 - 52,890 54,187
1,548,867 - 1,598,867 1,362,173
210,549 47,079 287,628 130,423
43,389 - 43,389 31,103
433,279 (433,279) - -

10,210,151 (249,795) 9,960,356 8,934,652
2,485,593 - 2,485,593 1,896,984
1,839,793 - 1,539,783 1/430,838.
1,588,400 - 1,563,400 1,270,352
351,186 . 351,186 347,878
363,518 = 353,818 312,566
54,276 - 854,276 1,026,775
216,842 . 218,842 282102
280,087 " 289,087 279,241
1,958,181 - 1,955,181 1,878,006

313,023 - 313,023 862,785
9,012,199 - 9,912,199 9,075,618
267,952 (249,798} 48,157 {141,068)

(76) o _{7§) (1,768)

402,703 163,808 556,508 (292 325)
(1,269,772) . {1,269,772) 3,211,410
636,783 248,690 385,481 (2,770,919)
67,590 152,709 220,299 (8,659)

67,590 162,709 220,209 {3,659)
51,794,137 14,486,447 66,280,584 62,360,837

$ 51,861,727  $ 14,639,156  § 56,500,883 § 62,385,178




Arbor Acres United Methodist Retirement Commiunity, Inc.
Statements of Cash Flows

For the Three Months Ended March 31, 2023 with Comparative Totals for 2022

Cash flows from operating activities
Change in'nel assets

Adjustmants fo reconcile change In net
assets to net cash provided by operating activities

Dapraciation
Logs on disposal of Hssets
Reallzed & unrealized (gain) loss on nvestments
Caritributions restricted for long-term investment
Entrance fees received
Amorlization of entrance fees
Amotlization of deferved costs
Unrealized {gainY loss on’interest rate swap

Changs Iri epstating assets and liabillties
Accounts recaivable
Prepald expenses and deposits
Accounts payable
Adcruad expenses
Net.cash provided by operating activities

Cash flows frony investing activities
Actuisitioh of property.and equipment
{Incredse) decrease in asseéts limited as to use
Purchase of investments, net
Proceeds from disposal of property and equipment
Net cash used in Investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities
Borrowings on long-temn debt
Payments-for long-term debt
Entrance fee refunds
Contributions restricted for long-teri investment
Nét cash provided by (used in) financing activities

Iricraase (tecrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Beginning balance, cash and cash equivalents

Ending balance, ¢ash-and cash equivalents

(Unaudited) {Unaudited)
2023 2022

$ 220,299  $ {3,659}
1,955,181 1,678,006

78 4,768

(1,441,990) 3,072 244
{7,155) _ (32,1285)
1,446,081 3,385,612

'(1 1-59813__6.7) (1‘r362"j 73}
35,433 34,714
1,269,772 3,211,419)
{218,784) (62,114
(71,484) {B0,634)
235,218 (238,427)
{348,273). 180,494
1,478,427 3,564,387
{9,705,984) (8,167,272)
(492,322) 856,356
319,536 (3.426,767)
10,963
{9,878,770) {10,725,720)
6,256,740 4,638,885
(694,002) (642,665)
(17,770) (270,076)

7,155 32,125
5,652,123 3,658,260
{2,750,220) {3,503,064)
5,356,340 4,266,060

$ 2,606,120 & 762,986
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FORV/S

191 Peachtree Street, NE, Suite 2700 / Atlanta, GA 30303
P 404.575.8000 / F 404.575.8870
forvis.com

Independent Accountants’ Compilation Report

Board of Directors
Arbor Acres United Methodist Retirement Community, Inc. and Affiliate
Winston-Salem, North Carolina

Management of Arbor Acres United Methodist Retirement Community, Inc. (the
“Corporation™) and Arbor Acres Home Care, LLC (the “Affiliate™) is responsible for the
accompanying projected consolidated balance sheets, related statements of operations and
changes in net assets, and statement of cash flows as of and for each of the five years ending
December 31, 2027, and the related summaries of significant assumptions and rationale in
accordance with guidelines for the presentation of a financial projection established by the
American [nstitute of Certified Public Accountants (“AICPA™).

The accompanying projection and this report were prepared to comply with the requirements of
North Carolina General Statutes, Chapter 58, Article 64. They should not be used for any other
purpose.

We have performed a compilation engagement in accordance with Statements on Standards for
Accounting and Review Services promulgated by the Accounting and Review Services
Committee of the AICPA. We did not examine or review the financial projection, nor were we
required to perform any procedures to verify the accuracy or completeness of the information
provided by management of the Corporation and the Affiliate. Accordingly. we do not express
an opinion, a conclusion, or provide any form of assurance on this financial projection.

Furthermore. even if the following hypothetical assumption occurs during the projection period:

e The independent living expansion units are successfully marketed and occupied at
assumed occupancy levels and that adequate demand for services exists to support the
assumed utilization.

There will usually be differences between the projected and actual results, because events and
circumstances frequently do not occur as expected, and those differences may be material.

We have no responsibility to update this report for events and circumstances occurring after the
date of this report.

FORVIS,LLP

Atlanta, Georgia
May 12, 2023

T A oA S — QPRAXITY



ARBOR ACRES UNITED METHODIST RETIREMENT COMMUNITY, INC.

AND AFFILIATE

Projected Consolidated Statements of Operations
For Each of the Five Years Ending December 31,

(in thousands of dollars)

2023 2024 2025 2026 2027
Revenues:
Independent living resident fees 13,131 13,389 15,851 16,327 16,816
Healthcare residant fees 20,833 21,639 22,288 22,956 23,645
Advantage program lees 240 303 334 371 404
Home care revennes 1,780 1,833 1,888 1,945 2,003
Entrance fees earned 6,143 7,248 7248 7248 7248
PFinancial asgistance (1917 (2028 (2,078 (2,129} (2,182)
Contrbutions 406 406 406 406 406
Investment income 800 1,777 1,996 2,110 2271
Other 87 95 98 101 104
Net assets released from restriction - operating 1,645 1,643 1,645 1,645 1,645
Total revenues, gains, and other support 43148 48,307 45676 50,980 52,360
Expenses:
Medical and personal care 9454 9,759 13,051 10,353 10,664
Foed service 6,375 6,699 G900 7107 7,320
Housekeeping 2,344 2438 2,511 2,586 2,664
Laundry 291 300 309 319 328
Maintenance 2,567 2,677 2758 2,841 2,926
Propertics development 925 935 963 992 1,021
Utilities 1,585 1,715 1,766 1,819 1874
Resident services 1,501 1,569 1,616 1,665 1,715
Home care 1,706 1,716 1,768 1,821 1,875
Administration 3921 4,057 4,178 4.303 4432
Human resources 887 914 941 970 999
Marketing and development 1,208 1,116 L1350 1,184 1,220
Depreciztion 8,781 8,369 8,634 8916 9216
Interest 1844 1.963 1,880 1,792 1,703
Total expenses 43393 44227 45425 46,668 47957
Operating income (loss) (245} 4080 4251 4312 4403
Loss on disposal of property {400} (400) {40y (400) (400)
Change in net assets withowt donor resirictions (645} 3,680 3851 3,912 4,003

See accompanying [ndependent Accountants’ Compilation Report and
Summary of Significant Projection Assumptions and Rationale
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ARBOR ACRES UNITED METHODIST RETIREMENT COMMUNITY, INC.
AND AFFILIATE

Projected Consolidated Statements of Changes in Net Assets
For Each of the Five Years Ending December 31,
(in thousands of dollars)

2023 2024 2025 2026 2027
Net assets without donor restrictions:
Operating income (245) 4,080 4251 4312 4403
1.oss on disposal of property {400) (400} (400) (4003 {400)
Change in net assets without donor restrictions (645) 3,680 3,851 3912 4.003
Net assets with donor restrictions;
Contributions - financinl assistance 842 842 842 842 842
Ceniributions ~ endewment 200 200 200 200 200
Net assets released from restriction - operating (1,645) (1,645) (1,643) (1,645 (1,645
Change in net assets with donor restrictions (603) (603) (603) (603} {603)
Change in net assets {1,248) 3,077 3,248 3,309 3,400
Net assets, beginning of vear G417 (5,169 68.246 71494 74,803
MNet assets, end of year 65,16% 68,246 71494 74,803 78203

See accompanying Independent Accountants® Compilation Report and
Summary of Significant Projection Assumptions and Rationale
3



ARBOR ACRES UNITED METHODIST RETIREMENT COMMUNITY, INC.,

AND AFFILIATE

Projected Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
For Each of the Five Years Ending December 31,

(in thousands of dollars)

2023 2024 2025 2026 2027
Cash flows from operating activities:
Change in net assets {1,248) 3,077 3,248 3309 3400
Adjustments to reconcille change in nef assels
to nel cash provided by operating activilies:
Depreciation 8,781 8,369 8614 8516 9216
Losg on disposal of property 400 400 400 400 400
Entrance fees and deposils received 8,123 9,354 10,154 10,603 11,066
Amoriization of entrance fees (6,143) (7,248) {7,248) (7,248) (7,248)
Amortization of deferred costs 143 143 143 143 143
Changes in current nssets & Labilties:
Accounts receivable 3) (57) (22} {21) (23)
Prepakl expenses & deposits {91 (18} (16} {15) {17
Accounts payable (7,207 53 43 44 43
Accrued expenses (&1) 53 43 45 45
Other receivable 4033 - - - -
Accrued interest 15 15 17 16 16
Reflundable deposits (3,136) - - - -
Net cash provided by operating activilies 3,606 14,141 15,396 16,192 17,043
Cash flows from investing activities:
Acquisition of property and equipment - Project (9,169 - - -
[nterest cost capifalized during construction (344) - - - -
Ongoing capital additions (6,242) (6,242) {6,242) {(6,242) (6,242)
Change in itvesimenis (11,005) (2.077) {4,238) (5,243) (6,130)
Change in assets limited as (o use 2172 (588) {598) (444 (462)
Net cash used in investing activities (24.588) (8907 (11078) (11,929} (12.834)
Cagh flows from financing activities:
Proceeds- Series 2021A Bowds 16,572 - - - -
Payment on fong-term debt - Series 2010 Bonds (720) (7200 {(7735) (780} {840)
Payment on long-term debt - Series 2016 Bonds (922) (937) (9703 (996) {1,020)
Payment on long-term debt - Series 2021A Bonds {20,883) (2,423) {1,426 (1467} (1492)
Refunds of entrance lees (740) (993) {1,017) (890) {719)
Initial entrance fecs - New Ludependent Living Units 24536 - - - -
Nel cash provided by (used in) financing activities 17,843 (5,073) (4,188} (4,128) (4,071)
Change in cash and cash equivalents {3,139) 161 130 135 138
Cash and cash equivalents, begiming of year 7331 4,192 4353 4483 4,618
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year 4,192 4353 4483 4618 4,756

See accompanying Independent Accountants’ Compilation Report and

Summary of Significant Projection Assumptions and Ratiocnale
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ARBOR ACRES UNITED METHODIST RETIREMENT COMMUNITY, INC
AND AFFILIATE

Projected Consolidated Balance Sheets
At December 31,
(in thousands of dollars)

.

2023 2024 2028 2026 2027
Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents 4,192 4353 4,483 4618 4,756
Investrents 28,682 30,759 34,697 40,240 46,370
Accounts receivable 628 685 707 728 751
Prepuid expenses 491 509 525 540 557
Total current assets 33,993 36,306 40,712 46,126 52,434
Non-current asseis:
Assets limited as to use:
Board designated for:
Asgistance endowment 5,853 5.853 5,853 5,853 5,853
Capilal projects 2,520 2,520 2,520 2,520 2,520
Strategic fund 928 928 928 928 928
Dronor restricted for: ‘
Resident assistance 915 915 915 915 v15
Assistance endowment 11,901 12,101 12,301 12,501 12,701
Other specific purposes 651 651 651 651 651
Operating reserve requirement 8,727 9115 9513 9.757 10016
Assets limited as fo use 31,495 32,083 32,681 33,125 33,587
Donated property held for resale 223 223 223 223 223
Property and equipment, nef 129,728 127201 124,409 121,335 117,961
Interest rate swap assel 4,774 4,774 4,774 4,774 4,774
Benefivial interest in perpetual frusts 1,220 1.220 1,220 1,220 1220
Total nen-gurrent assets 167,440 165,501 163,307 160,677 157,763
Total assels 201433 201,807 204,019 200,803 210,196

See accompanying Independent Accountants” Compilation Report and
Summary of Significant Projection Assumptions and Rationale
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ARBOR ACRES UNITED METHODIST RETIREMENT COMMUNITY, INC.
AND AFFILIATE

Projected Consolidated Balance Sheets (continued)
At December 31,
(in thousands of dollars})

2023 2024 2025 2026 2027
Liabilities and Net Assets
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable 1,374 1,427 1,470 1,514 1,559
Accrued expenses 1,387 1,440 1,483 1,528 1,573
Accrued interest 259 274 291 307 323
Estimated refundable entrance fees 993 1017 890 719 719
Current maturities of bonds payable - Series 2010 Bonds 720 Tis 780 840 840
Current malurities of bonds payable - Series 2016 Bonds 937 970 996 1,020 1,044
Current maturities of bonds payable - Series 2021A Bouds 514 529 544 554 569
Total current linbilitics 6,184 6432 6,454 6A82 0,627
Long-term debt:
Bonds payable, less current maturities - Sevies 2010 Bonds 21,340 20,563 19,785 18,945 18,105
Bonds payable, less current maturities - Series 2016 Bonds 6,280 5,320 4,324 3,304 2,260
Bonds payable, less current maturities - Series 2021A Bom 41,111 318673 37232 35,760 34,253
Debt issuance cosis @14 {771) (628) (483) (342)
Total long-term debt, net 67,827 03,787 60,713 57,524 54276
Refundlable deposits 37 37 37 37 37
Refundable enfrance fees 10,588 9,571 4,681 7.962 7243
Deferred revenue from entrance fees 51,628 53,734 56,640 59,995 63,813
Tolal linbilities 136,264 133,561 132 525 132,000 131,996
Net assois:
Without donor restrictions 51,286 54,966 58817 62,729 66,732
With donor restrictions 13,883 13.230 12,677 12,074 11471
Total net ussets 65,169 68,246 71,494 74,803 73,203
Total Labilities and net assets 201433 201,807 204,019 206,303 210,199

See accompanying Independent Accountants® Compilation Report and

Summary of Significant Projection Assumptions and Rationale
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ARBOR ACRES UNITED METHODIST RETIREMENT COMMUNITY, INC.
AND AFFILIATE

Summary of Significant Projection Assumptions and Rationale
Basis of Presentation

The accompanying financial projection presents, to the best of the knowledge and belief of Arbor
Acres United Methodist Retirement Community, Inc. {the “Corporation™) the expected financial
position, results of operations, and cash flows of the Corporation and Arbor Acres Home Care, LLC
(the “Affiliate”) as of and for each of the five years ending December 31, 2027. Accordingly, the
financial projection reflects management of the Corporation’s (*Management™) judgment as of May
12, 2023, the date of this projection, of the expected conditions and its expected course of action during
the projection period. There will usually be differences between the prospective and actual results
because events and circumstances frequently do not occur as expected, and those differences may be
material.

The accompanying projection and this report were prepared to comply with the requirements of North
Carolina General Statutes, Chapter 58, Article 64. Accordingly, this report should not be used for any
other purpose. The prospective financial statements included in the projection have been prepared in
accordance with the accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
Significant accounting policies are described in the appropriate assumptions and notes to the
prospective financial statements. The assumptions described are not all-inclusive.

A hypothetical assumption is an assumption used in a financial projection to present a condition or
course of action that is not necessarily expected to occur, but is consistent with the purpose of the
presentation, Hypothetical assumptions are not derived from sources, which are based upon supporting
documentation such as contracts, agreements, or other empirical data. Management has prepared its
financial projection assuming the hypothetical assumption that the Aldersgate Square Independent
Units (defined later in this report) are successfully marketed and occupied at assumed occupancy levels
and that adequate demand for services exists to support the assumed utilization.

Background

The Corporation, incorporated in 1975, is a non-profit corporation under Internal Revenue Code
Section 501{c)(3) and is, therefore, exempt from federal and state income taxes. The Corporation owns
and operates a continuing care retirement community (“CCRC™} known as Arbor Acres (the
“Community”} in Winston-Salem, North Carolina.

The Corporation was organized under the sponsorship of the Western North Carolina Annual
Conference of the United Methodist Church (the “Conference™). The Conference is not responsible
for the financial and contract obligations of the Corporation. The Community operates under the
supervision of a volunteer Board of Directors (the “Board™), whose members are elected by the Board.
The Board is responsible for the establishment of operational policy and consists of not less than 15
or more than 25 members, Board members are elected for a three-year term and ace eligible for one
additional successive three-yeat term. After serving six successive years, a Board member must be off
the Board for one year before becoming eligible again.

The Affiliate was formed in 2018 to provide skilled nursing, sitter, and home care aide services to
resicdents of the Community in the comfort of the residents’ homes.

See accompanying Independent Accountants’ Compilation Report
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Arbor Acres United Methodist Summary of Significant Projection Assumptions
Retirement Community, Inc. and Affiliate and Rationale, Continued

The Community is located on approximately 82 acres in Winston-Salem, Forsyth County, North
Carolina at 1240 Arbor Road and provides a continuum of residential accommodations which
currently include 177 independent living apartments (the “Independent Living Apartments™), 132
independent living homes (the “Independent Living Homes™), 65 assisted living units (the “Assisted
Living Units™), 30 assisted living memory care units {the “Memory Care Units™), and 83 skilled
nursing beds (the “Nursing Beds™).

The Independent Living Apartments are located in four mid-rise residential buildings that also include
the following support facilities: business offices, fellowship hall, recreational areas, dining room,
bistro, beauty shop, several parlors, kitchen, housekeeping, laundry, and maintenance service areas.
The Independent Living Apartments and the Independent Living Homes are collectively referred to as
the “Independent Living Units.”

In 2018, the Corporation added a membership program known as the “Advantage Program”, offered
to prospective residents living in the surrounding area. Advantage Program members have access to
Community amenities and health care services while remaining in their current homes,

Management completed an expansion to the Community in April 2023 known as “Aldersgate Square”,
which consists of 56 additional independent living apartments (referred to as the “Aldersgate Square
Independent Living Units™).

See accompanying Independent Accountants’ Compilation Repori
8



Arbor Acres United Methodist Summary of Significant Projection Assumptions
Retirement Community, Inc, and Affiliate and Rationale, Continued

The following table summarizes the type, number, approximate square footage, monthly fees
(*“Monthly Fees”) and entrance fees (“Entrance Fees™) for the Independent Living Units.

Table 1
Independent Living Unit Configuration
Type of Unit Units ___ Square Footage Entrance Fees'™  Monthly Feest)
Studios
Studio 12 315 $45,000 $2,023
Studio w/study 6 315 45,000 2,023
Total/weighted averages : 18 _ 315 ' $45,000 ' $2.023
Studio Suites
Connecting Room Suite 38 630 $ 118,000 $2,951
1 BR — Corpening Apt. 20 630 124,000 3,037
Total/weighted averages 5 ' 58 630 . C 8120069 $2,981
Apartments
| BR 1 Bath— Type A 4 991 $198,000 $3,057
I BR- 1.5 Bath—Type B 6 1,160 232,000 . 3,383
2 BR -2 Bath — Type C-1 6 1,217 246,000 3,593
2 BR - 2 Bath— Type C-2 6 1,397 282,000 3.811
2 BR -2 Bath— Type C-3 6 1,500 303,000 4,030
2 BR -2 Bath — Type D-1 6 1,592 324,000 4355
2 BR - 2 Bath - Type D-2 8§ 1,602 327,000 4,404
2 BR — 2 Bath — Type D-3 1 1,728 353,000 4,686
~Total/weighted averages - 45 1,404 8284200 - $3,023
Aldersgate Square ¢
2 BR —Duo 2 1,546 $390,000 $4,333
2 BR — Standard 14 1,615 410,000 4,527
2 BR - Deluxe 14 1,767 474,500 4,908
2 BR - Alcove 12 1,800 482,000 4,952
2 BR -~ Deluxe Den 14 2,005 581,000 5,517
. Total/weighted averages L .56 - 1,788 $483.580 - $4,954
Homes
1 BR— 1 Bath 4 1,150 $259,900 $2,846
2 BR -2 Bath 32 1,300 293,800 3,497
2 BR -2 Bath 29 1,500 339,000 3,743
2 BR ~ 2 Bath 11 1,700 384,200 4,193
2 BR -2 Bath 17 1,900 429,400 4,681
2 BR -2 Bath 9 2,100 499 800 4,904
2 BR -2 Bath 18 2,300 547,400 5,331
Total/weighted averages : 120 1,675 $384,580 . $4,147
Courtyard Homes
| BR —~ 1 Bath 6 1,060 $240,000 $3,246
2 BR -2 Bath 6 1,187 208,000 3,447
Total/weighted averages 12 1,i24- $254,000 $3,347
Total ILUs/weighted averages 309 ' 1,477 $335,940 $4,785
Second person fees $10,000 $1,095

Source: Management
(1) The Entrance T'ee and Monthly Fee pricing is effective as of January 1, 2023,
{2) The Corporation offers a declining refundable Entrance Fee plan (the “Traditional Amortizing Plan™).
(3) The 56 Aldersgate Square Tndependent Living Units opened in April 2023,

See accompanying Independent Accountants’ Compilation Report
9



Arbor Aeres United Methodist Summary of Significant Projection Assumptions
Retirement Cominunity, [nc, and Affiliate and Rationale, Continued

The Memory Care Units and the Nursing Beds are located in Fitzgerald Health Center (“Fitzgeraltd™).
The Assisted Living Units are located in a mid-rise residential building (the “Assisted Living
Building™). The Memory Care Units, the Nursing Beds, and the Assisted Living Units are collectively
referred to as the “Healthcare Units”. Support facilities in Fitzgerald include offices, family rooms,
dining rooms, activity areas, physical therapy room, special bathing unit, and beauty shop.

The Assisted Living Units and the Memory Care Units are classified as “Adult Care Homes,” which
are licensed and regulated by the North Carolina Department of Health and Human Services
(*DHHS”). The Community is licensed for 106 Adult Care Home beds. Including the Assisted Living
Units and the Memory Care Units, the Community is currently operating 98 licensed Adult Care Home
beds.

The following table summarizes the type, number, approximate square footage, Monthly Fees, and
daily fees (“Daily Fees™) of the Healthcare Units, effective January 1, 2023.

Table 2
Healthcare Unit Configuration

Number of  Number of Approximate  Monthly/ Daily

Type of Unit Units Beds"®  Square Footage Fees®
Assisted Living Units
Studio 22 22 453 $7,087
1 BR® 42 44 541 8,243
2 BR 1 2 904 9,794
Memory Care Units
Level 11l Memory Care 30 30 450 10,463
Total/weighted averages: - 95 ' 98 ' 49 $8,693
Nursing Beds
Private Room 83 83 314 $395/ day
Totaliweighted averages .. 178 181 411 |

Source: Managetent
(1) The Community is licensed by DHHS for 106 Adult Care Home beds.
2) The Community is licensed by DHHS for 83 skilled nursing beds. The Community does not participate in Medicaid
and is licensed for 6 Medicare skilled nursing beds,
3y There is a $3,300 non-refundable admission fee for direct admits into the Healthcare Units.
{4y Three units include double occupancy.

See accompanying Independent Accountants’ Compilation Report
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Arbor Acres United Methodist Summary of Significant Projection Assumptions
Retirement Community, Inc. and Affiliate and Rationale, Continued

Residency Agreement

Services and Amenities

The residency agreement (“Residency Agreement”) is a contract under which the Corporation is
obligated, upon payment by the resident (the “Resident” or *“Residents™) of an Entrance Fee and ongoing
Monthly Fees, to provide certain services to the Resident. While the Resident occupies an Independent
Living Unit, services provided include:

Dining services with meals or meal allowance;

Weekly housekeeping service and annual deep cleaning;

Laundering of bed and bath linens furnished by the Community;

Heat, air conditioning, electricity, gas, water and sewer; telephone jack, but no personal
telephone handset or telephone service;

Basic cable television and internet service;

Emergency call system, nursing assessments, and assistance in emergencies;
Routine consultation regarding health concerns;

Recreational, educational, cultural, wellness, and spiritual life programs;
Routine transportation to non-emergency medical appointments;

In-patient care in the Health Center with limited days at no additional charge;
Maintenance of the Community’s buildings and common grounds; and

24-7 security personnel on the grounds of the Community.

e & 5 o

@ @& ¢ O O & © o

Admittance Standards

To be accepted for residency to a selected Independent Living Unit, the Resident will execute a
Residency Agreement. The terms of the Residency Agreement require the Corporation accept persons
who exhibit the ability to live independently and meet the financial obligation as a Resident. Upon
execution of the Residency Agreement, the Resident has the following payment options: (i) pay the
Entrance Fee in full, or (i} pay twenty-five percent of the total Entrance Fee, with the balance to be paid
no later than five days prior to the date of occupancy.

Additional Services or Care

Pursuant to the Residency Agreement, the Resident may reside in the Independent Living Unit for as
long as he or she is capable of meeting the requirements of occupancy. 1f the Resident is no longer able
to meet the requirements of residing in the Independent Living Units, the Resident may be transferred
temporarily or permanently to a Healthcare Unit.

See accompanying Independent Accountants’ Compilation Report
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Retirement Community, Ine. and Affiliate and Rationale, Continued

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(a)

Basis of Accounting

The Corporation and Affiliate maintain its accounting and financial records according to the
accrual basis of accounting.

(b) Principles of Consolidation

(c)

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Corporation and the Affiliate.
All material intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

Cash and Cash Eguivalents

Cash and cash equivalents, excluding those classified as investments and assets whose use is
limited, include cash in banks, cash on hand and investments in highly liquid debt instruments with
an original maturity of three months or less when purchased. The Corporation maintains its cash
in bank accounts which, at times, may exceed federally depository insurance (FDIC) limits.
Management believes the credit risk associated with these deposits is minimal.

(d) Investments

(e)

Investments in mutual funds, exchange traded funds, and fixed income securitics are measured at
fair value based on quoted market prices. Investment in certain alternative investments are
recorded at net asset value. Investment income (including realized gains and losses on investments,
interest, and dividends) is included in operating income unless restricted by donor or law.
Management assumes no realized or unrealized gains and losses in the projection period.

Assets Limited as to Use

Assets limited as to use primarily include assets designated by the Board, over which the Board
retains control and may, at its discretion, subsequently use for other purposes, or restricted by
donots or trustee agreements for future capital improvements, operating reserves, and resident
assistance.

North Carolina General Statute Section 58-64-33 requires CCRC’s to maintain an operating
reserve equal to 50 percent of total operating expenses (adjusted for non-cash items) in a given
year, or 25 percent of such total operating expenses (adjusted for non-cash items) if independent
living and assisted living occupancy exceeds 90 percent,

Assistance endowment funds include donor restricted funds and amounts designated by the Board.
The Corporation uses certain board designated net assets and the earnings from certain
permanently restricted net assets for assistance to Residents.

See accompanying independent Accountants’ Compilation Report
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Retirement Community, Ine. and Affiliate and Rationale, Continued

(N Property and Eguipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. Donated property is
recorded at its estimated fair value at the time of receipt. Depreciation is computed using the
straight-line method based on the following estimated useful lives:

Land improvement 20 years
Buildings 10-40 years
Furniture and equipment 3-10 years

(g) Debt [ssuance Costs

Debt issuance costs include underwriter fees, feasibility studies, modification fees, and other
professional fees, Debt issuance costs have been recorded as a deduction against the related debt
and are being amortized using the straight-line method over the lives of the various debt
instruments, which approximate amortization computed using the effective interest method.

(h) Refundable Deposits

Refundable deposits include advance payments to be made at the time an individual is accepted
for residency into the Aldersgate Square Independent Living Units, as well as the portion of the
payment of parking fees that will be refunded to the resident when parking is no longer required.

(i) Obligation to Provide Future Services

As of December 31, 2022, the obligation calculated resulted in the Corporation’s net present value
of future cash inflows exceeding the net present value of future expenditures, less the balance of
unamortized deferred revenue, plus depreciation of facilities to be charged related to resident
contracts. Therefore, no liability was reflected in the consolidated balance sheet as of December
31, 2022. For purposes of the projection, no provision for future service obligations is assumed to
be required during the projection period.

() Interest Rate Swap

The Corporation utilizes interest rate swaps to manage the variability in interest rates on its bonds.
The Corporation accounts for its interest rate swaps under accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States, which requires companies to recognize all derivative instruments as either
assets or Habilities in the balance sheet at fair value. The accounting for changes in the fair value
(i.e., gains or losses) of a derivative instrument depends on whether it has been designated and
qualifies as part of a hedging relationship and, further, on the type of hedging relationship. For
those derivative instruments that are designated and qualify as hedging instruments, a company
must designate the hedging instrument, based upon the exposure being hedged, as a fair value
hedge, cash flow hedge, or a hedge of the foreign currency exposure of a net investment in a
foreign operation. For derivative instruments not designated as hedging instruments, the changes
in fair value are recognized in excess revenue over expenses. The Corporation’s interest rate swaps
are not designated as hedging instruments and the changes in fair value are included in changes in
net assets without donor restrictions. For purposes of the projection, no changes in the fair value
of interest rate swaps are assumed during the projection period.

See accompanying Independent Accountants® Compilation Report
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(k) Income Taxes

The Corporation has been recognized by the Internal Revenue Service as a not-for-profit
corporation as described in Sec. 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code (the “IRC”), and is exempt
from federal income taxes pursuant to Sec. 501(a}. The Affiliate is a limited liability company that
has not elected to be taxed as a corporation under IRC regulations. The Affiliate is wholly owned
by the Corporation. As such, the Affiliate is considered a disregarded entity under current IRC
regulations.

() Deferred Revenue from Entrance Fees

The non-refundable portion of Entrance Fees received are recorded as deferred revenue and are
recognized as operating income using the straight-line method over the estimated remaining life
expectancy of the Residents in the Independent Living Units, adjusted annually as determined by
actuarial life expectancy tables,

(m) Refundable Entrance Fees

Refundable entrance fees represent the total contractual refund obligations under existing contracts
(that is if all Residents with a refundable balance were to have withdrawn).

(n) Resident Fees

Resident tees represent the estimated net realizable amounts from patients, third-party payors, and
others for services rendered. Resident fees are recorded as revenue when earned,

(o) Financial Assistance

The Corporation currently maintains a financial assistance program and policy for Residents
holding continuing care residency agreements in the event the resident(s) should become unable
to pay for services. The Corporation reserves the right to change the program and policy and does
not guarantee future financial assistance. The Corporation does not expect to collect the normal
charges for services provided for those Residents who meet the financial assistance provisions so
estimated charges for such assistance are not included in revenue. The Corporation uses both donor
restricted and board-restricted funds to provide financial assistance. The Corporation receives
contributions in three primary ways: through annual fundraising efforts, annual requests of
outreach ministries, and estate donations.

(p) Use of Estimates

The preparation of the projected financial statements in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America requires Management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the projected consolidated financial statements.
Actual results could differ from those estimates.

See accompanying Independent Accountants’ Compilation Report
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{q) Net Assets
The Corporation classifies its net assets as net assets with or without donor restrictions:

» Net assets without donor restrictions — resources of the Corporation that are not restricted
by donors or grantors as to use or purpose. These resources include amounts generated from
operations, undesignated gifts, and the investment in property and equipment.

¢ Net assets with donor restrictions — resources that are subject to donor-imposed restrictions,
Some donor-imposed restrictions are temporary in nature, such as those satisfied by the
passage of time or actions of the Corporation. Other donor-imposed restrictions stipulate
that donated assets be maintained in perpetuity, but may permit the Corporation to use or
expend part or all of the income derived from the donated assets.

See accompanying Independent Accountants® Compilation Report
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Summary of Revenue and Entrance Fee Assumptions
Independent Living Units

Resident service revenue for Residents living in the Independent Living Units is based upon the
assumed occupancy and the Monthly Fees of the respective units. The Independent Living Units’
Monthly Fees are assumed to increase 3.0 percent beginning January 1, 2024 and annually thereafter.

The Independent Living Units are assumed to maintain a 94.8 percent occupancy level throughout the
projection period. Aldersgate Square Independent Living Unit occupancy of approximately 92.9
percent is assumed to be achieved by October 2023 and remain constant at that level throughout the
remainder of the projection. The following table summarizes the assumed utilization of the
Independent Living Units.

Table 3
Utilization of the Independent Living Units

Years ended

December 31, Occupied Available % Occupied
Projected:
2023 262.2 309.0 84.9%
2024 292.9 309.0 94.8%
2025 2929 309.0 94.8%
2026 292.9 309.0 94.8%
2027 2929 309.0 94.8%

Source: Management
(1) The 56 Aldersgate Square Independent Living Units became available for occupancy in April 2023 and are
anticipated to fill over a 6-month period at an average of approximately 8.7 units per month.

Double occupancy percentages in the Independent Living Units are assumed to be 33.9 percent of the
occupied units throughout the projection period.

See accompanying lndependent Accountants” Compilation Reporl
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The following table summarizes the move-in assumptlons for the Aldersgate Square Independent
Living Units during the projection period.

Table 4
Fill-Up Schedule — Aldersgate Square Independent Living Units
Kiscal New Independent Cumulative Cumulative
Year/Month Living Units Occupied Occupancy®
2023
April 8.0 8.0 14.3%
May 9.0 17.0 30.4%
June 7.0 24.0 42.9%
July 8.0 32.0 57.1%
August 12,0 44.0 78.6%
September 8.0 52.0 02.9%
Total 52.0

Source: Management
{1} Cumulative ocoupancy based on 56 Aldersgate Square Independent Living Units.

Assumed Independent Living Turnover

The assumed turnover for the Independent Living Units due to death, withdrawal, or fransfer to
assisted living, memory care, ot nursing accommodations, and double occupancy of the Independent
Living Units has been based, in part, on historical experience of the Corporation,

Refunds of Entrance Fees are generated upon termination of the Residency Agreement and withdrawal
from the Community, subject to the re-occupancy of the vacated Independent Living Units. Entrance
Fees may be generated from Independent Living Unit turning over without a corresponding refund
because the Resident has not withdrawn from the Community, but has permanently transferred to
assisted living, memory care, or nursing accommodations. The assumed number of refunds on the
Independent Living Units is provided by Management.

See accompanying Independent Accountants® Compilation Report
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The following table presents the assumed initial and attrition Entrance Fees received and the total
Entrance Fee refunds.

Initial and Attrition Entrance Fee rIl;Tc)l(iapsts and Total Entrance Fee Refunds
(In Thousands)

Fiscal Year Ending December 31, 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027
Number of Entrance Fees Received

Initial move-ins 52.0 - — — -

Turnovers 30.0 31.0 31.0 32.0 32.0
Entrance Fees Received

Aldersgate Square Independent Living Units $2453%6 ¢ - & - ¥ - 5 -

[ndependent Living Units 8,480 9,147 9,873 10,332 10,790

Assisted Living Units & Nursing Beds"” 113 113 113 113 113

Advantage Program® 223 94 168 158 163
Enirance Fees Refunded

Independent Living Units® (663) (915) 931) (797 (625)

Advantage Program® (77) (78) (86) (93) (94)
Entrance Fees Received, Net of Refunds $32,612 $8,361 $9.137 $9.713  $10,347

Source: Management

(1Y There is a $3,500 non-~refundable Entrance Fee for Residents directly admitted into the Healthcare Units,

2y There is a $12,500 Entrance Fee for Advantage Program members, which is refundable over 50 months minus a
$1,000 non-refundable fee.

3) The Community offers a Traditional Amortizing Plan. Entrance Fee refunds for the Independent Living Units are
based on the experience of Management.

4y Entrance Fees already paid for Advantage Program membership are transferrable to the Entrance Fee required fo
move into a residential unit at the Community.

Entrance Fees for the Independent Living Units are assumed to increase 3.0 percent beginning January
[, 2024 and annually thereafter.

See accompanying Independent Accountants’ Compilation Report
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Assisted Living Units and Memory Care Unils

The Community currently has accommodations, equipment, staffing, programs, services, and
supervision necessary for the Assisted Living Units and Memory Care Units, with these
accommodations available to Residents on a priority basis. However, the Corporation cannot
guarantee access to these areas.

The Monthly Fees are generated from assisted living and memory care services provided to Residents
transfetring from the Independent Living Units or Assisted Living Units, as well as direct admissions
from the surrounding area to the Assisted Living Units or Memory Care Units. Residents permanently
transferring from the Independent Living Units to the Assisted Living Units or from Independent
Living Units or Assisted Living Units to Memory Care Units are assumed to pay the then-current
Monthly Fee. Assisted Living Monthly Fees and Memory Care Monthly Fees are assumed to increase
3.0 percent beginning January 1, 2024 and annually thereafter.

The Assisted Living Units and Memory Care Units are assumed to maintain a 95.2 and 93.3 percent
occupancy level throughout the projection period, respectively. The following table summarizes the
assumed utilization of the Assisted Living Units.

Table 6
Utilization of the Assisted Living Units and Memory Care Units

Years ended % Yo

December 31, Occupied  Available Oconnied Occupied  Available Occhm ied
Projected:
2023 63.8 67.0 95.2% 28.0 30.0 93.3%
2024 63.8 67.0 95.2% 28.0 30.0 93.3%
2025 63.8 67.0 95.2% 28.0 30.0 93.3%
2026 63.8 67.0 05.2% 28.0 30.0 93.3%
2027 63.8 67.0 95.2% 28.0 30.0 93.3%

Source: Management

See accompanying Independent Accountants’ Compilation Report
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Nursing Beds

The Community currently has accommodations, equipment, staffing, programs, services, and
supervision necessary for the Nursing Beds, with these accommodations available to Residents on a
priority basis. However, the Corporation cannot guarantee access to these areas,

The Daily Fees are generated from services provided to Residents transferring from the Independent
Living Units, the Assisted Living Units, the Memory Care Units, or as direct admissions from the
surrounding area to the Nursing Beds. Residents permanently transferring from the Independent
Living Units, the Assisted Living Units, or the Memory Care Units would pay the then current Daily
Rate. Nursing Bed Daily Fees are assumed to increase 3.0 percent beginning January 1, 2024 and
annually thereafter.

The Nursing Beds are assumed to maintain an 88.9 percent occupaney level throughout the projection
period. The following table summarizes the assumed utilization of the Nursing Beds.

Table 7
Utilization of Nursing Beds

Years ended

Private Pay Medicare Occupied  AvailableV % Occupied
December 31, -

Projected:
2022 69.8 4.0 73.8 83.0 88.9%
2023 71.0 4.0 75.0 83.0 90.4%
2024 71.0 4.0 75.0 83.0 90.4%
2025 71.0 4.0 75.0 83.0 90.4%
2026 71.0 4.0 75.0 83.0 90.4%

Source: Management
(1} The Community is licensed by DHHS for 83 nursing beds. The Community does not participate in Medicaid
and is licensed for 6 Medicare skilled nursing beds.

In addition, resident revenues for the Independent Living Units, Assisted Living Units, Memory Care
Units, and Nursing Beds also include revenues from additional resident meals, barber and beauty
services, and gift shop sales, which are assumed to increase 3.0 percent beginning January 1, 2024 and
annually thereafter.

See accompanying Independent Accountants’ Compilation Report
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Advantage Program

Advantage Program revenue is based upon the assumed utilization and an assumed monthly fee of
$400 per individual member, which is assumed to increase 3.0 percent annually throughout the
projection period.

Table 8
Advantage Program Members
Fiscal Year Ending December 31, 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027
Average number of members 50.0 61.3 65.5 70.7 74.8

Source: Management
Home Care
Home care revenue is based upon the assumed utilization and an assumed hourly fee of $23.08 per

hour for home care aide and sitter services. Hourly fees are assumed to increase 3.0 percent annually
throughout the projection period,

Table 9
Home Care Utilization
Fiscal Year Ending December 31, 2023 2024 2025 2026  2-027
Home Health Aide / Sitter Hours 60,000 60,000 60,000 60,000 60,000

Source; Management

Other Income

Other revenue consists of revenues from catering meals, guest apartment rentals, application fees, gift
shop sales, and other miscellaneous sources. Other revenue is assumed to increase 3.0 percent annually
throughout the projection period.

Interest Income

The average annual rate of return on the Corporation’s unrestricted cash, investments, and assets
limited to use is assumed to be 3.0 percent.

Contributions

Contributions include endowment income unrestricted and donor restricted gifts.

See accompanying Independent Accountants’ Compilation Report
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Operating Expenses

Operating expenses are estimated by Management based on its historical experience and expectations
for the projection period, Staff salaries and benefits are based on prevailing local salary and wage rates
and are assumed to increase 3.0 percent annually throughout the projection period. The costs of
employee fringe benefits are assumed to approximate 26.8 percent of salaries and wages,

Other non-salary operating expenses are assumed to include ongoing marketing costs, raw food costs,
utilities, supplies, maintenance and security contracts, building and general liability insurance, legal
and accounting fees, and other miscellaneous expenses and are assumed to increase 3.0 percent
annually throughout the projection period.

Assets Limited as to Use

Assets limited as to use include donor restricted funds for residence assistance, assistance endowment,
and for other specific purposes.

Operating Reserve Requirement

North Carolina General Statute § 58-64-33 requires CCRCs to maintain an operating reserve (the
“Statutory Operating Reserve™) equal to 50 percent of the total operating costs in a given year, or 25
percent of such total operating costs it occupancy as of a cerfain date exceeds 90 percent of the
independent living unit capacity. This law provides security to Residents that the Community is able
to meet its contractual obligations to provide continuing care. Management’s projection shows
sufficient cash and investment balances to comply with the Statutory Operating Reserve requirement
throughout the projection period.

Property and Equipment and Depreciation Expense

The Corporation’s property and equipment costs, net of accumulated depreciation, during the
projection period are summarized in the table below.

Table 10
Schedule of Property and Equipment
(in thousands of dollars)

Years Ending
December 31, 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027
Property and equipmert,

beginning balance $211,190 $226,545 $232,387 $238,229 $244,071
Project related construction costs 9,169 - — — —
Ongoing capital additions 6,242 6,242 6,242 6,242 6,242
Inlerest cost capitalized during construction 344 - — — —
Disposal of agsets (400} (400) (400) {400) {400)
Property and equipment 226,545 232,387 238,229 244,071 249913
Accumulated depreciation (96,817) (105,186) (113,820) (122,736) (131,952)
Property and equipment,

ending balance $129,728  $127.201  §124409  $121,335  § 117,961

Source: Management

See accompanying Independent Accountants’ Compilation Report
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Long-Term Debt and Interest Expense
Series 2010 Bonds

Tn June 2010, the Corporation obtained debt (“Series 2010 Bonds™) to pay for the construction of the
Assisted Living Building. The Series 2010 Bonds consist of $28,845,000 with a variable interest rate
of 79 percent of LIBOR plus 1.0854 percent. The Series 2010 Bonds are covered by an interest rate
swap that effectively fixes the variable interest rate bonds at 3.333 percent and expires in December
2037. Interest on the Series 2010 Bonds is payable monthly. Principal on the Series 2010 Bank Bonds
is paid monthly with a final maturity on January 1, 2038. As of December 31, 2022, the balance of the
2010 Bonds was approximately $22,780,000.

Series 2016 Bonds

In December 2016, $13,159,000 of North Carolina Medical Care Commission Retirement Facilities
First Mortgage Revenue Refunding Bonds (Arbor Acres Methodist Retirement Community) Series
2016 (the “Series 2016 Bonds”) were issued to refund then-outstanding debt. The Series 2016 Bonds
consist of variable rate tax-exempt bonds, with a fixed interest rate swap at 2.914 percent per annum,
[nterest on the Series 2016 Bonds is payable monthly. Principal on the Series 2016 Bonds is paid
monthly with a final maturity on January 1, 2031. As of December 31, 2022, the balance of the Series
2016 Bonds was approximately $8,149,000.

Series 20214 Bonds

In July 2021, the Corporation entered into an agreement with a commercial bank (the “Bank™) for the
purchase of up to $62,640,000 of North Carolina Medical Care Commission Retirement Facilities First
Mortgage Revenue Bonds (Arbor Acres Methodist Retirement Community), Series 2021A (the
“Series 2021A Bonds”) to be advanced on a draw-down basis to pay for costs related to the
construction of the Aldersgate Square Independent Living Units and to convert an existing taxable
bank loan to tax-exempt bonds. The Seties 2021A Bonds are comprised of up to $33,000,000 of Series
2021A-1 Bonds, up to $22,000,000 of Series 2021A-2 Bonds, and $7,474,000 of Series 2021A-3
Bonds.

The Series 2021A-1 Bonds consist of up to $33,000,000 variable rate tax-exempt bonds, with a fixed
interest rate swap at 2,205 percent per annum on the outstanding balance of up to $23,000,000,
effective July 2023. Interest on the Series 2021A-1 Bonds is payable monthly. Principal on the Series
2021A-1 Bonds is paid monthly beginning September 1, 2024, with a {inal maturity on January 1,
2052, As of December 31, 2022, the Bank had purchased approximately $19,572,000 of the Series
2021A-1 Bonds.

The Series 2021 A-2 Bonds consist of up to $22,000,000 variable rate tax-exempt bonds. Interest on
the Series 2021 A-2 Bonds is payable monthly. Principal on the Series 2021A-2 Bonds is assumed to
be repaid monthly with initial Entrance Fees received from the New Independent Living Units
beginning in April 2023 with a final payment in February 2024. As of December 31, 2022, the Bank
had purchased approximately $19,377,000 of the Series 2021A-2 Bonds.

See accompanying Independent Accountants’ Compilation Report
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During the fiscal year ending December 31, 2023, the Corporation expects to receive proceeds of
approximately $16,572,000 related to the completion of the Aldersgate Square Independent Living
Units.

The Series 2021 A-3 Bonds consist of $7,474,000 variable rate tax-exempt bonds, with a fixed interest
rate swap at 2.865 percent per annum on the outstanding balance. Interest on the Series 2021A-3 Bonds
is payable monthly. Principal on the Series 2021 A-1 Bonds is paid monthly, with a final maturity on
January [, 2035. As of December 31, 2022, the Bank had purchased approximately $6,986,000 of the
Series 2021A-3 Bonds.

The following table presents the assumed annual debt service during the projection period.

Table 11
Annual Debt Service
(in thousands of dollars)

Year Ending Series 2010 Bank Bonds Series 2016 Bonds Series 2021 A Bonds Total

December 31, Principal Interest Principal Interest Principal Interest Debt Service
2023 720 759 922 228 20,883 1,181 24,693
2024 720 736 937 201 2,423 868 5,885
2025 773 709 970 173 1,426 838 4,891
2026 780 683 996 144 1,462 806 4,871
2027 840 636 - 1,020 114 - 1,492 774 4,896

Source: Management

Current Assets and Current Liabilities

Operating expenses exclude amortization, depreciation, other non-cash expenses and interest expense.
Operating revenues include service fees. Working capital components have been estimated based on
industry standards and Management’s historical experience as follows:

Table 12
Working Capital — Days on Hand
.Accounts receivable 7 days operating revenues
Prepaid expenses 6 days operating expenses
Accounts payable 15 days operating expenses
Accrued expenses 16 days operating expenses

Source: Management

See accompanying Independent Accountants” Compilation Repor{
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ARBOR ACRES UNITED METHOST RETIREMENT COMMUNITY, INC.
COMPARISON OF AUDIT TO FORECAST BALANCE SHEET
Decermnber 31, 2022
{in thousands of dollars)

ASSETS Audit* Forecast*
2022 2022 $ Vardance % Variance  Explanation
Current Assets
Cash and cash squivalents $ 7,33 $ 3,669 3462 BO% A
Invesiments 17,677 19,754 (2,077) 1%
Accounts receivable, nel 626 567 59 10%
Olher receivable 4,053 “ 4,053 #DIVIC! B
Prepald expenses 400 463 83) -14%
Current portion of agsets limited as lo use - - - #DIV/O
Total Current Assets 30,087 24,653
Non-clrrent assels:
Assets fmited as lo use:
Board designated for;
Assistance endowment 5,863 7,107 (1,254) ~18%
Capital projects 2,620 2,620 - 0%
Strategic fund 928 T09 218 M%
Donor restricted for,
Resident assistance 915 598 37 53% c
Assistance endowment 11,701 12,248 (547) 4%
Other specific purposes 651 a0g (149) ~19%
State operating reserve raquirement 7,963 7,863 " 0%
Escrow deposits held by frustee 3136 2315 821 35% D
Total asseats imited as to use 33,667 34,260
Less: current portion . " - #OIWOL
Campaign pledges recelvable, net of current portion . - - #DIVIDL
Othar long-term assets 223 121 102 84%
Property and equipment, net 123,154 127,074 {3,220 -3%
Beneficial interest in perpetual ust 1,220 1,537 (317) -21%
Interest rate swap assst 4,776 - 4,775 #DIVADI =1
Total nen-current assets 163,039 162 682
TOTAL ASSETS $ 193,128 § 187,648
LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS
Currant liabilities:
Actounts payable $ 8,584 $ 1,949 6,638 340% F
Accrued expenses 1,468 1,280 188 16%
Accruad interest payablky 244 133 111 83%
Current maturities of long-term debt 2,146 2,148 - 0%
Eslimated refundable entrancs fees 464 747 (283) -38% G
Total currerd liabiities 12,906 8,258
Long-term Habilities:
Refundable deposits 3173 2,358 818 % D
Defarred revenus from entrance faes 36,969 34,681 2288 %
Long-lerm dabt, less current maturilies 753,662 80,494 {6,832) ~8%
Liability for nterest rate swaps u 3,185 (3,185) -100% E
Total long temm labilities 113,804 120,718
Tolal Liabfities 126,710 128 873
Net Assels
Without donor restrictions 61,930 45,490 6,440 14%
With donor restrictions 14,486 18,162 (G -5%
Total Net Assets 66,416 60,672
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS 3 193,126 5 187,645

Materiality for purposes of this disclesure are differences greater than $250,000 and 25% varlance from the previous year.

A - See Statement of cashflows for reasons for the differance Iy the ending cash balance.

B - Included In other receivatles is a grant receivable for the Employee Retention Credit of $4m, this was unhudgeted for 2022,

G - Arbor Acres was the recipisnt of more naw contributions for financial assistance than ariginally budgeted and experienced less financial assistance exps
D ~ Escrow deposits were collected in 2022 and classifled separately from operaling cash related to the expansion project, not budgeted for 2022

&= . Arbor Acres does not forecast any changss in the valus of interest rate swaps, the aclual change was significant.

F . Accounts payable included significant year-and construclion payaiies causing actual payables to excead budgeted amounts.

@ - Refundable enlrance fee is estimated annually based on prior actual experience, the amount al year-end was greater than budgeted.

* Amounts are darived from the audited financial statements and presented in thousands of dallars.

* Amounts are derived from the Decamber 31, 2022 - 2026 financial projaction. Amotints are presented in a format similar to the
audit presentafion.



ARBOR ACRES UNITED METHODIST RETIREMENY COMMUNITY, INC,
COMPARISON OF AUDIT TO FORECAST STATEMENTS OF QPERATIONS AND CHANGES IN NET ASSETS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2022
{in thousands of dollars)

Audit* Forecast**

Revenue, gains and other support 4022 2022 $ Varance % Variance  Explanation
Contributions $ 3,185 3 1,438 5 1,716 118.2% 1
Resident fees 28,493 29,126 (633) -2.2%

Home Care revenue 1,772 1,681 191 121%
Entrance feag sarned §,845 5,200 645 12.4%
Investment income 800 800 - 0.0%
Other revenua 4,140 72 4,068 5650.0% 2

Total revenue, gains and other support 44,205 38,218

Expenses
Medical and personal care 8,693 8,714 21) -0.2%

Food service 5,883 5,866 17 0.3%
Facility services 5,378 5,606 (228) -4.1%
Utilities 1,384 1,365 29 2.1%
Resident services 1,304 1,378 {74} -5.4%
Administration 4,421 3,798 623 16.4%
Human resources 1,069 751 318 42.3%
Home Care expenses 1,556 1,556 - 0.0%
Marketing & development 1,167 1,354 (257) -18.8%
Depreciation 7,671 7,750 {179) -2.3%
Interest expense 1,346 1,368 (22) -1.5%

Total expenses 39,722 39,516
Operating income 4,483 {1,208}

Non-operating revenue {expenses);

Loss on disposal of property {468} (400) (68) 17.0%
Unrealized loss from interest rate swap 7,960 - 7,960 #DIVIO! 3
Change in value - perpetual trusts (317) - (317 #DIW/O1 4
Net realized gain on investmants (269) - (269) #DIV/O! 3
Net unrealized gain on investments {7,3486) - (7,346) #OIVO! 3

Excess of revenues cver expenses 4,043 (1,698)

Change in net assets 4,043 (1,688)
Net assets, beginning 62,370 62,370
Net assets, ending 3 66,413 3 80,672

Materiafity for purposes of this disclosure are differences greater than $250,000 and 25% variance from the previous year.

1. Endowment gifts were significantly more than originally budgeted due to unexpected gifts in 2022,

2. Arbor Acras recorded a receivable under the Employee Retention Credit, a tax credit offered under the CARES Act, this was nol forecasted f
3. Arbor Acres does not typically forecast realized and unrealized gains or losses on interast rate swaps or investments,

4, Arbor Acres does not budget change in value of perpetual trusis on an annual basis.

* Amounis are derived from the audited financial statements totals, and presented in thoeusands of dollars.

* Amounts are derived from the December 31, 2022 - 2026 financial projection. Amounts are presented in a format similar to
the audit presentation.



ARBOR ACRES UNITED METHODIST RETIREMENT COMMUNITY, INC.
COMPARISON OF AUDIT TO FOREGAST STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2022

{in thousands of dollars)

Cash flows from operating activities
Change in nat assats

Adjustments to reconciie change in nel
assets to net cash provided by cperating activities

Depraciation
l.oss on disposal of assets
Realized & unrealized gain on hvestments
Change in value perpetual trusts
Gontributions restricted for leng-term Investment
Enltrance fees received
Amortization of snirance fees
Amortization of deferred costs
Amortization of erigingl issue premium
Loss on extinguishment of dabt
Unrealized (gain) Joss on interest rate swap

Change in cperating assets and liabilities
Accounts receivable
Other receivable
Prepaid expenses and deposis
Other leng-term assets
Accounls payable
Accrued expenses
Unearned granis
Refundable deposlits
Net cash provided by operating activitles

Cash flows from investing activities
Acquisition of properly and equipment
Proceeds from dispesal of propery & equipment
({Increase} decrease in assefs imited as to use
(Purchase) sale of investments, nat
Net cash used in investing acfivities

Gash flows from financing activitiies
Fayment on long-term debt
Entrance foa refunds
Coniributions resiricted for long-term investment
Payment for financing costs
Proceeds from bonds
Net cash provided by financing activitles

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Beginning balance, cash and cash equivalents

Ending balance, cash and cash equivalants

Audit* Forecast**
2022 2022 $ Varlance % Variance Explanation
$ 4047 $  (1898) % 5745
7,571 1,750 {179) “2.3%
468 400 68 17.0%
7,615 - 7,615 #DIVi0! 3
7 - a7 #D IV 4
(1,737} - {1,737) #DIvi0l z
9,851 7.242 2,609 36.0% u
{5,845) (5,200) (645) 12.4%
142 143 (1) 0.7%
- - - HDIVIK
- - - #DIN/O)
(7,960) . (7,960) #DIVA 3
7 58 (61) -89.7%
{4,053} - (4,053) #D/Y B
{16} (78) 63 -80.8%
{102) - (102} HOIVIOY
2,013 (2,523) 4,536 -179.8% F
248 (60} 209 ~598.0% v
(113 (113) - 0.0%
1,098 281 816 290,0% 1]
13,651 5,227
(37,921) (44,038) 8,417 ~13.9% W
" - 11 H#DIVIOI
{226) (820) £94 -72.4% X
(3,340) 1,300 {4,640) -356.9% Y
{41,478) {43 558)
{2,050} (2,060) - 0.0%
{429) (471) 42 -8.9%
1,737 - 1,737 ADIVIO! z
- - - #DINVIO!
31,231 38,062 (6,831} -17.9% W
30,480 48,541
2,564 (4,795
4,766 §,664
$ 7330 & 3,869

Materiafity for purposes of this disclkysure are differences grealer than $250,000 and 25% variance from the previous year.
Bee lhe Balance sheet and statement of operations and changes in net assets for selacted explanations.

Z. Arbor Acres did not forecast this line item.

Y. More funds were fransferred to lhe investment portfalio them was forecast,

X. There was a lower return on assets than originally forecast, retums were aciually negative and no retums were budgeted.

W, Capital axpanditures (and borrowings) related to the | expansion project wars projected to happen sooner and faster than tha actual results.

V. Accrued epenses were higher than Torecast due Lo timing differences of when certain expenditures were paid at year-end than budgetad,

U. Arbor Acres had an unsually high number of unif tumovers rasulfing in higher entrance fees than forecast for the year,

* Amounts are derived from the audited financial stalements totals, and presented in thousands of dollars.

** Amounts are derived from the December 31, 2022 « 2026 financial projection, Amounts are presented in a format similar to the

audit presentation,



ESCROW AGREEMENT

“THIS ESCROW AGREEMENT {this "Agreement” e made thils 1§ day of ﬁﬁ_-ﬁ‘:«, 2020 by and
betweon Ashor Acres United Methodist Retiremant, Corgminiliy, Tnc., 8 North Carolina nonprofit
cotporation ("Spomnsor”), antt Truist Batk, 2 North Carotina banking corporation ("Eserpw Agent”),

ECITALS

A, -Spousor is the intended operator of certaln property tocited in Winston-Sajem, North Carolitia uy
& cofitinvinir vate tétitement commuyiity known as Arbor heres (the "Commumify™). A the vperatos,
Sponsor Wil from time o time dnteér into non-binding pricrity list feservation ngicements with persoas
desiring tp reside sl Arbo} Acres and into-binding reservation agreements and/or restdent agreements
with persons contracting for residences at the Cominunity: wid

B: Pursueant to sich nun;bind“mg priority Htl reservation agroements, persoins desdring to. reside af
Athor Acres depbsit funds ("Depblity™) with Spinsdrand, pursuant to ynch-binding teservation
agreements and/or resident agreements, the prospective zesident(s) {"Depositing Person(D") edritrdciing
fot a resldenive ate required 16 pay all dr-a portion of certali enfrance fess ("Entrance Feed™) gior to
oeeipancy by them; and

C.  Pursiant o Article 64.0f Cliapter 5B of the North Caioliia Generml Staitites, 29 amended (i

"Act"), mad Title 11, Chapfer 11, Subchuptor H, Seetion D10Z0)(b)E) of the Moxth Carolina
Adminisirative Code, the Depositsreeelved f donnection with honsbiiding priotity list reservintion
ageesments and cirtain Eritrange Fegs wecehvied in coifiection with binding reservation apreements

and/or resident agreernents must be esergwads and

D, Subjeit o the'terms gfthe Agt, Sponsor hereby agreds to-dendsit tn an escrow fund established
and mutintained by the Bscrow Apent (he "Egerow Account™) the Deposits and the Brerance Feas that
avé réquiired to ba deposited] 1itd el eSertiv fitid pursiant o the Act; dnd

E. T pirtles hisfeto now desire and ifttefid 16'pravids for the safekeeping of the Doposiis and sueh
Tntrance Foes and for the procedures In dishursing the Treposits and sk Enttatics Foes;

WITNESSETH:
NOW THEREFORE, in cansidération of the. premises set forth above, the nautial coveidns sét forth
‘Below, aind ather good dnd valiible sonsideyation, the receipt; and sufficiency of which ave herehy
peknowledged, the parties heteto agree as follows: ' '

1. The Bsctow Agent slmli dipén the Bguroty Acooiint. aid the Sponsor-shall deposit with the
... iEatrow Agbnt, (a) any and all Deposits made by Depositing Persons pursiant 1o theis Spedi fic.nof.

‘binding prionity list reservation agréermignts; and (b all Lntrance Feeg teeclvid or Degiosits réeast ag
Entrance Fees pursuait 1o pargraph 4 heseafter, exeept (i) 1€ the conditions set forih in pavajraph 6
hereatter have boen miet, only 75% of Erttatice Foos teeived or Daposits recast us BEntrance Fees shall



be deposited or retained, rospectively, and (i) If the conditions set forth in paragraph 7 heteatier have
bacu met, no such Bntrance Fees received or Deposits recast es Enttanoe Fess shall be depnsited r
rotained, vaspectively.

2. 'TheEscrow Agent hereby ugrées to ialotdin the Doposits and Entrange Fee amousits separate
and apast frorm its other Funds.. and shall hold and disburse the Deposits and Enyance Fée amounts in
accorGanes with this Agreement, Otior befors sash delivery to thie Bscrow Agent.of any Deéposiis and
Entidnce Fegs, Bporisor shall firnish to;the Bscrow Agent the vaie and address Hf each Depbsiting.
Person providing such Depositsgnd Entrancé Feos, fogether with such other information concering
€ach sich Dépouiting Person as the Bscrow Agent shall reasonably requicst, The Fiscrdw Agent shall
msintain tevartls na 10:fhe Deposits diid Batrance Fees with respeet to ench sucl Dapositing Petson and
shiall vepiort sueh Biformétioh monthly to Spongor, '

The Eserow Aoyt shall Invest all furds held pursuant fo this Bssiow Agreeriont i the SuhTingt
Institutional Preferred Daposit Optiot. The fnvestments fu, tho SunTrust Institutional Preferred Deposit
Optiot: are insured, subiject 1o the spplicable ndes and regulations of the Federal Deposit Irisyitatice
Corporation {the “FDIC"), inthe standeird FDIC idsurante amount of $230,000; including prinelpal and
weeried intoeest, aud are ot secured, Thi SunTrost Institutlonal Preforted Deposit Opfion jg more filly
deseribed i mitecials which have beén fieished 1o the Bponsor by the Hserow Agenit; anttthe Spanser
acknowledges séoelpt of stich materials from the Escraw Agent, Inistrietlons to tiake any oiligy
Investoment must be-y variting and ‘sighied by the Sponsot, The Spobsor récognizes and agrees that the
Bsoraw Agent will not provide sapervision, reeoramendations-or advice raluting tothe Thvestngnt of
moneys héld harghnder or the purchase, sale, retention or othey dispoyitionof any Fivestrient, and the
Bswnow Agent shill not be liable to the Sponisor or any other person or entity for any Joss incurredly
somnection with-any such avestroent. The Hscrow Agent is hetby authiorized 10 BRecute puechases and

w

‘salegof investiveiits throvgh the faciitigs of its bwn tradin poreapiial marketsoperations oi thoss 6F any
affilinted entity. The Bsarow Agent ar any-of ifs affiljates iy recelye cofpensation with respect to-any.
Tnvestoient direoted hereunder inchuding without Timitation charging any applicable dgency o
ongection withsach transaction, The Bscrow Afent shalf nse its best efforts to livestdunds on a timely
‘basis upon yebeipt of sugh funds; provided; howgver; that the Escrow Agent ghall th no-event be Tigble
for conipensation fo the Sponsor-or othet person or etitity relatod to fihdd which are hield vn-invested or
fands whicli ave niof invesied tinely, The Bsorow Agent 16 nuttiorlzed and directed to séll or reddem any
inivestnients a3 1t deema necessary to make any payments or disteibutions required uader this Biciow
Agresment. _

3, The Sponsorsigrees thet all intereét and income from the nvestment of the funds shall be
reporied as having been-eamed by the Sponsor as of the end of esich calendar year whihiador not such
incote was disbursed during sirch <ulepdar: yoat and 10 the extent roquined by the Intemal Revente
Servdeg, On or hefore the exeoution-and detivery of this Escrow Apréoment, the Sponsof shall provide
ta the Esarow Agent a comcef, ﬁ.u[y.num;ﬁteted,-‘_i;iatgd mnd exaguted currant Uniied'-?ﬂtzii,e_;s Faternal
Revenue Servics Form W-9 ot Form. W-8, whichever is:appropriate or any sucsessor foirms ‘Hereto, in a
fornxand substance satisfactory to the Hserow Agent ineluding approptiate supporting documentation
dnd/or any gthor fof, doourhent, and/or ceriifieste vequired ar reasonably Yeqitested by-the Esotow

= ~~----—Agﬁ}ﬂqﬂﬂtﬁ&-ﬂm&fgrﬂ'tpm\{iﬁﬁﬁ,::ﬂ(};w_iths;il,ilt!i_:li.t,’;'fah}&thiﬁgétﬁjthﬁsfﬁsﬁhii‘éﬁ?ﬁﬂmimﬁeﬂ;rﬂ'x;g,y;

for the delivéry and Sting of tax. information reporting forms reguitied putguant o the Tntémal Revenise
Code of 1986, as amended, to be delivered agd fled with 1he Internal Revenue Service by the Esorow

Ageent, b3 escrow agent hareundey; the Bscrow Agent shall have no .&utyw prepare of filé any Fadaral oy



state tast report or vettim with respect to any funds held pucguant to this Bserdw Agredment or any
Incoiie eatged thereod. With tespect to fhe prepaation, delivery and filing of such required tux
Anformation reporting forms and all satters pertaining to the reporting ‘of eainirigs ot finds Ield under
‘this Bseroi Agreerient, ths Bscrow Agei shall be entifled to zequest and recelve written insiructions
froma the Sponsor, and the Beccow Agent shall be entitled ¢ re ly onctigtvely dnd Without firther
ity on such written {nstivetions. The Spensor-agtees fo fndemnify, defond smd hofd the Escrow
AgentHarmless from-and against any tay, late paymont, finterest; péhalty or other dost or expense that
‘may He asseased apalrist the Factow Agent on o with respect to thie Bscrow Fund ot any cariings o
Interest therson niless wieh tax, late payment, Interest, perislty or athior cist o sxpsngs was finally
adjudicatel by & outt.of coiipatent judsdiction to tmve been directly. caused by the gross hegligence o
wiltfil misconduat of the Esorow-Agent. The idemnification provided i thts section is in gddition 10
the ndémnification provided to the Escrow Agent élsewhore in this Bscrow Apreementand shall survive
e resiphation or te_njﬁwal of the Escrow Ageat and the termination 6F thiy Bstow Agiesment,

4, Upon written motification to:the Bscrow Agent by the Spojigot statify that s Depositing Person
i ewtered fito 4 binding résérvation agréementand/or resident agteemerit with the Spoador, The
Escrow:Agent shall forthwith recust sush Depositing Person's Deposit in the E3érow Account as
Enrianck Fees. Theveaftef; if the Sponsor notifies the Hacrow Agent fn writing that éithor ofthe
eonditions desgtibed i Section 6:6r Sestion 7 balow have been satisfisd, 1he Bserow Agbit shall
prompily disbuise 1o the Sponsor the ansouits set forth 1 siid Sectiori 6 of Section 7. pussuant lo the
Sponior's ritter redqiiest,

5 Uponwritiennofification fo the Bserow Agent by the Sponsor thata Dapositing Person wishes to
Yamiiiate of withdraw his o1 hér' ndn-binding priority list reservation agreement orihiat such Depositfog
Peeson's Deposit s btlerwise required to be retiined to such Depositiig Person; the Peerew Agent shall
Fosthweith diglnse ich Depositing Person's money on deposttin the Rscrow Aecount n accordance:
sith such written instructions within five (3) businese days of recelpt of siich wititten viotion, All mjerest
earnigeshall be allocablé to the Sponsor. Uponwiiticnotifieation t the Excrow Higgentt by the Sponsor
stailig tht Batande Fees ite 10 be returned fo any Deposifing Petson, the Hscrow Ageor shal} forthwith
isburse such Deposiing Perdor's money of.deposit i the Bscrow Accognt {6 sich Depositing Person in
apeqrdanod with the-Spousor's written instectons within, five (5).business days of recelpt of stich
wiitten notice, All itesésteamings shiall bé allocabie tothe Sponsor,

6. Upoyi reeeipt by the Escrow Apent of virliten notice from thie-Sponsor staling that the
requiretent set forth in Seotion 58-64-55(a)(1) of the Act has been met for dtiy Phase oF the project {a
"Phase™ will be defined anduginsed vpot between the Sporssor e Novth Garoling Depariment:of
Insuranes, Finanotal Byaluation Division, Special Entiries Seetion), 25% of the Eamtance Fees for that
Phase, together with the eamings theceon shall be dishursed to the Sponsof-wlitdn five {5) biiginass days.

7. Upoh receipt by the Eserow Agent of written notice from thie Sponsor stating that the
raguirementt et forth In Bection 38~64-35(a)(Zy of the Act has been wiét for any Phiasé of the projeet (a
"Phese" wifl bo dofined aid ngreed upon bofween the Sponsor the North Caroling Deparimentof.

—Insupdinie; Aientative Mexkets Division; Speeial Fntities Seation), wll soijinipg Btronce Fees forhat

Phase and all eatnings tereon’shatl be disbuirsed o the Spiongor within fve (5) business days.



8, This Agreement shall terminate when all disbursemenits of the Dieposits and Entrance Fees
required 1 be made with respest to thé Bscrow Account by the Bscrow Agent under the provisions
hveof shall be made.

9. Inperformiing its digties widet this Agresment,br upon te claimind failute to perform its duties,
the Escrow Agent shatl have no Habllity except for-the Escrow Agent's willful misconduct or

riegligence. fnrio eveht shall the Bserow Agent bé liable for incidental, indirect, special, and
sonsequential or punifive damages. The Escrow Ageiit'shall have no iriplied duties or obligations undor
the terms of this Agreement or vtherwise. The Escrow Agent shall not be charged with bt be dedtned to
have any knowledge or noticé of aay htice, fact, of cirduiiigtance not specifically set forth in this
Agreeinent or-Finlshed 1o fhe Fsctow Agant fn tiotfves provided to the Bscrow Agent in writing and
stricfly in aceordanae with the notice provisions of this Agresment. ThiTsorgw Agens shall ngt be
vedtiired to take rotice of aty dteetnont of widétstanding, including but not limited fo any binding.
residents' agreements, other than fhis Agreniciit and shall have no duty o responsibility to take any
actign pusstant to the terms thereof, The Escrow Agent shull have no diability with redpect to the tranghor
or distibution of any funds affitéd by the Esofow Agsnt putsuant to witing or transfer inatrogtions
provided to the Eserow Agent by any pany to-this Agteement. The Heotow Agent shall by entitled 10
sk the advied of legal counssl with réspect to any matter ariging under this Agreement. The Bscrow
Apent shall not be obligated to take any lagal action of th cominerios iy proceedings in connéstion with
this:Agresment 50 any fultids held Hefeunder or to-appsar in, prosscute or defend in any such legal action
ot piraceedings, The Excrow Agent shall e enfitled to rely upon and shall be fully proteoted jn'acting o
any request, Histroctiop, statgmrit or sthier iristrent, ot only 4y tovits.due evecntion, valldity and -
affuectiveness, hut xlso as to the fruth and accorapy of any information set forth therein, which tlie
Esortw Agent shall ib, good faith believe to be genuiig, to have been wipned or preseated by the porson
ar parties pueporting to sign-the same and to corlfarm (6 the provigions of this Agreament. The Edarow
Agent shall have o duty or abligition to collect orotherwise tequite payment of any check or other
tnstrument defiverecd iri paymeiit of deposits héssunder, other they subinission of such instruments for
paytent fii the oidingry covrse of business, In no vvent shall the Bserow Agent have any obligation to
Invest or dishurse fands watder this Agroement. othier thadl with réspest to-gellocted fubds and fny
earitirigs theceon, The Eacow Agent shall rely sitclusively on notices; requests, and communications,
v Spansor and s autfiorized reprosentatives awid agents dnd shall hive tio duty or.ofHgatiot 10 take
nutice ofor o'tke sotion prrswant to sty notics, fequest, or other communication furnished fo the
Escrow Ageptfiom ary othét paity, ‘

10. A5 nn additiondl gonsideration for and af dn induesment for Esviow Agenttd serve.as Bsorow
Agent hergttider, Tt is understood and agreed thatin the-event of uny disagresment batween the parties to
this. Agregment or among any of them and ary ottt persons resulting in adverse claims or dervinds
being riade i connéctiort with or for any. funds or brher property held putsuant to-this Apreement, the
Bscrow At shall be erititled, af the election of the Beatow Agént, to.vehise to comply with the
demaids of such partes, vrany of'such pavties, so-Jong as such disagreement shal| continte, Tn such
event, the Baérow Agent shall thake 0o delivery or other disposition ofany funds or property held
pursiaiit to the torins of this Agreement or any part thereof, :Anything herein to the contary

- pobwithstinting the Byerow. Agent:shall not be-or become Hable-to-such-parites-os any ok them forhe

faiba e

fatlure of the Bscrow Agent to comply with conflicting or adversy demarids of suich parties orany of
sueh phriies, Tn this event of any digpute ot Heagreement ay deséribed above, the Bserow Agenit shiall
havé the ¥ight, in addition te the rights described shove and at the election.of the Escrow Agent, o



tepder intd-the reglstry o custody of any-aonrt having jurksdiction, all fnohey and property hoeld under
this Agreement and may-take suoh other legal action as may be appropriate or-necessary, i the vpinion
of {he Bscrow. Agent; Upon guih fender, the paities hereto agrep that the Eserow Agent Shail be
digoharged fiom all furcﬂer duitles under this A greéement; provided, however, that the filing of any such

J6gal proceedings shall pot deprive the Eseroiy Agénf of ity compensation hereunder earned prioe to such
filing and discharge of the Bstiow Agent of ifs dirties hereunder.

i1, ‘The Bscrow Agent may Fesign it any timefrom its obligations under this Agreementby
providing written notice 1o the parttes hetsio. Such restanation shall he gffactive n the date vet forth.in
such wiithen notice, which shall be no dattier thar thirly (30) days after such wiitlen potice hag been
firnished. Tnthie 2vent no-successor eserow agent has been appointed oft Bt prior 10 thé date such
resignation s to becoms effoctive, the Bserow Agent shall bo entitled to tender info the cusiody of any

eourt of competent furisdiction ali firids abd other property then held biy it hereunder and shall
theretpon bé relfeved of all frther duties and obligations under this Agésrient: Bserow Agent shall
have no responsibilify for the appointmnt of 4 silccessor Bscraw.agent horeunder,

12, Sponsor shall Bave the tght to sequive the Escrow Agent.to xesign os Harow Agént upon giving
not less than fhirty (30) days written notice, Tt which tase Sponsor shall appoint 2 subdessor Eéepaw
Agent,

13, The Sponsor agreesto pay to The Factow Agent eompensation, and to relrburse the Esaiow
Agent for costsand expenses, all in decordance. with the provisions of Exhibit B hexcto, which is
ncotporatedl herein by feference and foade 3 pait hereof.

14, ‘The Sponsoragrees fo inderonif and hold barmless the Escrow. Agent and vach oF the Fscrow
Agent's officers, diréctors, agents andemiployets (e "Indemnitied Parfies”) from-and againstany and
all lonses, labifities, claims, damages, expenses-and costs {fhchiding attornBys' faes) of €04y nature
whetsouver whigh any sugh Indenified Piety may fcur and which arise directly ot indivectly fiom this
Agresment or which arise directly orindirgetly by Vitte of the Bstidw. Agent's yindertaliing to serve 4
Esciow: Agerit Hetetnder provlded, however, that no laderinified Party shall b entitled to indgmnity in
vase of such Tnderonified Patty’s gross negligence or willfill rilsconduct, The provisions of this séction
shatl survive the termination'of this Agreement und.any resignation or remaval of the Esgrow Agent. .

15, 'Thi Benrow Agant shall hisve norduty. or vespansibility for determbiing whethet the offer and sale
of the residency arrangements deseribed heretn or the terihs and provisions of this Agréemen vomply
iwithithe provisions of any applicable stite or Federat law or regittation, including but not lmited to the
Act ox yegulutions fhereunder, The Spivnsol represents and wiitants fo the Fserow Agent that 4t has
abtained and relied upon the advize oflegal counsel with respret to all such matters, The Sponsor
further fepresents snd witants that thi oifer aid selc of the resldency arvangements descrlbed herein
andthe terme aisd provisions of this Agresment and each binding resident's agreement comply it 4l
tespoots with afl sueh applicable state.and Féderal laws sng regulations, Tho Esciow Alert has ot
wiittelpated fivthe preparation or review of'any:salos oruifering-materfatrelating toshieosidency

‘aivangoments described:if this Agredruint: No sales or offering liicrature ot'materiel wtilized in
conngotion with the tiffer aticsale of the rosideicy arrangoments described herein shall vontain the name
Truist Baik of euy viriattor théreal, except for the limiléd pucpose of identifying the Bsetow Agent s



éserovt agent dnder the tepnds of this Agreement.  In nddition fo othér indemnities provided fot in this
‘Agreement, the Sponsor shall indemnify and hold hermless the Bsotow Ageistand each of its offivers,

diretiors, agents and etnployees from and against all cilms, Habilities, lossos and dinjagés (inchuding

uttotrioys' foes) inpurred By the Buetow Agent of such pézsong atid which direetly or Indirecily result

frons any vielation di alleged viclation of any such sfate-or Federd] Taws.

5.  Any and all nofiges, feguests: demends and other communietions given wnder or in egniechion
with this Agrdesient (“Notise™) shall be éffective only if in wiiting addressed to the addvess of the
reciplent.set facth below o sl other addtess provided by thie reeiplent and shad] becdeemed delivered
by (1) hand detivery npon receipt, (i) registered mafl of cefified thall, rétuirh receipt reguested, postape
prepadd, upon deliviety 1 theat dress indicated in the Notice, (i) by conflrmed elecironio inail (witlt
confirmed read-receipt) when sent, or (iv) overnight eourict (next buginess day delivery) on the next
bixsingss day-aftir it is sent:

Sponsor!

Afbor At United Methodist Retirement Camniunity, fne.
Aty Vies President and CFO '
1240 Arbor Road;

Winston-Sgleri, NC27104

P 336,724, 7921 ext. 1222

F 336:721.0271

Pscrow Agent:

“Truist Bank

Aty Bsorow Sbrvices

Ml Coder ¥A-HDQ-1205

919 Rt Main Street, 5th-Floor

Richmond, Virgnta 23219

Client Manager: Byton Roldan

Phone: 8(4-782-3404

Facstintle: ‘804-225:7441
‘No notice, vequest, demsusd, ox other communicaiion hoveusider shall be deexped effective us to-the
Escivw Agent unless in ¥ritiig delivered in striet aceordance with the provisiony hereof or prior
to the Escrow Agent's avtual recoipt Hiercof, ‘ '

—e 14, _Contemporaneonly with the execwtion snd defivery of this Apreciment and, i nédessary, From

e to e thepeafier, the Bponsor shal] exetiite and deliverto 1He Bsctow Agenta Clertiticate of
Incumbegey substaitially i the form of Tahiibit A hergto {a“Cestifivatg of licuwibénoy”) for the
purpose of establishing the ideitity and authority of persons éntitled to issue notices, insuuctions.ot



disgtions to the Beerosy Agenton hehalf of fhe Sponsor. Until augh tine a8 the Bscrow Agent shall
recsive an amended Certificate of Incumbency yeplacing any Certificate of Incumbency therstofore
detiversd to the Bscrow Agent, the Escrow Agent shiall bie fally pictected in relying, without further
inquiry, on-the st recent Cortificate of Tncunibency furnished 1o the Bsorow Agent. Whenever this
Agteetnent provides Tl viritteh noticos, written iristrigptions ov-behék actions to'be delivered 1o the
Haorow Agent, the Heorow Agent shall be fully profected In relying, without further inguiry, on uny
awrition notice, iristructlons or petion execited By persony naimed 1h sych Camificate of Tnewinbedoy.
This Agicemeit may be inoditicd or anended only upon the sritien consent of both Spdfsir and the
Eserow Agent; Neiihor this Agroement nor any interest herein may be transfecred or assigned without
i eikpregs wrilten consent-of dach of the paitles hdkelo,

18 [fanyone or mowe of the covenants or agreements provided.in this Agreement shall be
deterntingd by & dout of competenit jurisdiction to. be contruty-to law, sukk covensint or agretment shall
b deerid.and constricted to be severdble fidm the rimaining covenants abd agicetients herebi
contaitied and shall fn no way affat the validity of the remuiniing provisions-of this Agreement;

19, ‘This:Agresment may be execufeil it several counterparts, all or uny of which:shall be reparded
for all pugpodey as ohe original atid shall sonstitts dnd be bt origand the samé instrugent, Eléetronie,
POF db fatsinifle versions of this Agresment.shall have the same legal effeot u5 originals, andall of
Whieh, when fully exequted, shall congtitute one and the sanieinsitument, '

20 This Agresment shall be cohstrued and eniforeed in accordance with the laws.of the Statd of
Worth Carolina,

[stgnaite page fallows]




TN WETRESS WHEREOF, the parties heroto have exceuted this Agreement s of the date and year
first writien above.

Avbor Acres Urnited Methodist Retivement Comaiunity, Ini, AS SPONSOR

By: 37

Yot

Mame: David W, Matihewy, CPA
Thle: Chief Finanielal Officer

Trulsr, ASESCROW AGENT

et




- Eangaclon

TRUIST BH

Truist Bank - Corporafe Trust and Escrow Services
incumbency Certificate and Client Notice

INDIVIDUAL{S) AUTHORIZED TO DIRECT TRUIST BANK AND SIGN DOGUMENTS ON BEHALF OF ARBOR ACRES UNITED
METHODIST RETIREMENT COMMUNITY, INC. (“CLIENT"} WITH REGARD TO AN ESCROW AGCOUNT 7978784 | ARBOR
ACRES RES DEP 8 ENTRANGE FEB

| Name; David W, Matthews Phone #1: 336,724.7921 Phone #2.
Tlle: VPl Finange/CFO Emall #1: dmalihews@arboracres.org | Emall #2: ,
‘ 0/ w Fax. 336.631,1342 Account View Access (YINY Y
Sign: J b\) . Notes (Entor# of Spaclaf instruclions Below): 1
Narme: Andrew VW, Applerate ‘ Phone i#1: 836,724.7921 Fhone #2;
Thle; Pregidént and CED Emalll: paplegate@arbaracresorg | Emall #2:
' : "Fax; 336,721.0271 ' Account View Access (YIN): Y
Sig . M«‘ Noles (Enter # of Speglaf Instrualions Selow); 1 '
R o
Name; . Phana #1: . ‘ Phone #2:
Title: Emafl #1: Ermaill #2: -
Fax Account View Access (YIN):
Slgn: . Noles (Enter i of Speclal listryctions Below): 1

IMDIVIDUAL(S) AUTHORIZED TO RECEIVE DNLINE ACCESS - ONLY

Namg: Darvell Holland Phone #1; 336,724.7921 Phona #2,
Title: Gontroller s A | Email#t: dipolland@arboracres.org | Emalt #2:

g \ ,6 | Fex; 536,721,0271 _ Account View Access (VIN)- ¥
HQQI‘L_*\“ P4y .| Notes (Eniar# of Spetial nstrictions Belovy:

Authorized to perform 2l Client actions contemplated under the governing documents.
Autharized lo comolele felephong confirmation of slgned willler requests
Autharized lo reoeive acesess to oniline raporting

“NOTE SPECIAL INSTRUCTIONS {a.g., Limitations of Authority)
: _
)
3

The below undersignad individual hereby cerifles: (i) lo pessess famillanly with documents and records that govem the above-
referenced account and the operation and managament of Client, (I to hewve the powsr and authorlly on behalf of Cllent to execute this
Inclimiancy Certlficate, and i) that the afore-relerenced Individuals (along with the undersigned, as notet) 4 duly authorized 1o
instruit Trilst Bank Comporate Teust on behalf of Gllent, and/or authorized to view bank statements regarding the sbove-referenced

account,

/18 / AA By:%g%u%ml ?7"4(% WWM

Batd T  ©

Trulst Bank shall be entifled to rely upof any instructions from the individizals listed herein until notified In writing otherwise, or untll

termination of the abave-referenced acoount, Cllent's fallure to submit an updated Ingumbency Cerificate shall deatn the Certificate

of Incuimbency (or sfmllar signatory ant/or Notises disclosure) on fils as its Evergresn heumbency Centificate -and all current drust
oGO0 s a9 approved. Al current trust accounting. agcess, Indluding paper statetments, cyllae statements and onfine. . _

lew sccass; shal-be-approved s applicableClleftSHalr proriply -adviss Trilst Bank-Comporate Trist-&nt-Eetrow ™
Services of any changes affecting this incumbency Certificate.

CTES Incumbency Cenificate (06721}



Exhibit B

Fruist, 2z Esevow Agont FEES PAYABRLE TO ESCROW AGENT

$1,000.00 ~ one time only payable at the tine of sigming the
Escrow Agreement

{Pee is waived if no logal reviow is ribided)

The Legal Review Foe inchudes roview of all related documents and-aceepting the appointment of Escrow
Agent ob behalt of Truist Bank, The fee atso dncludes sesting up thé required acéOuit{s) and: doconntitiy
rmords, docuiment :f" limg., and coordmatmg the reumgt of funds/assets Tor ‘deposit to.the Escrow Account.
This ®a onq;mma fee payabie upon axcwutinn of the Esemw Agwenwnt As soon ds Teilst Bank’s
v b t, thele foe 1s sub act to, agmem regg;g]g‘ﬁg ;f

Administration Fee: &3,5{"} mpayable at the i mg of mgning the I‘.ﬂ{:ruw Aireament and

oy

The Adiminisfration Few includes providing routine and maudard servioes-of an Bscrow Agant The fee
tncludes administering the Escrow account, performibig Investment transaétions; processing cash
transactiony (inéluding wires and check processing), disbursing fimds 1o secordance with the Agreement
{(note any pr ming sonsicheritions belowL anid ptowdmg teust aecolng staterments to the Part:es for & twelve
€12 mprith perfod. If the scéount.romains open bayond the twalve (12) month tary;,. the Parties will be
inveiced wach year on the-anniversary date of the execution of the Recrow Agréemient. Extrordinary
expensos, ineludiig legl dounsel foes, will be billed a3 out-ofipocket. The Admihistiition Fee is due
upon exeeution of the Bstrow Agrﬁemmt The foes shall be deéried eared infull Bpon teceiptby the
Esciow Agest, ad na poition shall be refundable for sy reason, tncluding without lidtation, tomnination
of the ageement,

At Cost

legal {out-af-pocket to counsel) or aceonnting, will-be hilled at cost,

19

-Outsofipocket-expenses suchasbut-not limited-fo,-postage, ceoudgiroverightmath-wde tramsferytiwvel, - -



NORTH CAROLINA )
) AGREEMENT
FORSYTH COUNTY )

THIS AGREEMENT is made and entered into this day of , 20 , by and
between (“Resident”) and ARBOR ACRES UNITED METHODIST RETIREMENT
COMMUNITY, INC., a North Carolina nonprofit corporation (“Arbor Acres”). Where there are two people
signing this Agreement as a resident of Arbor Acres, “Resident” shall apply to both people, unless the context
otherwise requires.

Resident has applied and been approved for residency at Arbor Acres in
(house or apartment) (the “Accommodation”), and has received a copy of Arbor Acres’ Disclosure Statement
dated (the “Disclosure Statement”).

Resident and Arbor Acres agree to the following:

1. Entrance Fee and Monthly Service Fee.

Resident agrees to pay Arbor Acres an entrance fee of
$ ) (the “Entrance Fee™), of which
($ ) is nonrefundable (the “Nonrefundable Fee™).
Resident has the following payment options: (a) pay the Entrance Fee in full upon execution of this Agreement,
or (b) pay 25% of the total Entrance Fee ($ ) upon execution of this Agreement, with the balance to be
paid no later than five (5) days prior to the Residency Date (as defined in Section 3 below). Resident does not
acquire any ownership interest in the Accommodation as a result of payment of the Entrance Fee.

Resident agrees to pay the initial monthly service fee (the “Monthly Service Fee”), which is the
established monthly fee as of the date on this Agreement, and which is subject to change from time to time.
Rates are typically adjusted January 1% of each year. For a partial first month, Resident shall pay a pro-rated
amount of the Monthly Service Fee, on a per diem basis. Gratuities or bequests in addition to the established
Monthly Service Fee shall not be accepted. As of the date of this Agreement, the Monthly Service Fee
associated with the Accommodation will be:

Monthly Service Fee
Monthly Service Fee for Resident (includes dining allowance $
plan)
(current value of dining allowance is $ )
Monthly Service Fee for 2™ Resident occupying $
Accommodation, if applicable (includes dining allowance plan)
Total Monthly Service Fee for Accommodation $

2. Monthly Statements.
Arbor Acres will furnish Resident a monthly statement with the total amount of the Monthly
Service Fee and other charges, if any, owed by Resident. Resident shall pay such fees and charges by the 10"
day of the month. If Resident’s payment is late, Arbor Acres may charge Resident a one and one-half percent

Signature Page to Avbor Acres Independent Living Residency Agreement
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(1.5%) interest fee per month, from the first of the month in which the payment is late. Upon thirty (30) days’
advance written notice, Arbor Acres may change the billing date and payment due date. Arbor Acres shall have
the right to offset against any Entrance Fee repayment any unpaid Monthly Service Fees or other charges owed
by Resident to Arbor Acres,

3. Initial Occupancy.

Arbor Acres anticipates having the Accommodation ready for occupancy by
Resident is not required to move into the Accommodation before it is ready for occupancy, or before the
expiration of thirty (30) days from the date of this Agreement, whichever is later. Resident plans to move into
the Accommodation on or before (the “Occupancy Date”). If Resident should wish to change the
Occupancy Date, Resident will advise Arbor Acres immediately (on or before the Occupancy Date). Upon
receipt of Resident’s request, and if Arbor Acres determines that another date is feasible, Arbor Acres will
undertake to work out with Resident another mutually agreeable Occupancy Date. Resident agrees to pay
Arbor Acres’ Monthly Service Fees and other charges for use of the Accommodation from the earlier of (a) the
date of actual occupancy (the first night of residency or when personal property is moved into the
Accommodation) or (b) (the “Residency Date”). Resident has selected all interior finishes
(paint colors, carpeting and floor covering as may be necessary to prepare the Accommodation for Resident)
and has advised Arbor Acres of those selections.

4. Resident’s Right to Rescind or Cancel Within the First Thirty (30) Days or Resident’s
Failure to Move to Arbor Acres.

(a) Within thirty (30) days following the later of the execution of this Agreement or delivery of
the Disclosure Statement (the “Rescission Period”), Resident may rescind this Agreement by delivering to
Arbor Acres a signed, written notice of rescission. Resident is not required to move into the Accommodation
during the Rescission Period. If Resident dies before occupying the Accommaodation, or if, on account of
illness, injury or incapacity Resident should be precluded from occupying the Accommodation, this Agreement
shall be automatically cancelled. If this Agreement is neither rescinded nor cancelled and Resident fails to
move to Arbor Acres by the Residency Date, this Agreement may be terminated by Arbor Acres or Resident
upon written notice to the other.

(b) If Resident rescinds this Agreement, this Agreement is automatically cancelled as described
in Section 4(a) above or Resident fails to move to Arbor Acres by the Residency Date and this Agreement is
terminated by either Arbor Acres or Resident, Resident or Resident’s legal representative will receive a refund
of the Entrance Fee, less the following: (i) the Nonrefundable Fee; (ii) any Monthly Service Fees or other costs
charged for the time Resident shall have resided at Arbor Acres; and (iii) those nonstandard costs specifically
incurred by Arbor Acres at the request of Resident and described in a signed addendum to this Agreement.
Payment of the refund is to be made from the Entrance Fee received by Arbor Acres from the next occupant of
the Accommodation.

5. Refund Upon Termination of Residency After the First 30 Davys and Within 50 Months,

If Resident, for any reason, vacates and permanently terminates residency at Arbor Acres after
the Rescission Period and within fifty (50) months following the Residency Date, Resident shall be entitled to a
refund of the Entrance Fee. This refund shall be determined as follows: upon receiving payment of an Entrance
Fee from an acceptable substitute resident for Resident’s Accommodation, Arbor Acres will refund to Resident
(or to Resident’s estate) the amount of Resident’s Entrance Fee less the following: (a) the Nonrefundable Fee;
(b) two percent (2%) of the remainder (the Entrance Fee less the Nonrefundable Fee) for each month, from the
month of the Residency Date to the Date of Termination of Occupancy (as defined in Section 6 below), up to
the full refundable amount of Resident’s Entrance Fee (for this purpose, one-half month or more shall be
considered as a full month; less than one-half month shall be disregarded); (¢) any unpaid Monthly Service
Fees, costs or other obligations of Resident to Arbor Acres; and (d} those nonstandard costs specifically
incurred by Arbor Acres at the request of Resident and described in a signed addendum to this Agreement.



Payment of the refund is to be made from the Entrance Fee received by Arbor Acres from the next occupant of
the Accommodation. Resident shall receive no refund if Resident’s final termination of all rights of residency at
Arbor Acres occurs after the fifty (50) month period following the Residency Date.

6. Notice of Termination of Occupancy.

If after moving to Arbor Acres and the expiration of the Rescission Period, Resident should
decide to terminate this Agreement and residency at Arbor Acres, Resident will give Arbor Acres a minimum of
thirty (30) days advance written notice stating the date on which Resident plans to terminate residency. This
Agreement, and Resident’s obligation to pay the Monthly Service Fee and other charges, shall continue in effect
until Resident vacates the Accommodation and removes all personal property from the premises or until the end
of the thirty (30) day notice period, whichever is later (the “Date of Termination of Occupancy™). If Resident
permanently vacates the Accommodation, Arbor Acres reserves the right to remove Resident’s personal
property from the Accommodation and store such personal property, and Resident shall be responsible for the
reasonable costs of such removal and storage. Unclaimed personal property will become the property of Arbor
Acres after thirty (30) days, and Arbor Acres may dispose of such personal property in its sole discretion.

7. Transfer to a Higher Level of Care Within 90 Days.
If within ninety (90) days after the Residency Date, Resident transfers to Arbor Acres’ assisted

living facility (the “Assisted Living Facility”) or Arbor Acres’ skilled nursing facility (the ““Skilled Nursing
Facility”), Resident will be entitled to a refund, which will be calculated as set out in Section 5 above. Resident
shall not be required to pay an additional Entrance Fee on transferring to the Assisted Living Facility or the
Skilted Nursing Facility.

8. Terms and Conditions of Initial Residency and Continued Residency.
Resident shall have the right to occupy the Accommodation and to reside at Arbor Acres subject
to the provisions of this Agreement and subject to the following understandings, terms and conditions;

(a)  Health and Financial Qualification for Residency
At the time of the execution of this Agreement, Arbor Acres has determined that Resident
qualifies for residency both with respect to mental and physical condition and ability to take care of the
anticipated Monthly Service Fees and other charges. Resident must continue to meet these qualifications at the
time Resident enters Arbor Acres. If Resident is not qualified to occupy the Accommodation, but is qualified
(financially and otherwise) to reside in other accommodations at Arbor Acres, Resident shall be entitled to such
accommodation when space permits,

(b)  Financial Obligation Including Obligation to Pay Fees and Charges
In order to operate Arbor Acres on a fiscally sound, nonprofit basis, Arbor Acres has
established fees and charges, which are subject to modification from time to time as deemed necessary and
appropriate by Arbor Acres. Resident agrees to pay when due all required fees and charges. Resident has
received from Arbor Acres a schedule of current fees and charges.

Resident agrees to provide, if requested, periodic financial statements and current
financial information for the purpose of demonstrating capacity to meet financial obligations to Arbor Acres.
Should Resident experience financial difficulty that might result in Resident’s immediate or eventual inability to
meet the financial obligations under this Agreement, including any spend down of asscts that might result from
payment of expected fees and charges to Arbor Acres, Resident will inform Arbor Acres immediately, and
submit a current financial statement. Resident and, if appropriate, Resident’s responsible party, and Arbor Acres
shall discuss and, if possible, agree on a plan by which Resident’s financial obligation to Arbor Acres can be
met. Residents whose funds are depleted primarily through payment of fees associated with residency, to
include costs associated with their medical care, may be eligible for consideration for financial assistance
through Arbor Acres. Such assistance, however, is conditional upon demonstration that other options for
fulfilling this financial obligation to Arbor Acres have been explored and deemed impracticable by cither party,



When Resident is deemed eligible for financial assistance through Arbor Acres, Arbor Acres, to the extent of its
available resources dedicated for financial assistance, will attempt to furnish financial assistance when it is
needed. Termination of residency for Resident’s inability to fulfill the financial obligations incurred under this
Agreement shall be an option exercised as necessary to assure the financial viability of Arbor Acres and of its
financial assistance program.

(c)  Rights and Obligations During Temporary Absence
Temporary absence because of illness, trips or otherwise shall not affect Resident’s right
to retain the Accommodation as Resident’s place of residency. However, Resident shall not be entitled to an
adjustment of Arbor Acres’ Monthly Service Fec and other charges during such absence, and Resident shall
continue to be charged and to pay such Monthly Service Fee and charges during such absence.

(d)  Requirement of Compliance with Recommendations for Additional Services or Care
If Resident shall incur a physical or mental illness or impairment so that Resident

requires additional services or a higher level of care than is available at the Accommodation, Arbor Acres,
through its nursing and continuing care staffs (“Nursing and Continuing Care Staffs”), will make
recommendations regarding appropriate additional service options and/or options for transfer to a higher level
of care. Resident agrees (i) that Arbor Acres is obligated to assure the care and safety of residents and, (ii) that
Resident will comply with Nursing and Continuing Care Staffs’ recommendations regarding additional services
or transfer to a higher level of care. 1f such additional services or higher level of care can be provided in a
different accommodation at Arbor Acres, Resident has a right, and may be required by Arbor Acres, to move to
such accommodation. Arbor Acres will recommend and require such a move or additional services when, in the
judgment of Arbor Acres, it is necessary and in the best interest of Resident, Arbor Acres and/or the other
residents of Arbor Acres. Before any such move or additional services are required, Arbor Acres will discuss
the matter with Resident and/or Resident’s responsible party in an effort to secure Resident’s understanding and
cooperation with the required additional services or change of accommodation or level of care. Resident and/or
Resident’s responsible party shall have the right to appeal a decision to change Resident’s accommodation
and/or level of care in accordance with the provisions of (i) below.

(e) Requirement of Compliance With Policies, Rules and Regulations
In order to operate Arbor Acres in the best interest of the entire Arbor Acres community,

Arbor Acres has established policies, rules and regulations relating to residency, which are subject to
modification from time to time as deemed appropriate by Arbor Acres. Resident has received information as to
the current policies, rules and regulations in the Disclosure Statement and in other written information provided
by Arbor Acres. Arbor Acres reserves the right to make or change policies, rules and regulations, and will use
its reasonable efforts to communicate through appropriate means to all residents the substance and content of
such additions or changes; also, copies of particular policies, rules and regulations relating to residency will be
furnished to Resident on request. Resident agrees to comply with Arbor Acres’ policies, rules and regulations
applicable to Resident’s residency in Arbor Acres.

(H Cooperation of Responsible Parties and Other Associates

Resident understands and agrees that, in order for Arbor Acres to operate in the best
interest of both Resident and the entire Arbor Acres community, Arbor Acres must have the cooperation of
Resident’s family, friends, responsible parties and other associates to comply with Arbor Acres” applicable
policies, rules and regulations. Any continuing or repeated failure or refusal by any such persons to so cooperate
and comply may result in a determination by Arbor Acres that it is no longer feasible for Arbor Acres to
accommodate Resident as a resident. Upon such determination, Arbor Acres will have a right to terminate
Resident’s residency at Arbor Acres.

(g) Termination of Residency for Health Conditions Beyond Arbor Acres’ Capacity to Serve
If Resident’s physical and/or mental condition or needs cannot be legally or adequately
served by the facilities or programs available at Arbor Acres, or Resident requires or insists upon receiving care



that in the judgment of Arbor Acres exceeds the capacity of Arbor Acres to provide within the limits of its
staffing pattern or other available resources, Arbor Acres reserves the right to terminate Resident’s residency. If
such a circumstance arises, Arbor Acres will discuss the matter thoroughly with Resident and/or Resident’s
responsible party in an effort to determine a course of action in Resident’s best interest. Arbor Acres will
provide guidance and transitional support to Resident and/or Resident’s responsible party to facilitate an orderly
transfer of Resident to another, more appropriate facility or setting.

(b)y  Termination of Residency for Behavior Deemed Harmful to Arbor Acres
If Resident is deemed competent and capable of controlling his or her behaviors and

engages in behaviors deemed by the President/CEQ to be disruptive, hostile, illegal, or otherwise harmful to
others or to Arbor Acres, Arbor Acres reserves the right to terminate Resident’s residency. If such a
circumstance arises, Arbor Acres will discuss the matter thoroughly with Resident to provide Resident with
knowledge of the behaviors deemed intolerable by Arbor Acres. Arbor Acres will provide Resident a written
warning to desist from the behavior or any similarly disruptive, hostile, illegal or harmful behavior. Upon
determination that Resident is continuing to engage in the behaviors against which Resident has been warned,
Arbor Acres will have the right to terminate Resident’s residency at Arbor Acres.

(i} Right of Appeal of Transfer or Termination Decisions

While Arbor Acres reserves the right to terminate Resident’s residency at Arbor Acres
for failure to comply with (b), (d), (e), (f), (g) or (h) above, or for failure to comply with any other provision of
this Agreement, Arbor Acres shall exercise such right only after first attempting to work out satisfactory
solutions with Resident and/or Resident’s responsible party. If agreement cannot be reached between the
President/CEO and Resident and/or Resident’s responsible party, the President/CEO will refer the matter to the
Executive Committee of the Board of Directors of Arbor Acres (the “Executive Committee”) for hearing and
decision. The Executive Committee shall afford Resident an opportunity to be heard, and shall render a decision
with respect to the matter referred to it. The decision of the Executive Committee shall be put in writing and
shall be signed by the Chair of the Board of Directors of Arbor Acres (the “Chair”) or, in the absence of the
Chair, the Chair Elect of the Board of Directors of Arbor Acres. It is understood and agreed that the written,
signed decision of the Executive Committee shall be final and binding.

() Terms and Conditions of Initial Residency and Continued Residency
Arbor Acres reserves the right to relocate Resident to another accommodation when

deemed necessary in order for Arbor Acres to fulfill its strategic financial and other obligations to the Arbor
Acres community. Arbor Acres will exercise this right only when all other reasonable options to avoid
relocating Resident have been considered. Arbor Acres will use reasonable efforts to relocate Resident to an
accommodation of the same or similar type as Resident’s Accommodation. Any such decision to relocate
Resident will be discussed thoroughly with Resident in order to enlist Resident’s understanding of the need for
and cooperation with the relocation. Arbor Acres will pay all required packing and moving costs, and all
reasonable refurbishing costs necessary to achieve substantial comparability between the Accommodation and
any new accommodation to which Resident may be relocated. Any decision to relocate Resident for the sake of
enabling Arbor Acres to fulfill its strategic financial and other obligations to the Arbor Acres community may
be appealed to the Executive Committee as outlined in (i) above.

(k)  Termination of Residency If Listed on a Sex Offender Registry
Resident hereby acknowledges that it is the policy of Arbor Acres to conduct sex

offender screening for every prospective resident, regardless of independent status or level of care, at the time
of application for admission to Artbor Acres and again prior to entering into a Residency Agreement. If the
screening shows that the prospective resident is identified as a sex offender, Arbor Acres will deny admission of
Resident on that basis and not execute a Residency Agreement. In addition, Resident hereby acknowledges and
agrees that if, after Arbor Acres and Resident have entered into a Residency Agreement, Arbor Acres becomes
aware that Resident is listed on any sex offender registry, Arbor Acres may terminate this Agreement with
Resident and remove Resident from Arbor Acres. If there is more than one resident who is a party to this



Agreement, the termination of this Agreement in such instance shall only apply to the resident listed on the sex
offender registry.

O Healthcare Outside of Arbor Acres
Arbor Acres assumes no obligation or responsibility for the provision of residential or
nursing or health care facilities or services to Resident beyond those facilities and services from time to time
established and provided by Arbor Acres.

(m)  Personal Belongings
Arbor Acres will not be responsible for the loss of or damage to any property belonging
to Resident due to theft, mysterious disappearance, fire, employee accident, or any other cause. It is understood
that Resident has the responsibility of providing any desired insurance protection covering any such loss.

0. Standard Services to be Provided.

Arbor Acres agrees to provide standard services to Resident at no additional cost beyond the
Monthly Service Fee, and has informed Resident of these services and other services through written
information available to all residents. At the time of execution of this Agreement, the standard services include:

(1)  Maintenance of buildings and grounds, including maintenance of all standard equipment
in the Accommodation;

(2)  Utilities, as described below;

(3)  Basic cable television and internet service;

(4)  Telephone jacks;

(5)  Emergency call system, nursing assessments and assistance in emergencies;

(6)  Routine consultation regarding health concerns with nursing personnel in the health clinic
of Arbor Acres;

(7}  Recreational, educational, cultural, wellness and spiritual life programs, to the extent
provided by Arbor Acres;

(8) Transportation to routine, non-emergency medical appointments within Forsyth County
(transportation by ambulance not included);

(9 In-patient care in the Arbor Acres Health Center for a limited number of days;

(10) Weelkly housekeeping and annual deep cleaning of the Accommodation;

(11) Laundering of bed and bath linens furnished by Arbor Acres;

{12)  Security personnel on duty in the Arbor Acres Welcome Center; and

(13) Dining services with meals or a meal allowance, as included in the Monthly Service Fee.

Water and sewer services are included in the Monthly Service Fee. Electricity and gas is also
included, except for residents in accommodations that are individually metered who are billed directly by the
gas and electricity service providers. Resident has been informed that the Accommaodation [is (is not)]
individually metered. Resident has been informed in writing of the terms applicable to Resident’s meal plan.

Other services that are available and included in the Monthly Service Fee are a daily, automatic
check-in system, check-cashing services, package shipping, access to washers/dryers and complete kitchens and
sitting areas.

Arbor Acres may also make available to Resident additional services, at Resident’s request, at
the then prevailing rates charged by Arbor Acres, which may be changed from time to time at the discretion of
Arbor Acres.

Arbor Acres residents pay Monthly Service Fees and other charges to cover services provided by
Arbor Acres. At least annually, during budget preparation, Arbor Acres reviews services and costs of operation,
and the need for any changes in services or in Arbor Acres” schedule of fees and charges. Arbor Acres reserves



the right to change, when deemed necessary, the services provided to residents and the associated fees and
charges. Arbor Acres will strive to deliver services efficiently and economically.,

10.  Alterations and Refurbishment.

Resident must obtain the prior written approval of Arbor Acres before making any alterations to
the Accommodation. Customary refurbishment costs of the Accommodation that are provided by Arbor Acres
in accordance with its policies and procedures are included in the Monthly Service Fee. Any refurbishment
costs beyond Arbor Acres’ customary refurbishment costs shall be the responsibility of Resident.

11, Transfer to Higher Level of Care.

Resident shall have priority over non-residents for entry into the Assisted Living Facility or the
Skilled Nursing Facility. Although Arbor Acres cannot guarantee Resident entry into the Assisted Living
Facility or the Skilled Nursing Facility, Arbor Acres will use its reasonable efforts to accommodate Resident’s
entry. If Resident requires a higher level of care, and the Assisted Living Facility and the Skilled Nursing
Facility are fully occupied, Resident shall relocate to an alternate healthcare facility. In the event of such
relocation, Arbor Acres will use reasonable efforts to transfer Resident to the Assisted Living Facility or the
Skilled Nursing Facility when accommeodations become available. Resident shall be responsible for all fees,
costs and expenses. If Resident’s transfer to the Assisted Living Facility, the Skilled Nursing Facility or an
alternate healthcare facility is temporary, Resident shall remain responsible for the Monthly Service Feg;
however, Resident shall not be responsible for the Monthly Service Fee if such relocation is permanent. In the
event that there are two Residents in the Accommodation, and only one Resident permanently transfers to a
higher level of care, the remaining Resident will pay the Monthly Service Fee for single occupancy in addition
to all other costs and charges.

12,  Application for Benefits; Assignment of Benefits.

Resident shall apply for any federal, state or local benefits for which Resident may be eligible or
entitled upon request by Arbor Acres. If requested by Arbor Acres, any or all such benefits will be applied to
the Monthly Service Fee or other charges incurred by Resident at Arbor Acres.

13,  Health Insurance.

Resident shall maintain eligible Medicare coverage (and supplemental health insurance
coverage) or other health insurance coverage that adequately covers hospital, medical, prescriptions and skilled
nursing deductibles and co-payments required under Resident’s primary insurance policy. Resident’s primary
and secondary insurance coverage must recognize Arbor Acres as a healthcare provider, or Resident shall be
responsible for services rendered that otherwise could be covered by insurance.

If Resident’s health insurance coverage lapses, Arbor Acres may require Resident to reapply for
suitable insurance coverage. If Resident is unable to obtain suitable insurance coverage, Resident shall be
responsible for any healthcare services rendered that otherwise could be covered by insurance. Upon request by
Arbor Acres, Resident shall provide evidence of health insurance coverage.

14.  Medicare-Certified Skilled Nursing Facility Beds.

Arbor Acres maintains a limited number of Medicare-certified beds in the Skilled Nursing
Facility, which are available for use by residents whose skilled nursing care would qualify for Medicare
payment on an “if and as available” basis. In the event that Resident needs admission and the admission would
qualify for Medicare payment, then Resident’s financial responsibility to Arbor Acres will depend upon the type
of Medicare coverage that Resident has and whether Arbor Acres is a contractual provider for Resident’s
coverage.

(a)  Medicare-certified bed is not available.
In the event that there is not a Medicare-certified bed at Arbor Acres at the time that Resident
requires admission, then Resident may either choose {o obtain skilled nursing care services at another healthcare



facility at Resident’s cost until such time as a Medicare-certified bed becomes available at Arbor Acres
(presuming that Resident would use a facility that could provide a Medicare-certified bed) or be admitted to a
bed in the Skilled Nursing Facility at Resident’s cost which is not certified to accept Medicare payment until
such time as a Medicare-certified bed becomes available at Arbor Acres.

(b)  Medicare-certified bed is available and Resident has traditional Medicare.

If Resident is admitted to a Medicare-certified bed in the Skilled Nursing Facility and Resident
has traditional Medicare coverage, Arbor Acres will accept the Medicare reimbursement amount for such care
while Resident shall be responsible for any applicable deductible, co-payment and/or co-insurance amounts that
are not paid by Medicare and any supplemental Medicare insurance that Resident maintains.

(¢}  Medicare-certified bed is available and Resident has Medicare
Advantage coverage for which Arbor Acres is an in-network provider.

In the event that Arbor Acres is an in-network provider for Resident’s Medicare Advantage
coverage, then Arbor Acres will accept the reimbursement amount from Resident’s Medicare Advantage
insurance carrier while Resident shall be responsible for any deductible, co-payment and/or co-insurance
amounts that are not paid by the Medicare Advantage insurance that Resident maintains,

(d)  Medicare-certified bed is available and Resident has Medicare

Advantage coverage for which Arbor Acres is not an in-network provider.

Arbor Acres will charge Resident the full private-payment amount for Resident’s admission into
a Medicare-certified bed and credit against Resident’s financial obligation to Arbor Acres the amount that is
paid by Resident’s Medicare Advantage insurance if the insurance provides an out-of-network benefit, In the
event that Resident’s Medicare Advantage insurance will not pay any amount to an out-of-network provider,
then Resident will not be admitted to a Medicare-certified bed at Arbor Acres. A full private-pay Resident in a
Medicare-certified bed may be required by Arbor Acres to relocate to a bed that is not Medicare certified when
such a bed becomes available.

15. United Methodist Affiliation.
Arbor Acres is affiliated with the Western North Carolina Annual Conference of The United
Methodist Church, which is not responsible for the financial and contractual obligations of Arbor Acres.

16.  Required Documents.

Resident agrees to keep in effect an appropriate Durable Power of Attorney or other designation
of responsible party, and agrees to provide copies of the following documents to Arbor Acres by the first day of
residency, and deliver any changes to such documents to Arbor Acres during Resident’s residency at Arbor
Acres: (a) health insurance coverage information; (b) copy of current Durable Power of Attorney for business
management; (¢) copy of current Health Care Power of Attorney and Living Will; and (d) evidence of the
executor or other legally responsible person of Resident’s estate, such as a copy of Resident’s will documenting
the name of the executor of his or her estate.

17.  Multiple Residents.

(a) Joint and Several Liability

When Resident includes more than one individual, the rights and obligations under this
Agreement are joint and several,

(b) Transfer, Death or Termination by One Resident

If two Residents occupy a single Accommodation under the terms of this Agreement and one
Resident permanently transfers to the Assisted Living Facility or the Skilled Nursing Facility, dies or terminates
this Agreement, this Agreement shall continue with respect to the remaining Resident, and such Resident shall
have the option to remain in the same Accommodation or relocate to a smaller accommodation, and in such




event the remaining Resident shall not be entitled to any refund. The remaining Resident shall be responsible
for the Monthly Service Fee for one resident associated with the Accommodation occupied by such Resident.

(c) Sharing Occupancy After Entry

If Resident, while occupying the Accommodation, desires to share an accommodation with
another resident of Arbor Acres, the two residents may occupy the accommodation of either resident, with the
prior written consent of Arbor Acres. In such event, the residents shall surrender the other accommodation and
no refund shall be paid for such surrender. Thereafter, Resident and the other resident shall pay the Monthly
Service Fee associated with the occupied accommodation for double occupancy.

If Resident, while occupying the Accommodation, desires to share an accommodation with a
person who is not a resident of Arbor Acres (the “Non-Resident”), the Non-Resident must meet the then current
requirements for admission to Arbor Acres, enter into the then current version of the Residency Agreement, and
pay the then current second person entrance fee, Thereafier, Resident and the new resident shall pay the
Monthly Service Fee associated with the occupied accommodation for double occupancy. If the Non-Resident
does not meet the requirements contained in this paragraph, Resident may voluntarily terminate this Agreement
as provided in this Agreement. If Resident subsequently transfers to the Assisted Living Facility or the Skilled
Nursing Facility, dies or terminates this Agreement, the new resident shall be responsible to pay the full, then-
current Entrance Fee for the Accommodation occupied by such new resident, less the second person entrance
fee previously paid by the new resident,

(d)  Combination of Accommodation

If Arbor Acres determines that it is desirable to combine the Accommodation with an adjoining
accommodation, Resident agrees to surrender occupancy of the Accommodation within a reasonable time after
receiving notice from Arbor Acres. In such event, Resident shall have the option to transfer into the combined
accommodation when ready for occupancy or transfer to another accommodation, when available, of the same
or similar type previously occupied by Resident. If Resident elects to occupy the combined accommodation,
Resident shall be responsible for the Monthly Service Fee associated with occupancy of such accommodation.

18.  Moving Costs.
Resident is responsible for any and all packing and moving costs incurred by Resident for moves

into, within and out of Arbor Acres, except as provided in Section 8(j) above. Arbor Acres may provide
assistance at an additional cost. Arbor Acres reserves the right to charge an administrative fee for Resident’s
move within Arbor Acres.

19,  Entire Agreement,

This Agreement, together with any Arbitration Agreement between Resident and Arbor Acres,
contain the entire agreement of Arbor Acres and Resident. Arbor Acres will not be liable or bound in any
manner by any statements, representations, or promises made by any person representing or claiming to
represent Arbor Acres, unless such statements, representations, or promises are sct forth in this Agreement.

20.  Capacity.
This Agreement has been executed on behalf of Arbor Acres by Arbor Acres’ duly authorized

agent, and no officer, trustee, agent or employee of Arbor Acres shall have any personal liability to Resident
under this Agreement.

21.  Amendments and Modifications.

This Agreement shall not be modified, amended or changed in any respect except in writing
signed by Arbor Acres and Resident, Each waives any right to amend this Agreement in any other way.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, Arbor Acres may amend this Agreement to ensure compliance with applicable
laws and regulations.

22,  Waiver.




Neither the failure nor any delay on the part of any party to exercise any right, remedy, power or
privilege (“Right”) under this Agreement shall operate as a waiver thereof, nor shall any single or partial waiver
of any Right preclude any exercise of the same or of any other Right. No waiver shall be in effect unless in
writing and signed by the party asserted to have granted such waiver,

23.  Severability.

The invalidity of any restriction, condition or other provision of this Agreement, or any part of
the same, shall not impair or affect in any way the validity or enforceability of the rest of this Agreement.

24, Interpretation.
The headings in this Agreement are for convenience and reference only, and shall not affect the

interpretation of any provision of this Agreement.

25.  Successors and Assigns.

Except as set forth herein, this Agreement shall bind and inure to the benefit of the successors
and assigns of Arbor Acres and the heirs, executors, responsible parties, attorneys-in-fact and administrators of
Resident.

26.  Assignment.
This Agreement may not be assigned by Resident,

27.  Indemnity.
Resident agrees to indemnify, defend and hold Arbor Acres harmless from any and all claims,

damages or expenses (including reasonable attorneys’ fees and court costs) resulting or arising from any injury
or death to persons and/or damages caused by, resulting from or attributable to or in any way connected with,
directly or indirectly, the act or omission of Resident or Resident’s guests, including private duty nurses,
companions or others. This Section 27 shall survive termination of this Agreement.

28.  Governing Law; Venue; Disputes.

This Agreement shall be governed by, interpreted, construed and enforced in accordance with the
laws of the State of North Carolina, without giving effect to any choice of law or conflict of law rules or
provisions that would cause the application of laws or any jurisdiction other than North Carolina. Except to the
extent that the parties have agreed to an alternative mechanism for the resolution of a dispute, to the full extent
permitted by law, any action, suit or proceeding arising out of or relating to this Agreement shall be brought and
enforced in the courts of the State of North Carolina located in Forsyth County or of the United States District
Court for the Middle District of North Carolina, and the parties hereby irrevocably submit to the exclusive
jurisdiction of such courts and irrevocably waive any objection that they may now or hereafter have to the
laying of venue of any such action or proceeding in such courts. In the event of any such dispute, the non-
prevailing party shall pay all reasonable costs, expenses and attorneys’ fees incurred by the prevailing party.

29, Survival.

Those rights and obligations that have accrued under this Agreement shall survive its
termination, as shall those rights and obligations that by their terms survive termination and any provisions that
must survive to give effect to their terms, as shall any obligation of Resident to pay costs or expenses of his or
her residency at Arbor Acres that remain unpaid as of such termination.

30,  Management of Arbor Acres.

The absolute rights of management are reserved by Arbor Acres and its Board of Directors.
Arbor Acres reserves the right to accept or reject any person as a resident. Residents do not have the right to
determine admission or terms of acceptance of any other resident.




31.  Uncontrollable Interruption of Services.

No breach of Arbor Acres’ obligations under this Agreement and no liability for injury to
Resident or Resident’s property shall result from an interruption of, or failure to provide, contracted services
due to an act of God or other cause beyond the reasonable control of Arbor Acres, specifically including
(without limitation) strikes or other forms of labor disturbances, government regulations and/or embargoes,
shortages of labor or materials, fire, flood, earthquakes, inclement weather or acts of the Resident. Arbor Acres
shall make reasonable efforts to continue to provide the usual services in such event,

32. Confidentiality.

Arbor Acres has the responsibility to keep all of the personal, medical, and financial information
Resident has supplied to Arbor Acres confidential. Resident agrees that Arbor Acres can disclose such
information to those who have a need, in Arbor Acres’ judgment, or right to know,

33.  Rights Subordinate to Mortgage.

Pursuant to the requirements of any lender, Resident agrees that Resident’s rights under this
Agreement are subordinate to the right of the lender under any mortgage, deed of trust or security interest
executed now or in the future by Arbor Acres.

34.  Notice Provisions.

Notices required by this Agreement will be in writing and delivered either by personal delivery
or mail, If delivered by mail, notices will be sent by certified or registered mail, return receipt requested, with
all postage and charges prepaid. Notices and other communications will be deemed to have been given when
delivered by personal delivery or if mailed, such notice shall be deemed to have been given on the third
business day after being deposited in the United States mail, postage prepaid. All notices and other written
communications required under this Agreement will be addressed to Resident or to Resident’s personal
representative at the address provided to Arbor Acres. Notices shall be sent to us at the following address:

Arbor Acres United Methodist Retirement Community, Inc.
1240 Arbor Road

Winston-Salem, NC 27104

Attention: President and CEO

Resident’s address for the purpose of giving notice is the address appearing after Resident’s
signature below or such other address Resident provides to Arbor Acres in writing.

[Signature Page Follows]



Resident has executed this Agreement and Arbor Acres has caused this Agreement to be executed in its name
by a duly authorized person as of the day and year written above.

Resident Name:

Resident Address:

Street Address

City, State & Zip Code

ARBOR ACRES UNITED METHODIST RETIREMENT COMMUNITY, INC.

By:

Title:




AL Contract

NORTH CAROLINA)
) AGREEMENT
FORSYTH COUNTY)
THIS AGREEMENT is made and entered into this day of , 20 , by and
between (“Resident”) and ARBOR ACRES UNITED METHODIST RETIREMENT

COMMUNITY, INC., a North Carolina nonprofit corporation (“Arbor Acres”).

Resident has applied and been approved for residency at Arbor Acres in
room number (the “Accommodation™), and has received a copy of Arbor Acres’ Dlsclosure
Statement, dated (the “Disclosure Statement”).

Resident and Arbor Acres agree to the following;

1. Entrance Fee and Daily Fee.

The Entrance Fece established by Arbor Acres for residency in Arbor Acres’ assisted living
facility (the “Assisted Living Facility”), where it is anticipated Resident will reside, is TWO THOUSAND
EIGHT HUNDRED DOLLARS AND NO/100 Dollars ($2,800.00) (the “Entrance Fee”), the amount being paid
by Resident herewith in full. (The Entrance Fee is separate and distinet from Arbor Acres’ fees and charges to
residents for food, maintenance, medical, nursing and other services.) The Entrance Fee for residency in the
Assisted Living Facility is a non-refundable fee except as provided in Section 5. If Resident moves to an
independent living unit, the Entrance Fee will be applied toward the Entrance Fee for that unit as provided in
Section 7(1).

Resident agrees to pay the initial daily fee (the “Daily Fee™), which is the established daily fee as of the
date on this Agreement, and which is subject to change from time to time. Rates are typically adjusted January

1% of each year. Gratuities or bequests in addition to the established Daily Fee shall not be accepted. As of the
date of this Agreement, the Daily Fee associated with the Accommodation will be:

Daily Fee

Daily Fee for Resident (includes meals, laundry and utilities) $

2. Monthly Statements.

Arbor Acres will furnish Resident a monthly statement with the total amount of the Daily Fee
and other charges, if any, owed by Resident. Resident shall pay such fees and charges by the 10" day of the
month. If Resident’s payment is late, Arbor Acres may charge Resident a one and one-half percent (1.5%)
interest fee per month, from the first of the month in which the payment is late. Upon thirty (30) days’ advance
written notice, Arbor Acres may change the billing date and payment due date. Arbor Acres shall have the right
to offset against any Entrance Fee repayment any unpaid Daily Fees or other charges owed by Resident to
Arbor Acres.

3. Room Assignment.
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Resident understands that Resident acquires no ownership interest in any property at Arbor
Acres under this Agreement; also, that no particular room or unit in the Assisted Living Facility is subject to
reservation or permanent assignment, and that Arbor Acres may change Resident’s room assignment in the
Assisted Living Facility. Though Arbor Acres retains the right to change Resident’s room assignment, Arbor
Acres agrees that it will make changes only as Arbor Acres finds such changes to be necessary or advisable.

4, Initial Occupancy.

Arbor Acres anticipates having the Accommodation ready for occupancy by
Resident is not required to move into the Accommodation before it is ready for occupancy, or before the
expiration of thirty (30) days from the date of this Agreement, whichever is later, Resident plans to move into
the Accommodation on or before (the “Occupancy Date”). If Resident should wish to change the
Occupancy Date, Resident will advise Arbor Acres immediately (on or before the Occupancy Date). Upon
receipt of Resident’s request, and if Arbor Acres determines that another date is feasible, Arbor Acres will
undertake to work out with Resident another mutually agreeable Occupancy Date. Resident agrees to pay
Arbor Acres’ Daily Fees and other charges for use of the Accommodation from the earlier of (a) the date of
actual occupancy (the first night of residency or when personal property is moved into the Accommodation) or
(b) (the “Residency Date”).

5, Resident’s Right to Rescind or Cancel Within the First Thirty (30) Davs or Resident’s
Failure to Move to Arbor Acres.

(a) Within thirty (30) days following the later of the execution of this Agreement or delivery of
the Disclosure Statement (the “Rescission Period”), Resident may rescind this Agreement by delivering to
Arbor Acres a signed, written notice of rescission. Resident is not required to move into the Accommodation
during the Rescission Period. If Resident dies before occupying the Accommodation, or if, on account of
illness, injury or incapacity Resident should be precluded from occupying the Accommodation, this Agreement
shall be automatically cancelled. If this Agreement is neither rescinded nor cancelled and Resident fails to
move to Arbor Acres by the Residency Date, this Agreement may be terminated by Arbor Acres or Resident
upon written notice to the other.

(b) If Resident rescinds this Agreement, this Agreement is automatically cancelled as described
in Section 5(a) above or Resident fails to move to Arbor Acres by the Residency Date and this Agreement is
terminated by either Arbor Acres or Resident, Resident or Resident’s legal representative will receive a refund
of the Entrance Fee, less the following: (i) any Daily Fees or other costs charged for the time Resident shall
have resided at Arbor Acres; and (ii) those nonstandard costs specifically incurred by Arbor Acres at the request
of Resident and described in a signed addendum to this Agreement. Payment of the refund is to be made from
the Enfrance Fee received by Arbor Acres from the next occupant of the Accommodation.

6. Notice of Termination of Occupancy.

If after moving to Arbor Acres and the expiration of the Rescission Period, Resident should
decide to terminate this Agreement and residency at Arbor Acres, Resident will give Arbor Acres a minimum of
fourteen (14) days advance written notice stating the date on which Resident plans to terminate residency. This
Agreement, and Resident’s obligation to pay the Daily Fee and other charges, shall continue in effect until
Resident vacates the Accommodation or until the end of the fourteen (14) day notice period, whichever is later
(the “Date of Termination of Occupancy”). If Resident permanently vacates the Accommodation, Arbor Acres
reserves the right to remove Resident’s personal property from the Accommodation and store such personal
property, and Resident shall be responsible for the reasonable costs of such removal and storage. Unclaimed
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personal property will become the property of Arbor Acres after thirty (30) days, and Arbor Acres may dispose
of such personal property in its sole discretion.

7, Terms and Conditions of Initial Residency and Continued Residency.

Resident shall have the right to occupy the Accommodation and to reside at Arbor Acres subject
to the provisions of this Agreement and subject to the following understandings, terms and conditions:

(a)  Health and Financial Qualification for Residency

At the time of the execution of this Agreement, Arbor Acres has determined that Resident
qualifies for residency both with respect to mental and physical condition and ability to take care of the
anticipated Daily Fees and other charges. Resident must continue to meet these qualifications at the time
Resident enters Arbor Acres. If Resident is not qualified to occupy the Accommodation, but is qualified
{financially and otherwise) to reside in other accommodations at Arbor Acres, Resident shall be entitled to such
accommodation when space permits.

(b)  Financial Obligation Including Obligation to Pay Fees and Charges

In order to operate Arbor Acres on a fiscally sound, nonprofit basis, Arbor Acres has
established fees and charges, which are subject to modification from time to time as deemed necessary and
appropriate by Arbor Acres. Resident agrees to pay when due all required fees and charges. Resident has
received from Arbor Acres a schedule of current fees and charges.

Resident agrees to provide, if requested, periodic financial statements and current
financial information for the purpose of demonstrating capacity to meet financial obligations to Arbor Acres,
Should Resident experience financial difficulty that might result in Resident’s immediate or eventual inability to
meet the financial obligations under this Agreement, including any spend down of assets that might result from
payment of expected fees and charges to Arbor Acres, Resident will inform Arbor Acres immediately, and
submit a current financial statement. Resident and, if appropriate, Resident’s responsible party, and Arbor Acres
shall discuss and, if possible, agree on a plan by which Resident’s financial obligation to Arbor Acres can be
met. Residents whose funds are depleted primarily through payment of fees associated with residency, to
include costs associated with their medical care, may be eligible for consideration for financial assistance
through Arbor Acres. Such assistance, however, is conditional upon demonstration that other options for
fulfilling this financial obligation to Arbor Acres have been explored and deemed impracticable by either party.
When Resident is deemed eligible for financial assistance through Arbor Acres, Arbor Acres, to the extent of its
available resources dedicated for financial assistance, will attempt to furnish financial assistance when it is
needed. Termination of residency for Resident’s inability to fulfill the financial obligations incurred under this
Agreement shall be an option exercised as necessary to assure the financial viability of Arbor Acres and of its
financial assistance program.

(c) Rights and Obligations During Temporary Absence

Temporary absence because of illness, trips or otherwise shall not affect Resident’s right
to retain the Accommodation as Resident’s place of residency. However, Resident shall not be entitled to an
adjustment of Arbor Acres’ Daily Fee and other charges during such absence, and Resident shall continue to be
charged and to pay such Daily Fee and charges during such absence.

(d)  Reguirement of Compliance with Recommendations for Additional Services or Care
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If Resident shall incur a physical or mental illness or impairment so that Resident
requires additional services or a higher level of care than is available at the Accommodation, Arbor Acres,
through its nursing and continuing care staffs (“Nursing and Continuing Care Staffs”), will make
recommendations regarding appropriate additional service options and/or options for transfer to a higher level
of care. Resident agrees (i) that Arbor Acres is obligated to assure the care and safety of residents and, (ii) that
Resident will comply with Nursing and Continuing Care Staffs’ recommendations regarding additional services
or transfer to a higher level of care. If such additional services or higher level of care can be provided in a
different accommodation at Arbor Acres, Resident has a right, and may be required by Arbor Acres, to move to
such accommodation. Arbor Acres will recommend and require such a move or additional services when, in the
judgment of Arbor Acres, it is necessary and in the best interest of Resident, Arbor Acres and/or the other
residents of Arbor Acres. Before any such move or additional services are required, Arbor Acres will discuss
the matter with Resident and/or Resident’s responsible party in an effort to secure Resident’s understanding and
cooperation with the required additional services or change of accommodation or level of care. Resident and/or
Resident’s responsible party shall have the right to appeal a decision to change Resident’s accommodation
and/or level of care in accordance with the provisions of (i) below.

(e) Reguirement of Compliance With Policies, Rules and Regulations

In order to operate Arbor Acres in the best interest of the entire Arbor Acres community,
Arbor Acres has established policies, rules and regulations relating to residency, which are subject to
modification from time to time as deemed appropriate by Arbor Acres. Resident has received information as to
the current policies, rules and regulations in the Disclosure Statement and in other written information provided
by Arbor Acres. Arbor Acres reserves the right to make or change policies, rules and regulations, and will use
its reasonable efforts to communicate through appropriate means to all residents the substance and content of
such additions or changes; also, copies of particular policies, rules and regulations relating to residency will be
furnished to Resident on request. Resident agrees to comply with Arbor Acres’ policies, rules and regulations
applicable to Resident’s residency in Arbor Acres.

(f) Cooperation of Responsible Parties and Other Associates

Resident understands and agrees that, in order for Arbor Acres to operate in the best
interest of both Resident and the entire Arbor Acres community, Arbor Acres must have the cooperation of
Resident’s family, friends, responsible parties and other associates to comply with Arbor Acres’ applicable
policies, rules and regulations. Any continuing or repeated failure or refusal by any such persons to so cooperate
and comply may result in a determination by Arbor Acres that it is no longer feasible for Arbor Acres to
accommodate Resident as a resident. Upon such determination, Arbor Acres will have a right to terminate
Resident’s residency at Arbor Acres.

(2) Termination of Residency for Health Conditions Beyond Arbor Acres’ Capacity to Serve

If Resident’s physical and/or mental condition or needs cannot be legally or adequately
served by the facilities or programs available at Arbor Acres, or Resident requires or insists upon receiving care
that in the judgment of Arbor Acres exceeds the capacity of Arbor Acres to provide within the limits of its
staffing pattern or other available resources, Arbor Acres reserves the right to terminate Resident’s residency. If
such a circumstance arises, Arbor Acres will discuss the matter thoroughly with Resident and/or Resident’s
responsible party in an effort to determine a course of action in Resident’s best interest. Arbor Acres will
provide guidance and transitional support to Resident and/or Resident’s responsible party to facilitate an orderly
transfer of Resident to another, more appropriate facility or setting.
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(h)  Termination of Residency for Behavior Deemed Harmful to Avbor Acres

If Resident is deemed competent and capable of controlling his or her behaviors and
engages in behaviors deemed by the President/CEO to be disruptive, hostile, illegal, or otherwise harmful to
others or to Arbor Acres, Arbor Acres reserves the right to terminate Resident’s residency, If such a
circumstance arises, Arbor Acres will discuss the matter thoroughly with Resident to provide Resident with
knowledge of the behaviors deemed intolerable by Arbor Acres. Arbor Acres will provide Resident a written
warning to desist from the behavior or any similarly disruptive, hostile, illegal or harmful behavior. Upon
determination that Resident is continuing to engage in the behaviors against which Resident has been warned,
Atbor Acres will have the right to terminate Resident’s residency at Arbor Acres.

(1) Right of Appeal of Transfer or Termination Decisions

While Arbor Acres reserves the right to terminate Resident’s residency at Arbor Acres
for failure to comply with (b), (d), (e), (f), (g) or (h) above, or for failure to comply with any other provision of
this Agreement, Arbor Acres shall exercise such right only after first attempting to work out satisfactory
solutions with Resident and/or Resident’s responsible party. If agreement cannot be reached between the
President/CEO and Resident and/or Resident’s responsible party, the President/CEO will refer the matter to the
Executive Committee of the Board of Directors of Arbor Acres (the “Executive Committee”) for hearing and
decision. The Executive Committee shall afford Resident an opportunity to be heard, and shall render a decision
with respect to the matter referred to it. The decision of the Executive Committee shall be put in writing and
shall be signed by the Chair of the Board of Directors of Arbor Acres (the “Chair™) or, in the absence of the
Chair, the Chair Elect of the Board of Directors of Arbor Acres. It is understood and agreed that the written,
signed decision of the Executive Committee shall be final and binding.

§)] Terms and Conditions of Initial Residency and Continued Residency

Arbor Acres reserves the right to relocate Resident to another accommodation when
deemed necessary in order for Arbor Acres to fulfill its strategic financial and other obligations to the Arbor
Acres community. Arbor Acres will exercise this right only when all other reasonable options to avoid
relocating Resident have been considered. Arbor Acres will use reasonable efforts to relocate Resident to an
accommodation of the same or similar type as Resident’s Accommodation. Any such decision to relocate
Resident will be discussed thoroughly with Resident in order to enlist Resident’s understanding of the need for
and cooperation with the relocation. Arbor Acres will pay all required packing and moving costs, and all
reasonable refurbishing costs necessary to achieve substantial comparability between the Accommodation and
any new accommodation to which Resident may be relocated. Any decision to relocate Resident for the sake of
enabling Arbor Acres to fulfill its strategic financial and other obligations to the Arbor Acres community may
be appealed to the Executive Committee as outlined in (1) above.

(k)  Termination of Residency If Listed on a Sex Offender Registry

Resident hereby acknowledges that it is the policy of Arbor Acres to conduct sex
offender screening for every prospective resident, regardless of independent status or level of care, at the time
of application for admission to Arbor Acres and again prior to entering into a Residency Agreement. If the
screening shows that the prospective resident is identified as a sex offender, Arbor Acres will deny admission of
Resident on that basis and not execute a Residency Agreement. In addition, Resident hereby acknowledges and
agrees that if, after Arbor Acres and Resident have entered into a Residency Agreement, Arbor Acres becomes
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aware that Resident is listed on any sex offender registry, Arbor Acres may terminate this Agreement with
Resident and remove Resident from Arbor Acres.

D Relocation to Independent Living

If Resident’s health should improve sufficiently to permit Resident to live in a residential
unit at Arbor Acres other than in Arbor Acres’ skilled nursing facility (the “Skilled Nursing Facility™) or the
Assisted Living Facility, such a move may be made subject to availability of a unit, payment of the entrance fee
established for the unit, less the Entrance Fee, and execution of an appropriate Independent Living Residency
Agreement.

(m)  Healthcare Outside of Arbor Acres
Arbor Acres assumes no obligation or responsibility for the provision of residential or
nursing or health care facilities or services to Resident beyond those facilities and services from time to time
established and provided by Arbor Acres.
(n)  Personal Belongings
Arbor Acres will not be responsible for the loss of or damage to any property belonging
to Resident due to theft, mysterious disappearance, fire, employee accident, or any other cause. It is understood

that Resident has the responsibility of providing any desired insurance protection covering any such loss,

8. Standard Services to be Provided.

Arbor Acres agrees to provide standard services to Resident at no additional cost beyond the
Daily Fee, and has informed Resident of these services and other services through written information available
to all residents. At the time of execution of this Agreement, the standard services include:

(1) Nursing supervision (in accordance with regulatory standards; does not include private
duty or individual nurse for each resident), prescribed medication administration and
assistance with activities of daily living;

(2) Maintenance of buildings and grounds, including maintenance of all standard equipment
in the Accommodation;

(3) Utilities, as described below;

(4)  Basic cable television and internet service;

(5) Telephone jacks; emergency call system, and assistance in emergencies;

(6) Recreational, educational, cultural, wellness and spiritual life programs, to the extent
provided by Arbor Acres;

(7)  Transportation to routine, non-emergency medical appointments within Forsyth County
(transportation by ambulance not included),

(8)  In-patient care in the Arbor Acres Health Center for a limited number of days;

(9)  Daily housekeeping and annual deep cleaning of the Accommodation;

(10)  Laundering of bed and bath linens furnished by Arbor Acres;

(11) Laundering of personal clothing (washing, drying and folding, not ironing or dry
cleaning);

(12)  Security personnel on duty in the Arbor Acres Welcome Center; and

(13) Food service (3 meals daily).
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Water and sewer services are included in the Daily Fee. Electricity and gas is also included.

Arbor Acres may also make available to Resident additional services, at Resident’s request, at
the then prevailing rates charged by Arbor Acres, which may be changed from time to time at the discretion of
Arbor Acres.

Arbor Acres residents pay Daily Fees and other charges to cover services provided by Arbor
Acres. At least annually, during budget preparation, Arbor Acres reviews services and costs of operation, and
the need for any changes in services or in Arbor Acres’ schedule of fees and charges. Arbor Acres reserves the
right to change, when deemed necessary, the services provided to residents and the associated fees and charges.
Arbor Acres will strive to deliver services efficiently and economically.

9. Transfer to Higher Level of Care.

Resident shall have priority over non-residents for entry into the Skilled Nursing Facility.
Although Arbor Acres cannot guarantee Resident entry into the Skilled Nursing Facility, Arbor Acres will use
its reasonable efforts to accommodate Resident’s entry. If Resident requires a higher level of care, and the
Skilled Nursing Facility is fully occupied or unable to provide such higher level of care, Resident shall relocate
to an alternate healthcare facility. In the event of such relocation, Arbor Acres will use reasonable efforts to
transfer Resident to the Skilled Nursing Facility when accommodations become available. Resident shall be
responsible for all fees, costs and expenses. If Resident’s transfer to the Skilled Nursing Facility or an alternate
healthcare facility is temporary, Resident shall remain responsible for the Daily Fee; however, Resident shall
not be responsible for the Daily Fee if such relocation is permanent. If Resident transfers to the Skilled Nursing
Facility, Resident shall not be required to pay an additional Entrance Fee on transferring to the Skilled Nursing
Facility.

10. Application for Benefits: Assignment of Benefits.

Resident shall apply for any federal, state or local benefits for which Resident may be eligible or
entitled upon request by Arbor Acres. If requested by Arbor Acres, any or all such benefits will be applied to
the Daily Fee or other charges incurred by Resident at Arbor Acres.

11. Health Insurance.

Resident shall maintain eligible Medicare coverage (and supplemental health insurance
coverage)} or other health insurance coverage that adequately covers hospital, medical, prescriptions and skilled
nursing deductibles and co-payments required under Resident’s primary insurance policy. Resident’s primary
and secondary insurance coverage must recognize Arbor Acres as a healthcare provider, or Resident shall be
responsible for services rendered that otherwise could be covered by insurance.

If Resident’s health insurance coverage lapses, Arbor Acres may require Resident to reapply for
suitable insurance coverage. If Resident is unable to obtain suitable insurance coverage, Resident shall be
responsible for any healthcare services rendered that otherwise could be covered by insurance. Upon request by
Arbor Acres, Resident shall provide evidence of health insurance coverage.

12. Medicare-Certified Skilled Nursing Facility Beds.

Arbor Acres maintains a limited number of Medicare-certified beds in the Skilled Nursing
Facility, which are available for use by residents whose skilled nursing care would qualify for Medicare
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payment on an “if and as available” basis. In the event that Resident needs admission and the admission would
qualify for Medicare payment, then Resident’s financial responsibility to Arbor Acres will depend upon the type
of Medicare coverage that Resident has and whether Arbor Acres is a contractual provider for Resident’s
coverage.

(a) Medicare-certified bed is not available.

In the event that there is not a Medicare-certified bed at Arbor Acres at the time that Resident
requires admission, then Resident may either choose to obtain skilled nursing care services at another healthcare
facility at Resident’s cost until such time as a Medicare-certified bed becomes available at Arbor Acres
(presuming that Resident would use a facility that could provide a Medicare-certified bed) or be admitted to a
bed in the Skilled Nursing Facility at Resident’s cost which is not certified to accept Medicare payment until
such time as a Medicare-certified bed becomes available at Arbor Acres.

(b)  Medicare-certified bed is available and Resident has traditional Medicare,

If Restdent is admitted to a Medicare-certified bed in the Skilled Nursing Facility and Resident
has traditional Medicare coverage, Arbor Acres will accept the Medicare reimbursement amount for such care
while Resident shall be responsible for any applicable deductible, co-payment and/or co-insurance amounts that
are not paid by Medicare and any supplemental Medicare insurance that Resident maintains.

(¢)  Medicare-certified bed is available and Resident has Medicare
Advantage coverage for which Arbor Acres is an in-network provider.

In the event that Arbor Acres is an in-network provider for Resident’s Medicare Advantage
coverage, then Arbor Acres will accept the reimbursement amount from Resident’s Medicare Advantage
insurance carrier while Resident shall be responsible for any deductible, co-payment and/or co-insurance
amounts that ar¢ not paid by the Medicare Advantage insurance that Resident maintains.

(d)  Medicare-certified bed is available and Resident has Medicare
Advantage coverage for which Arbor Acres is not an in-network provider.,

Arbor Acres will charge Resident the full private-payment amount for Resident’s admission into
a Medicare-certified bed and credit against Resident’s financial obligation to Arbor Acres the amount that is
paid by Resident’s Medicare Advantage insurance if the insurance provides an out-of-network benefit, In the
event that Resident’s Medicare Advantage insurance will not pay any amount to an out-of-network provider,
then Resident will not be admitted to a Medicare-certified bed at Arbor Acres. A full private-pay Resident in a
Medicare-certified bed may be required by Arbor Acres to relocate to a bed that is not Medicare certified when
such a bed becomes available.

13, United Methodist Affiliation.

Arbor Acres is affiliated with the Western North Carolina Annual Conference of The United
Methodist Church, which is not responsible for the financial and contractual obligations of Arbor Acres.

14. Regquired Documents.

Resident agrees to keep in effect an appropriate Durable Power of Attorney or other designation
of responsible party, and agrees to provide copies of the following documents to Arbor Acres by the first day of
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residency, and deliver any changes to such documents to Arbor Acres during Resident’s residency at Arbor
Acres: (a) health insurance coverage information; (b) copy of current Durable Power of Attorney for business
management; (¢} copy of current Health Care Power of Attorney and Living Will; and (d) evidence of the
executor or other legally responsible person of Resident’s estate, such as a copy of Resident’s will documenting
the name of the executor of his or her estate.

15. Moving Costs.

Resident is responsible for any and all packing and moving costs incurred by Resident for moves
into, within and out of Arbor Acres, except as provided in Section 7(j) above. Arbor Acres may provide
assistance at an additional cost. Arbor Acres reserves the right to charge an administrative fee for Resident’s
move within Arbor Acres,

16. Entire Agreement,

This Agreement, together with any Arbitration Agreement between Resident and Arbor Actres,
contain the entire agreement of Arbor Acres and Resident. Arbor Acres will not be liable or bound in any
manner by any statements, representations, or promises made by any person representing or claiming to
represent Arbor Acres, unless such statements, representations, or promises are set forth in this Agreement.

17. Capacity.

This Agreement has been executed on behalf of Arbor Acres by Arbor Acres’ duly authorized
agent, and no officer, trustee, agent or employee of Arbor Acres shall have any personal liability to Resident
under this Agreement,

[8. Amendments and Modifications.

This Agreement shall not be modified, amended or changed in any respect except in writing
signed by Arbor Acres and Resident. Each waives any right to amend this Agreement in any other way,
Notwithstanding the foregoing, Arbor Acres may amend this Agreement to ensure compliance with applicable
laws and regulations.

19. Waiver.

Neither the failure nor any delay on the part of any party to exercise any right, remedy, power or
privilege (“Right”) under this Agreement shall operate as a waiver thereof, nor shall any single or partial waiver
of any Right preclude any exercise of the same or of any other Right, No waiver shall be in effect unless in
writing and signed by the party asserted to have granted such waiver.

20, Severability.

The invalidity of any restriction, condition or other provision of this Agreement, or any part of
the same, shall not impair or affect in any way the validity or enforceability of the rest of this Agreement.

21. Interpretation.

The headings in this Agreement are for convenience and reference only, and shall not affect the
interpretation of any provision of this Agreement.
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22, Successors and Assigns,

Except as set forth herein, this Agreement shall bind and inure to the benefit of the successors
and assigns of Arbor Acres and the heirs, executors, responsible parties, attorneys-in-fact and administrators of
Resident.

23.  Assignment.

This Agreement may not be assigned by Resident.

24, Indemnity.

Resident agrees to indemnify, defend and hold Arbor Acres harmless from any and all claims,
damages or expenses (including reasonable attorneys’ fees and court costs) resulting or arising from any injury
or death to persons and/or damages caused by, resulting from or attributable to or in any way connected with,
directly or indirectly, the act or omission of Resident or Resident’s guests, including private duty nurses,
companions or others. This Section 24 shall survive termination of this Agreement.

25. Governing Law. Venue; Disputes.

This Agreement shall be governed by, interpreted, construed and enforced in accordance with the
laws of the State of North Carolina, without giving effect to any choice of law or conflict of law rules or
provisions that would cause the application of laws or any jurisdiction other than North Carolina. Except to the
extent that the parties have agreed to an alternative mechanism for the resolution of a dispute, to the full extent
permitted by law, any action, suit or proceeding arising out of or relating to this Agreement shall be brought and
enforced in the courts of the State of North Carolina located in Forsyth County or of the United States District
Court for the Middle District of North Carolina, and the parties hereby irrevocably submit to the exclusive
jurisdiction of such courts and irrevocably waive any objection that they may now or hereafter have to the
laying of venue of any such action or proceeding in such courts. In the event of any such dispute, the non-
prevailing party shall pay all reasonable costs, expenses and attorneys’ fees incurred by the prevailing party.

26.  Survival.

Those rights and obligations that have accrued under this Agreement shall survive its
termination, as shall those rights and obligations that by their terms survive termination and any provisions that
must survive to give effect to their terms, as shall any obligation of Resident to pay costs or expenses of his or

her residency at Arbor Acres that remain unpaid as of such termination,

27. Management of Arbor Acres.

The absolute rights of management are reserved by Arbor Acres and its Board of Directors.
Arbor Acres reserves the right to accept or reject any person as a resident. Residents do not have the right to
determine admission or terms of acceptance of any other resident.

28. Uncontrollable Interruption of Services.

No breach of Arbor Acres’ obligations under this Agreement and no liability for injury to
Resident or Resident’s property shall result from an interruption of, or failure to provide, contracted services
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due to an act of God or other cause beyond the reasonable control of Arbor Acres, specifically including
{without limitation) strikes or other forms of labor disturbances, government regulations and/or embargoes,
shortages of labor or materials, fire, flood, earthquakes, inclement weather or acts of the Resident. Arbor Acres
shall make reasonable efforts to continue to provide the usual services in such event.

29. Confidentiality.

Arbor Acres has the responsibility to keep all of the personal, medical, and financial information
Resident has supplied to Arbor Acres confidential. Resident agrees that Arbor Acres can disclose such
information to those who have a need, in Arbor Acres’ judgment, or right to know.

30. Rights Subordinate to Mortgage.

Pursuant to the requirements of any lender, Resident agrees that Resident’s rights under this
Agreement are subordinate to the right of the lender under any mortgage, deed of trust or security interest
executed now or in the future by Arbor Acres.

31, Notice Provisions.

Notices required by this Agreement will be in writing and delivered either by personal delivery
or mail. If delivered by mail, notices will be sent by certified or registered mail, return receipt requested, with
all postage and charges prepaid. Notices and other communications will be deemed to have been given when
delivered by personal delivery or if mailed, such notice shall be deemed to have been given on the third
business day after being deposited in the United States mail, postage prepaid. All notices and other written
communications required under this Agreement will be addressed to Resident or to Resident’s personal
representative at the address provided to Arbor Acres. Notices shall be sent to us at the following address:

Arbor Acres United Methodist Retirement Community, Inc,
1240 Arbor Road

Winston-Salem, NC 27104

Attention: President and CEO

Resident’s address for the purpose of giving notice is the address appearing after Resident’s
signature below or such other address Resident provides to Arbor Acres in writing.

[Signature Page Follows]
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AL Contract

Resident has executed this Agreement and Arbor Acres has caused this Agreement to be
executed in its name by a duly authorized person as of the day and year written above.,

Resident Name:

Resident Address;

Street Address

City, State & Zip Code

ARBOR ACRES UNITED METHODIST RETIREMENT COMMUNITY, INC,

By:

Title;

Signature Page to Arbor Acres Assisted Living Facility Residency Agreement

Revised May 31, 2019



SNF Contract

NORTH CAROLINA)
) AGREEMENT
FORSYTH COUNTY)
THIS AGREEMENT is made and entered into this day of , 20 , by and
between (“Resident”) and ARBOR ACRES UNITED METHODIST RETIREMENT

COMMUNITY, INC., a North Carolina nonprofit corporation (“Arbor Acres”).

Resident has applied and been approved for residency at Arbor Acres in
room number (the “Accommodation™), and has received a copy of Arbor Acres’ Dlsclosure
Statement, dated (the “Disclosure Statement”).

Resident and Arbor Acres agree to the following:

1. Entrance Fee and Daily Fee.

The Entrance Fee established by Arbor Acres for residency in Arbor Acres’ skilled nursing
facility (the “Skilled Nursing Facility’), where it is anticipated Resident will reside, is TWO THOUSAND
EIGHT HUNDRED DOLLARS AND NO/100 Dollars ($2,800.00) (the “Entrance Fee™), the amount being paid
by Resident herewith in full. (The Entrance Fee is separate and distinct from Arbor Acres’ fees and charges to
residents for food, maintenance, medical, nursing and other services.) The Entrance Fee for residency in the
Skilled Nursing Facility is a non-refundable fee except as provided in Section 5. If Resident moves to an
independent living unit, the Entrance Fee will be applied toward the Entrance Fee for that unit as provided in
Section 7(1).

Resident agrees to pay the initial daily fee (the “Daily Fee™), which is the established daily fee as of the
date on this Agreement, and which is subject to change from time to time. Rates are typically adjusted January
1t of each year. Gratuities or bequests in addition to the established Daily Fee shall not be accepted. As of the
date of this Agreement, the Daily Fee associated with the Accommodation will be:

Daily Fee

Daily Fee for Resident (includes meals, laundry and utilities) $

2. Monthly Statements,

Arbor Acres will furnish Resident a monthly statement with the total amount of the Daily Fee
and other charges, if any, owed by Resident. Resident shall pay such fees and charges by the 10™ day of the
month. If Resident’s payment is late, Arbor Acres may charge Resident a one and one-half percent (1.5%)
interest fee per month, from the first of the month in which the payment is late. Upon thirty (30) days’ advance
written notice, Arbor Acres may change the billing date and payment due date. Arbor Acres shall have the right
to offset against any Entrance Fee repayment any unpaid Daily Fees or other charges owed by Resident to
Arbor Acres.

3. Room Assienment,

Resident understands that Resident acquires no ownership interest in any property at Arbor
Acres under this Agreement; also, that no particular room or unit in the Skilled Nursing Facility is subject to

1
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reservation or permanent assignment, and that Arbor Acres may change Resident’s room assignment in the
Skilled Nursing Facility. Though Arbor Acres retaing the right to change Resident’s room assignment, Arbor
Acres agrees that it will make changes only as Arbor Acres finds such changes to be necessary or advisable,

4, Initial Qccupancy.

Arbor Acres anticipates having the Accommodation ready for occupancy by
Resident is not required to move into the Accommodation before it is ready for occupancy, or before the
expiration of thirty (30) days from the date of this Agreement, whichever is later. Resident plans to move into
the Accommodation on or before (the “Occupancy Date”). If Resident should wish to change the
Occupancy Date, Resident will advise Arbor Acres immediately (on or before the Occupancy Date). Upon
receipt of Resident’s request, and if Arbor Acres determines that another date is feasible, Arbor Acres will
undertake to work out with Resident another mutually agreeable Occupancy Date. Resident agrees to pay
Arbor Acres’ Daily Fees and other charges for use of the Accommodation from the earlier of (a) the date of
actual occupancy (the first night of residency or when personal property is moved into the Accommodation) or
(b) (the “Residency Date”).

5. Resident’s Right to Rescind or Cancel Within the First Thirty (30) Days or Resident’s
Failure to Move to Arbor Acres.

(a) Within thirty (30) days following the later of the execution of this Agreement or delivery of
the Disclosure Statement (the “Rescission Period”), Resident may rescind this Agreement by delivering to
Arbor Acres a signed, written notice of rescission. Resident is not required to move into the Accommodation
during the Rescission Period. If Resident dies before occupying the Accommodation, or if, on account of
illness, injury or incapacity Restdent should be precluded from occupying the Accommodation, this Agreement
shall be automatically cancelled. If this Agreement is neither rescinded nor cancelled and Resident fails to
move to Arbor Acres by the Residency Date, this Agreement may be terminated by Arbor Acres or Resident
upon written notice to the other.

(b) If Resident rescinds this Agreement, this Agreement is automatically cancelled as described
in Section 5(a) above or Resident fails to move to Arbor Acres by the Residency Date and this Agreement is
terminated by either Arbor Acres or Resident, Resident or Resident’s legal representative will receive a refund
of the Entrance Fee, less the following: (i) any Daily Fees or other costs charged for the time Resident shall
have resided at Arbor Acres; and (it) those nonstandard costs specifically incurred by Arbor Acres at the request
of Resident and described in a signed addendum to this Agreement. Payment of the refund is to be made from
the Entrance Fee received by Arbor Acres from the next occupant of the Accommodation.

6. Notice of Termination of Occupancy.

If after moving to Arbor Acres and the expiration of the Rescission Period, Resident should
decide to terminate this Agreement and residency at Arbor Acres, Resident will give Arbor Acres a minimum of
fourteen (14} days advance written notice stating the date on which Resident plans to terminate residency. This
Agreement, and Resident’s obligation to pay the Daily Fee and other charges, shall continue in effect until
Resident vacates the Accommodation or until the end of the fourteen (14) day notice period, whichever is later
(the “Date of Termination of Occupancy”). If Resident permanently vacates the Accommodation, Arbor Acres
reserves the right to remove Resident’s personal property from the Accommodation and store such personal
property, and Resident shall be responsible for the reasonable costs of such removal and storage. Unclaimed
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personal property will become the property of Arbor Acres after thirty (30) days, and Arbor Acres may dispose
of such personal property in its sole discretion.

7. Terms and Conditions of Initial Residency and Continued Residency.

Resident shall have the right to occupy the Accommodation and to reside at Arbor Acres subject
to the provisions of this Agreement and subject to the following understandings, terms and conditions:

(a)  Health and Financial Qualification for Residency

At the time of the execution of this Agreement, Arbor Acres has determined that Resident
qualifies for residency both with respect to mental and physical condition and ability to take care of the
anticipated Daily Fees and other charges. Resident must continue to meet these qualifications at the time
Resident enters Arbor Acres. If Resident is not qualified to occupy the Accommodation, but is qualified
(financially and otherwise) to reside in other accommuodations at Arbor Acres, Resident shall be entitled to such
accommodation when space permits.

(b)  Financial Obligation Including Obligation to Pay Fees and Charges

In order to operate Arbor Acres on a fiscally sound, nonprofit basis, Arbor Acres has
established fees and charges, which are subject to modification from time to time as decmed necessary and
appropriate by Arbor Acres. Resident agrees to pay when due all required fees and charges. Resident has
received from Arbor Acres a schedule of current fees and charges.

Resident agrees to provide, if requested, periodic financial statements and current
financial information for the purpose of demonstrating capacity to meet financial obligations to Arbor Acres.
Should Resident experience financial difficulty that might result in Resident’s immediate or eventual inability to
meet the financial obligations under this Agreement, including any spend down of assets that might result from
payment of expected fees and charges to Arbor Acres, Resident will inform Arbor Acres immediately, and
submit a current financial statement. Resident and, if appropriate, Resident’s responsible party, and Arbor Acres
shall discuss and, if possible, agree on a plan by which Resident’s financial obligation to Arbor Acres can be
met. Residents whose funds are depleted primarily through payment of fees associated with residency, to
include costs associated with their medical care, may be eligible for consideration for financial assistance
through Arbor Acres. Such assistance, however, is conditional upon demonstration that other options for
fulfilling this financial obligation to Arbor Acres have been explored and deemed impracticable by either party.
When Resident is deemed eligible for financial assistance through Arbor Acres, Arbor Acres, to the extent of its
available resources dedicated for financial assistance, will attempt to furnish financial assistance when it is
needed. Termination of residency for Resident’s inability to fulfill the financial obligations incurred under this
Agreement shall be an option exercised as necessary to assure the financial viability of Arbor Acres and of its
financial assistance program.

(c) Rights and Obligations During Temporary Absence
Temporary absence because of illness, trips or otherwise shall not affect Resident’s right
to retain the Accommodation as Resident’s place of residency. However, Resident shall not be entitled to an

adjustment of Arbor Acres’ Daily Fee and other charges during such absence, and Resident shall continue to be
charged and to pay such Daily Fee and charges during such absence.
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(d)  Requirement of Compliance with Recommendations for Additional Services or Care

If Resident shall incur a physical or mental illness or impairment so that Resident
requires additional services or a higher level of care than is available at the Accommodation, Arbor Acres,
through its nursing and continuing care staffs (“Nursing and Continuing Care Staffs™), will make
recommendations regarding appropriate additional service options and/or options for transfer to a higher level
of care. Resident agrees (i) that Arbor Acres is obligated to assure the care and safety of residents and, (ii) that
Resident will comply with Nursing and Continuing Care Staffs’ recommendations regarding additional services
or transfer to a higher level of care. If such additional services or higher level of care can be provided in a
different accommodation at Arbor Acres, Resident has a right, and may be required by Arbor Acres, to move to
such accommodation. Arbor Acres will recommend and require such a move or additional services when, in the
judgment of Arbor Acres, it is necessary and in the best interest of Resident, Arbor Acres and/or the other
residents of Arbor Acres. Before any such move or additional services are required, Arbor Acres will discuss
the matter with Resident and/or Resident’s responsible party in an effort to secure Resident’s understanding and
cooperation with the required additional services or change of accommodation or level of care. Resident and/or
Resident’s responsible party shall have the right to appeal a decision to change Resident’s accommodation
and/or level of care in accordance with the provisions of (i) below.

(€) Requirement of Compliance With Policies, Rules and Regulations

In order to operate Arbor Acres in the best interest of the entire Arbor Acres community,
Arbor Acres has established policies, rules and regulations relating to residency, which are subject to
modification from time to time as deemed appropriate by Atbor Acres, Resident has received information as to
the current policies, rules and regulations in the Disclosure Statement and in other written information provided
by Arbor Acres. Arbor Acres reserves the right to make or change policies, rules and regulations, and will use
its reasonable efforts to communicate through appropriate means to all residents the substance and content of
such additions or changes; also, copies of particular policies, rules and regulations relating to residency will be
furnished to Resident on request. Resident agrees to comply with Arbor Acres’ policies, rules and regulations
applicable to Resident’s residency in Arbor Acres.

(f) Cooperation of Responsible Parties and Other Associates

Resident understands and agrees that, in order for Arbor Acres to operate in the best
interest of both Resident and the entire Arbor Acres community, Arbor Acres must have the cooperation of
Resident’s family, friends, responsible parties and other associates to comply with Arbor Acres’ applicable
policies, rules and regulations. Any continuing or repeated failure or refusal by any such persons to so cooperate
and comply may result in a determination by Arbor Acres that it is no longer feasible for Arbor Acres to
accommodate Resident as a resident. Upon such determination, Arbor Acres will have a right to terminate
Resident’s residency at Arbor Acres.

(g)  Termination of Residency for Health Conditions Beyond Arbor Acres’ Capacity to Serve

If Resident’s physical and/or mental condition or needs cannot be legally or adequately
served by the facilities or programs available at Arbor Acres, or Resident requires or insists upon receiving care
that in the judgment of Arbor Acres exceeds the capacity of Arbor Acres to provide within the limits of its
staffing pattern or other available resources, Arbor Acres reserves the right to terminate Resident’s residency. If
such a circumstance arises, Arbor Acres will discuss the matter thoroughly with Resident and/or Resident’s
responsible party in an effort to determine a course of action in Resident’s best interest. Arbor Acres will

4
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provide guidance and transitional support to Resident and/or Resident’s responsible party to facilitate an orderly
transfer of Resident to another, more appropriate facility or setting,

(h) Termination of Residency for Behavior Deemed Harmful to Arbor Acres

If Resident is deemed competent and capable of conirolling his or her behaviors and
engages in behaviors deemed by the President/CEO to be disruptive, hostile, illegal, or otherwise harmful to
others or to Arbor Acres, Arbor Acres reserves the right to terminate Resident’s residency. If such a
circumstance arises, Arbor Acres will discuss the matter thoroughly with Resident to provide Resident with
knowledge of the behaviors deemed intolerable by Arbor Acres. Arbor Acres will provide Resident a written
warning to desist from the behavior or any similarly disruptive, hostile, illegal or harmful behavior. Upon
determination that Resident is continuing to engage in the behaviors against which Resident has been warned,
Arbor Acres will have the right to terminate Resident’s residency at Arbor Acres.

1) Right of Appeal of Transfer or Termination Decisions

While Arbor Acres reserves the right to terminate Resident’s residency at Arbor Acres
for failure to comply with (b), (d), (e), (f), (g) or (h) above, or for failure to comply with any other provision of
this Agreement, Arbor Acres shall exercise such right only after first attempting to work out satisfactory
solutions with Resident and/or Resident’s responsible party. If agreement cannot be reached between the
President/CEQ and Resident and/or Resident’s responsible party, the President/CEO will refer the matter to the
Executive Committee of the Board of Directors of Arbor Acres (the “Executive Committee™) for hearing and
decision, The Executive Committee shall afford Resident an opportunity to be heard, and shall render a decision
with respect to the matter referred to it. The decision of the Executive Committee shall be put in writing and
shall be signed by the Chair of the Board of Directors of Arbor Acres (the “Chair”) or, in the absence of the
Chair, the Chair Elect of the Board of Directors of Arbor Acres, It is understood and agreed that the written,
signed decision of the Executive Committee shall be final and binding.

] Terms and Conditions of Initial Residency and Continued Residency

Arbor Acres reserves the right to relocate Resident to another accommodation when
deemed necessary in order for Arbor Acres to fulfill its strategic financial and other obligations to the Arbor
Acres community., Arbor Acres will exercise this right only when all other reasonable options to avoid
relocating Resident have been considered. Arbor Acres will use reasonable efforts to relocate Resident to an
accommodation of the same or similar type as Resident’s Accommeodation. Any such decision to relocate
Resident will be discussed thoroughly with Resident in order to enlist Resident’s understanding of the need for
and cooperation with the relocation. Arbor Acres will pay all required packing and moving costs, and all
reasonable refurbishing costs necessary to achieve substantial comparability between the Accommodation and
any new accommodation to which Resident may be relocated. Any decision to relocate Resident for the sake of
cnabling Arbor Acres to fulfill its strategic financial and other obligations to the Arbor Acres community may
be appealed to the Executive Committee as outlined in (i} above.

(k) Termination of Residency If Listed on a Sex Offender Registry

Resident hereby acknowledges that it is the policy of Arbor Acres to conduct sex
offender screening for every prospective resident, regardless of independent status or level of care, at the time
of application for admission to Arbor Acres and again prior to entering into a Residency Agreement. If the
screening shows that the prospective resident is identified as a sex offender, Arbor Acres will deny admission of
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Resident on that basis and not execute a Residency Agreement. In addition, Resident hereby acknowledges and
agrees that if, after Arbor Acres and Resident have entered into a Residency Agreement, Arbor Acres becomes
aware that Resident is listed on any sex offender registry, Arbor Acres may terminate this Agreement with
Resident and remove Resident from Arbor Acres.

) Relocation to Independent Living or Assisted Living

If Resident’s health should improve sufficiently to permit Resident to live in other
accommodations at Arbor Acres other than the Skilled Nursing Facility, such a move may be made subject to
availability of an appropriate accommodation, payment of the entrance fee established for the accommodation,
less the Entrance Fee, and execution of an appropriate Independent Living Residency Agreement or Assisted
Living Residency Agreement (as applicable).

(m)  Healthcare Outside of Arbor Acres
Arbor Acres assumes no obligation or responsibility for the provision of residential or
nursing or health care facilities or services to Resident beyond those facilities and services from time to time
established and provided by Arbor Acres.
(n)  Personal Belongings
Arbor Acres will not be responsible for the loss of or damage to any property belonging
to Resident due to theft, mysterious disappearance, fire, employee accident, or any other cause. It is understood

that Resident has the responsibility of providing any desired insurance protection covering any such loss,

8. Standard Services to be Provided.

Arbor Acres agrees to provide standard services to Resident at no additional cost beyond the
Daily Fee, and has informed Resident of these services and other services through written information available
to all residents. At the time of execution of this Agreement, the standard services include:

(1)  Nursing supervision (in accordance with regulatory standards; does not include private
duty or individual nurse for each resident), prescribed medication administration and
assistance with activities of daily living;

(2)  Maintenance of buildings and grounds, including maintenance of all standard equipment
in the Accommodation;

(3) Utilities, as described below;

(4)  Basic cable television and internet service;

(5) Telephone jacks; emergency call system, and assistance in emergencies;

(6)  Recreational, educational, cultural, wellness and spiritual life programs, to the extent
provided by Arbor Acres;

(7)  Transportation to routine, non-emergency medical appointments within Forsyth County
(transportation by ambulance not included);

(8)  In-patient care in the Arbor Acres Health Center for a limited number of days;

(9)  Daily housekeeping and annual deep cleaning of the Accommodation;

(10) Laundering of bed and bath linens furnished by Arbor Acres;

(11) Laundering of personal clothing (washing, drying and folding, not ironing or dry
cleaning);
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(12)  Security personnel on duty in the Arbor Acres Welcome Center; and
(13) Food service (3 meals daily).

Water and sewer services are included in the Daily Fee. Electricity and gas is also included.

Arbor Acres may also make available to Resident additional services, at Resident’s request, at
the then prevailing rates charged by Arbor Acres, which may be changed from time to time at the discretion of
Arbor Acres.

Arbor Acres residents pay Daily Fees and other charges to cover services provided by Arbor
Acres, At least annually, during budget preparation, Arbor Acres reviews services and costs of operation, and
the need for any changes in services or in Arbor Acres’ schedule of fees and charges. Arbor Acres reserves the
right to change, when deemed necessary, the services provided to residents and the associated fees and charges.
Arbor Acres will strive to deliver services efficiently and economically.

9. Transfer to Another Level of Care.

Resident shall have priority over non-residents for entry into the Arbor Acres’ assisted living
facility (the “Assisted Living Facility”). Although Arbor Acres cannot guarantee Resident entry into the
Assisted Living Facility, Arbor Acres will use its reasonable efforts to accommodate Resident’s entry. If
Resident requires a lower level of care, and the Assisted Living Facility is fully occupied or unable to provide
such lower level of care, Resident shall relocate to an alternate healthcare facility. In the event of such
relocation, Arbor Acres will use reasonable efforts to transfer Resident to the Assisted Living Facility when
accommodations become available. Resident shall be responsible for all fees, costs and expenses. If Resident’s
transfer to the Assisted Living Facility or an alternate healthcare facility is temporary, Resident shall remain
responsible for the Daily Fee; however, Resident shall not be responsible for the Daily Fee if such relocation is
permanent. If Resident transfers to the Assisted Living Facility, Resident shall not be required to pay an
additional Entrance Fee on transferring to the Assisted Living Facility.

10. Application for Benefits; Assignment of Benefits.

Resident shall apply for any federal, state or local benefits for which Resident may be eligible or
entitled upon request by Arbor Acres. If requested by Arbor Acres, any or all such benefits will be applied to
the Daily Fec or other charges incurred by Resident at Arbor Acres.

11. Health Insurance.

Resident shall maintain eligible Medicare coverage (and supplemental health insurance
coverage) or other health insurance coverage that adequately covers hospital, medical, prescriptions and skilled
nursing deductibles and co-payments required under Resident’s primary insurance policy. Resident’s primary
and secondary insurance coverage must recognize Arbor Acres as a healthcare provider, or Resident shall be
responsible for services rendered that otherwise could be covered by insurance.

If Resident’s health insurance coverage lapses, Arbor Acres may require Resident to reapply for
suitable insurance coverage. If Resident is unable to obtain suitable insurance coverage, Resident shall be
responsible for any healthcare services rendered that otherwise could be covered by insurance. Upon request by
Arbor Acres, Resident shall provide evidence of health insurance coverage.
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12. Medicare-Certified Skilled Nursing Facility Beds.

Arbor Acres maintains a limited number of Medicare-certified beds in the Skilled Nursing
Facility, which are available for use by residents whose skilled nursing care would qualify for Medicare
payment on an “if and as available” basis. In the event that Resident’s admission would qualify for Medicare
payment, then Resident’s financial responsibility to Arbor Acres will depend upon the type of Medicare
coverage that Resident has and whether Arbor Acres is a contractual provider for Resident’s coverage.

(a) Medicare-certified bed is not available.

In the event that there is not a Medicare-certified bed at Arbor Acres at the time that Resident
requires admission, then Resident may either choose to obtain skilled nursing care services at another healthcare
facility at Resident’s cost until such time as a Medicare-certified bed becomes available at Arbor Acres
(presuming that Resident would use a facility that could provide a Medicare-certified bed) or be admitted to a
bed in the Skilled Nursing Facility at Resident’s cost which is not certified to accept Medicare payment until
such time as a Medicare-certified bed becomes available at Arbor Acres.

(b)  Medicare-certified bed is available and Resident has traditional Medicare.

If Resident is admitted to a Medicare-certified bed in the Skilled Nursing Facility and Resident
has traditional Medicare coverage, Arbor Acres will accept the Medicare reimbursement amount for such care
while Resident shall be responsible for any applicable deductible, co-payment and/or co-insurance amounts that
are not paid by Medicare and any supplemental Medicare insurance that Resident maintains.

(Y  Medicare-certified bed is available and Resident has Medicare
Advantage coverage for which Arbor Acres is an in-network provider.

In the event that Arbor Acres is an in-network provider for Resident’s Medicare Advantage
coverage, then Arbor Acres will accept the reimbursement amount from Resident’s Medicare Advantage
insurance carrier while Resident shall be responsible for any deductible, co-payment and/or co-insurance
amounts that are not paid by the Medicare Advantage insurance that Resident maintains.

(d)  Medicare-certified bed is available and Resident has Medicare
Advantage coverage for which Arbor Acres is not an in-network provider.

Arbor Acres will charge Resident the full private-payment amount for Resident’s admission into
a Medicare-certified bed and credit against Resident’s financial obligation to Arbor Acres the amount that is
paid by Resident’s Medicare Advantage insurance if the insurance provides an out-of-network benefit, In the
event that Resident’s Medicare Advantage insurance will not pay any amount to an out-of-network provider,
then Resident will not be admitted to a Medicare-certified bed at Arbor Acres. A full private-pay Resident in a
Medicare-certified bed may be required by Arbor Acres to relocate to a bed that is not Medicare certified when
such a bed becomes available.

13. United Methodist Affiliation.

Arbor Acres is affiliated with the Western North Carolina Annual Conference of The United
Methodist Church, which is not responsible for the financial and contractual obligations of Arbor Acres.
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14, Required Documents.

Resident agrees to keep in effect an appropriate Durable Power of Attorney or other designation
of responsible party, and agrees to provide copies of the following documents to Arbor Acres by the first day of
residency, and deliver any changes to such documents to Arbor Acres during Resident’s residency at Arbor
Acres; (a) health insurance coverage information,; (b) copy of current Durable Power of Attorney for business
management; (¢) copy of current Health Care Power of Attorney and Living Will; and (d) evidence of the
executor or other legally responsible person of Resident’s estate, such as a copy of Resident’s will documenting
the name of the executor of his or her estate.

15. Moving Costs.

Resident is responsible for any and all packing and moving costs incurred by Resident for moves
into, within and out of Arbor Acres, except as provided in Section 7(j) above. Arbor Acres may provide
assistance at an additional cost. Arbor Acres reserves the right to charge an administrative fee for Resident’s
move within Arbor Acres.

16. Entire Agreement,

This Agreement, together with any Arbitration Agreement between Resident and Arbor Acres,
contain the entire agreement of Arbor Acres and Resident. Arbor Acres will not be liable or bound in any
manner by any statements, representations, or promises made by any person representing or claiming to
represent Arbor Acres, unless such statements, representations, or promises are set forth in this Agreement.

17. Capacity.

This Agreement has been executed on behalf of Arbor Acres by Arbor Acres’ duly authorized
agent, and no officer, trustee, agent or employee of Arbor Acres shall have any personal liability to Resident
under this Agreement.

18, Amendments and Modifications.

This Agreement shall not be modified, amended or changed in any respect except in writing
signed by Arbor Acres and Resident. Each waives any right to amend this Agreement in any other way.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, Arbor Acres may amend this Agreement to ensure compliance with applicable
laws and regulations.

19. Waiver.

Neither the failure nor any delay on the part of any party to exercise any right, remedy, power or
privilege (*Right”) under this Agreement shall operate as a waiver thercof, nor shall any single or partial waiver
of any Right preclude any exercise of the same or of any other Right. No waiver shall be in effect unless in
writing and signed by the party asserted to have granted such waiver.

20. Severability.

The invalidity of any restriction, condition or other provision of this Agreement, or any part of
the same, shall not impair or affect in any way the validity or enforceability of the rest of this Agreement.
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21. Interpretation.

The headings in this Agreement are for convenience and reference only, and shall not affect the
interpretation of any provision of this Agreement.

22. Successors and Assions.

Except as set forth herein, this Agreement shall bind and inure to the benefit of the successors
and assigns of Arbor Acres and the heirs, executors, responsible parties, attorneys-in-fact and administrators of
Resident.

23, Assignment.

This Agreement may not be assigned by Resident.

24, Indemnity.

Resident agrees to indemnify, defend and hold Arbor Acres harmless from any and all claims,
damages or expenses (including reasonable attorneys’ fees and court costs) resulting or arising from any injury
or death to persons and/or damages caused by, resulting from or attributable to or in any way connected with,
directly or indirectly, the act or omission of Resident or Resident’s guests, including private duty nurses,
companions or others. This Section 24 shall survive termination of this Agreement.

25. Governing Law; Venue; Disputes.

This Agreement shall be governed by, interpreted, construed and enforced in accordance with the
laws of the State of North Carolina, without giving effect to any choice of law or conflict of law rules or
provisions that would cause the application of laws or any jurisdiction other than North Carolina. Except to the
extent that the parties have agreed to an alternative mechanism for the resolution of a dispute, to the full extent
permitted by law, any action, suit or proceeding arising out of or relating to this Agreement shall be brought and
enforced in the courts of the State of North Carolina located in Forsyth County or of the United States District
Court for the Middle District of North Carolina, and the parties hereby irrevocably submit to the exclusive
jurisdiction of such courts and irrevocably waive any objection that they may now or hereafter have to the
laying of venue of any such action or proceeding in such courts. In the event of any such dispute, the non-
prevailing party shall pay all reasonable costs, expenses and attorneys’ fees incurred by the prevailing party.

26.  Survival.

Those rights and obligations that have accrued under this Agreement shall survive its
termination, as shall those rights and obligations that by their terms survive termination and any provisions that
must survive to give effect to their terms, as shall any obligation of Resident to pay costs or expenses of his or

her residency at Arbor Acres that remain unpaid as of such termination.

27. Management of Arbor Acres.
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The absolute rights of management are reserved by Arbor Acres and its Board of Directors.
Arbor Acres reserves the right to accept or reject any person as a resident. Residents do not have the right to
determine admission or terms of acceptance of any other resident,

28, Uncontrollable Interruption of Services,

No breach of Arbor Acres’ obligations under this Agreement and no liability for injury to
Resident or Resident’s property shall result from an interruption of, or failure to provide, contracted services
due to an act of God or other cause beyond the reasonable control of Arbor Acres, specifically including
(without limitation) strikes or other forms of labor disturbances, government regulations and/or embargoes,
shortages of labor or materials, fire, flood, earthquakes, inclement weather or acts of the Resident. Arbor Acres
shall make reasonable efforts to continue to provide the usual services in such event.

29, Confidentiality.

Arbor Acres has the responsibility to keep all of the personal, medical, and financial information
Resident has supplied to Arbor Acres confidential. Resident agrees that Arbor Acres can disclose such
information to those who have a need, in Arbor Acres’ judgment, or right to know.

30. Rights Suberdinate to Mortgage.

Pursuant to the requirements of any lender, Resident agrees that Resident’s rights under this
Agreement are subordinate to the right of the lender under any mortgage, deed of trust or security interest
executed now or in the future by Arbor Acres.

31, Notice Provisions.

Notices required by this Agreement will be in writing and delivered either by personal delivery
or mail, If delivered by mail, notices will be sent by certified or registered mail, return receipt requested, with
all postage and charges prepaid. Notices and other communications will be deemed to have been given when
delivered by personal delivery or if mailed, such notice shall be deemed to have been given on the third
business day after being deposited in the United States mail, postage prepaid. All notices and other written
communications required under this Agreement will be addressed to Resident or to Resident’s personal
representative at the address provided to Arbor Acres. Notices shall be sent to us at the following address:

Arbor Acres United Methodist Retirement Community, Inc.
1240 Arbor Road

Winston-Salem, NC 27104

Attention: President and CEO

Resident’s address for the purpose of giving notice is the address appearing after Resident’s
signature below or such other address Resident provides to Arbor Acres in writing.

[Signature Page Follows]
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SNF Contract

Resident has executed this Agreement and Arbor Acres has caused this Agreement to be
executed in its name by a duly authorized person as of the day and year written above.

Resident Name:

Resident Address:

Street Address

City, State & Zip Code

ARBOR ACRES UNITED METHODIST RETIREMENT COMMUNITY, INC.

By:

Title:

Signature Page to Arbor Acres Skilled Nursing Facility Residency Agreement

Revised May 31, 2019



ADVANTAGE PROGRAM AGREEMENT
ARBOR ACRES UNITED METHODIST RETIREMENT COMMUNITY, INC.

This ADVANTAGE PROGRAM AGREEMENT (referred to as the “Agreement”} is made this

day of , 20 between ARBOR ACRES UNITED METHODIST RETIREMENT
COMMUNITY, INC. (referred to as “Arbor Acres” or “We”, “Our” or “Us”), a North Carolina non-profit
corporation, and (referred to as “Resident”, “You” or “Your”). You agree to

take financial responsibility for this Agreement on the above date (the “Date of Acceptance”).

WHEREAS, Arbor Acres owns and operates a retirement community located at 1240 Arbor Road,
Winston-Salem, North Carolina 27104; and

WHEREAS, the retirement community (referred to as the “Community”) consists of independent living
homes and apartments, common areas and amenities, and on-campus facilities for certain outpatient services,
assisted living care and skilled nursing care; and

WHEREAS, You desire to enter into this Agreement as an off-campus resident of the Community in
connection with Arbor Acres’ offering continuing care without lodging through its “Advantage Program” in
order for You to access some of the services provided by Arbor Acres while remaining in Your home and not
residing at the Community.

NOW THEREFORE, subject to the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement, and for good and
valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, You and Arbor Acres
agree as follows:

I. ACCEPTANCE AS ARBOR ACRES RESIDENT WITHOUT LODGING

A, General. You have gone through the admission process, and Arbor Acres has accepted You as
an off-campus Resident of the Community without lodging through its “Advantage Program” in
order for You to access some of the services provided by Arbor Acres while remaining in Your
home and not residing at the Community. As a Resident without lodging of Arbor Acres, You
will continue to reside in Your own home and not at the Community, and You are hereby entitled
to the services specifically set forth in this Agreement. If there is a fee related to particular
services provided to You as a Resident, You will be charged the then prevailing fee that
corresponds to being a resident of Arbor Acres rather than a guest.

As a Resident of Arbor Acres under this Agreement, if You are already on our wait list for
residency on our campus (“Wait List”), You will remain on our Wait List unless You request
that We remove You from the Wait List. Your status on our Wait List and Your rights as a
member of the Wait List will not change as a result of entering into this Agreement. Your Wait
List date for purposes of priority will remain , which is the date on which
You joined Our Wait List originally. If You are not already on our Wait List, You may join our
Wait List, and Your Wait List date for purposes of priority will be the date You are added to the
Wait List. As a member of Our Wait List, You will have the same rights as other members of
Our Wait List and will be offered on-campus accommodations in accordance with the then
current Arbor Acres’ Wait List Policy.

At the time You choose to accept an accommodation on Arbor Acres’ campus, You will be
required to go through our admissions process for residing at the Community, including, but not
limited to, providing Us updated medical and financial information in order to determine Your
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ability to live independently and to afford the additional entry fee and higher monthly service
fees required for residency in the particular reserved unit. Arbor Acres reserves the right to
decline Your admission to the Community for residency if Your medical and financial
circumstances have changed so that You are not able to live independently or are not able to
afford the additional entry fee and higher monthly service fees required for residency in the
particular reserved unit,

Execution of the Residence Agreement Following Acceptance. Prior to taking occupancy and
financial responsibility for a particular residential unit on Arbor Acres’ campus, You agree to
execute Arbor Acres’ Residence Agreement (the “Residence Agreement™) then in effect. Your
occupancy of a residence shall be expressly conditioned upon Your execution of such agreement.
The executed Residence Agreement shall supersede and replace this Agreement in its entirety.

If the Residence Agreement is subsequently terminated, as outlined in that Residence
Agreement, this Agreement may be re-executed upon mutual agreement of the parties, allowing
You to remain a Resident of Arbor Acres who does not reside on campus, as long as the reason
for termination of the Residence Agreement does not preclude continuation of a contractual
relationship with Arbor Acres.

GENERAL SERVICES PROVIDED ON CAMPUS

A.

Community Common Areas and Amenities. We will provide common areas and amenities for
the use and benefit of all residents. These facilities currently include the main dining room,
private dining rooms, lobbies, assembly hall, library, social, and recreational facilities (indoor
and outdoor), and craft facilities. Some common areas may require advance reservation, All
common areas are smoke-free environments.

Health Center. Arbor Acres will provide or arrange admission to the facilities necessary for the
medical care and services specified in this Agreement at the then prevailing fees charged by
Arbor Acres or other facilities, as applicable, and such fees shall be the sole responsibility of
Resident. In this Agreement, the term “Health Center” includes the facilities for certain
outpatient services, assisted living care (“Assisted Living”) and skilled nursing care. A restraint-
free policy is upheld in Arbor Acres’ facilities.

Parking. Arbor Acres will provide and maintain unassigned parking areas for residents and
guests,

Activities. Social, recreational, educational, and cultural activities are available to residents and
are provided through an active staff-directed program. Residents may be required to pay
additional fees for certain activities.

Meals. You may eat in the Arbor Acres dining rooms, and You will be charged the prevailing
resident meal charge and will be billed monthly.

Security. We will use reasonable care in providing security on the premises of Arbor Acres.
Arbor Acres will provide twenty-four (24) hour security staffing on site in the Community. You
are responsible for taking appropriate security measures to protect yourself and Your personal
property at the Community. We are not responsible to provide security to You in Your off-
campus residence or for loss, theft or damage to Your personal property at the Community or
otherwise.
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Other Services. Arbor Acres may also make available to Resident additional services, at
Resident’s request, at the then prevailing rates charged by Arbor Acres, which may be changed
from time to time at the discretion of Arbor Acres.

Changes in Services and Fees. Arbor Acres residents pay Monthly Fees and other charges to
cover services provided by Arbor Acres. At least annually, during budget preparation, Arbor
Acres reviews services and costs of operation, and the need for any changes in services or in
Arbor Acres’ schedule of fees and charges. Arbor Acres reserves the right to change, when
deemed necessary, the services provided to residents and the associated fees and charges. Arbor
Acres will strive to deliver services efficiently and economically.

MEDICAL AND OTHER HEALTH CARE SERVICES PROVIDED OR COORDINATED BY

ARBOR ACRES

A.

General. You hereby acknowledge and agree that Arbor Acres is not responsible for furnishing
You or causing to be furnished to You medical services in Your home. In consideration for the
Entry Fee and Monthly Fee, Arbor Acres will provide You (i) “Care Management” services, as
more specifically described in Section IIL.E. of this Agreement, and (ii) nursing care services
{but not medical services by a physician or physician assistant) provided in Arbor Acres’ on-site
clinic.

In addition, Arbor Acres will make available to You or cause to be made available to You the
following medical and health care services at the Community that You may choose to receive,
and, subject to Sections VI E. and F. of this Agreement, You will be responsible for all costs and
expenses of such services at the then prevailing rates of Arbor Acres or such other provider You
choose:

1) Medical services provided by primary care physicians or physician assistants who are
part of Artbor Acres’ group practice, and who see You at the Arbor Acres’ on-site clinic;

2) General nursing and personal care provided in Arbor Acres” Health Center, subject to
availability of a bed or accommodation and subject to Arbor Acres’ then-prevailing
admissions policies and procedures;

3} General nursing and personal care provided in a similarly licensed nursing facility when
space is not available at Atbor Acres, and when coordinated by Arbor Acres’ medical and
other care management staff, and

4) Physical, occupational, and speech therapy when ordered by Arbor Acres’ physicians and
provided at Arbor Acres outpatient rehabilitation facilities or in an inpatient setting in the
Health Center.

Community’s Physicians and Physician Assistants/Nurse Practitioners. Arbor Acres will
appoint a Medical Director and physicians and physician assistants/nurse practitioners, as
needed. They will be responsible for Your medical care, including office visits, medical review,
Health Center visits, hospital attendance, and referral to specialists, if You choose to use them.

Hospitalization. When one of Arbor Acres’ physicians determines that it has become necessary
to hospitalize You, the physician will have the authority to arrange such hospitalization. Such
determination will be made by Us in consultation with Your attending physician if not an Arbor
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Acres physician, and You, to the extent possible, and Your personal representative, if
appropriate. When the conditions necessitating such hospitalization no longer exist, the
physician will have the authority, in consultation with Your attending physician if not an Arbor
Acres physician, and You, to the extent possible, and Your personal representative, if
appropriate, to arrange for Your discharge and transfer or return to Your home, or to the Health
Center at Arbor Acres if that is needed.

Medical Referrals. Arbor Acres will be responsible for coordinating and following Your
medical, surgical and other health care services when such services either (i) are provided by
Arbor Acres, or (ii) are provided by licensed outside providers to whom You have been referred
in writing by one of Arbor Acres physicians or physician assistants/nurse practitioners for
treatment or consultation. Such responsibility will be limited to the specific condition for which
referral was made. Arbor Acres will not be responsible for secondary referrals or for follow-up
visits unless approved in advance by one of Arbor Acres’ physicians or physician
agsistants/nurse practitioners.

Arbor Acres cannot be responsible for filing for insurance reimbursement for services provided
by other providers of Your choice. However, Arbor Acres will supply the referral provider with
Your policy information upon request, and, upon request, will assist You in coordinating with
other providers to ensure they are filing with Your insurance diligently, in order to help
maximize Your Medicare and supplemental insurance benefits.

Care Management and Transfer to Assisted Living, the Health Center, a
Special Service Facility, or a Hospital.

Arbor Acres shall furnish the following care management services (“Care Management”) to 'You
on site at the Community, unless Your health condition prevents You from being able to leave
Your home, in which case such Care Management will be provided to You in Your home, by
qualified staff who will (i) assess Your neceds; (ii} develop a plan of care with You to address
needs that are identified; (iii) help identify reputable providers in the area to whom You can be
referred for services to meet those needs; and (iv) follow up to ensure that those services are
meeting Your needs and the goals of Your care plan. The assessments shall be conducted

annually.

If more frequent assessments are needed, or if any needs are identified that may require
subsequent services, Arbor Acres staff will assist You either by providing such services to You
in the event Arbor Acres is licensed to provide such services and You choose Arbor Acres to
provide such services or by referring You to services that may be available to You in the
community outside of the Community. If more frequent assessments are needed beyond the
annual assessment, or if any needs are identified that may require subsequent services of Arbor
Acres’ staff or other providers, those assessments and services will be provided to You on a fee-
for-service basis at Arbor Acres’ or the other providers’ then prevailing rates,

You hereby acknowledge and agree that Arbor Acres is not responsible for furnishing You or
causing to be furnished to You medical or other personal care services in Your home, unless
recommended and approved by Arbor Acres as part of Your Care Management program and
requested by You. All decisions regarding Your Care Management plan, including the prospect
of Your need for support services in Your home, temporary or permanent transfer to Assisted
Living or Health Center, a special service facility, or to a hospital will be made after consultation
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with You, to the extent possible, Your attending physician if not an Arbor Acres physician, and
with Your personal representative, if appropriate.

If it is determined by Arbor Acres’ Care Management staff that Your needs require temporary or
permanent transfer to Arbor Acres’ Assisted Living or Health Center facilities, and if You
choose not to make the move to those facilities, then You must agree to sufficient services to
provide for appropriate care and safety in Your home. If, in Our sole judgment, the services You
elect to receive are insufficient for appropriate care and safety in Your home, You must move to
an appropriate care level at Arbor Acres, or We will have the right to terminate this Agreement.
Arbor Acres’ decision will be binding.

No Eniry Fee adjustment is made with temporary or permanent transfer from Your home to
Arbor Acres’ Assisted Living or Health Center facilities or to another special service facility. In
the event You make a temporary or permanent transfer from Your home to Arbor Acres’
Assisted Living or Health Center facilities or to another special service facility, You will be
charged Arbor Acres’ or other facility’s then prevailing Monthly Fee and/or per diem rates for
such services. The new Monthly Fee and/or per diem rates take effect on the date that You make
such a temporary or permanent transfer.

IV. MEDICAL, HEALTHCARE, AND OTHER SERVICES EXCLUDED IN THIS AGREEMENT

A.

Use of Medical Practitioners and Facilities Not Referred by Arbor Acres. You may engage
the services of primary care physicians other than those who are part of the Arbor Acres practice,
and seek care at other hospital, specialty medical, surgical or allied health services with whom
Arbor Acres’ does not have referral relationships. Arbor Acres will not be liable for any
expenses relating to such care, including, but not limited to, the cost of medical, surgical,
hospital or nursing care provided, ordered, prescribed or occasioned by any such practitioner or
such facilities. If a healthcare provider should seek payment for such services from Arbor Acres,
You will indemnify, defend and hold Arbor Acres harmless from all loss or liability arising from
such claims for payment.

In situations when Arbor Acres’ medical staff is not involved in the referral to a physician or
other health care provider from whom You seek services, it is Your responsibility to require
those providers to furnish Arbor Acres, promptly in writing and in confidence, with medical
information regarding Your condition, diagnosis, medications, and treatment.

You may not engage third parties for medical or other health-related services to be rendered at
Arbor Acres without prior notification to and written authorization by Arbor Acres’
management.

Psychiatric Illness, Dangerous Communicable Disease, Drug or Alcohol Abuse. The
Community’s facilities and services are not designed to care for persons who have an active

psychiatric illness, who have a dangerous communicable disease or who are involved with drug
or alcohol abuse. Should Arbor Acres determine that Your physical or psychiatric illness, or that
Your condition as a result of drug or alcohol abuse, is such that Your continued stay in Your
home or use of the Community facilities is either dangerous or detrimental to Your life, health,
safety or peace, or the life, health, safety, or peace of others in Your home or in the Community,
then Arbor Acres may transfer You to another facility of Your choosing. You will continue to be
responsible for payment of the Monthly Fee as if You were at home. You will also be
responsible for payment of any additional amount needed for Your care at any other such
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facility. Arbor Acres may terminate this Agreement if You refuse to make the recommended
transfer.

Transportation, Arbor Acres will not be responsible for providing any type of transportation to
You during this Agreement, including but not limited to any transportation to or from the Arbor
Acres campus or to any medical appointments or other locations and emergency transportation to
any hospital or other health care facility.

Security. Arbor Acres will not be responsible for providing any type of security, staff
emergency response, emergency call devices, smoke detectors or the like to Your home or
personal residence during this Agreement.

Housekeeping, Maintenance and Grounds Keeping. Arbor Acres will not be responsible for
providing any type of laundry or housckeeping services to Your home or personal residence
during this Agreement, Arbor Acres will not be responsible for providing any type of home
maintenance or grounds keeping care to Your home or personal residence during this Agreement.

Utilities. Arbor Acres will not be responsible for furnishing any type of utilities, including, but
not limited to, heating, air conditioning, water, electricity and/or gas, sewage disposal, trash
removal, television service, internet service and telephone service, {0 You during this
Agreement.

Taxes. Arbor Acres will not be responsible for paying any taxes owed by You, including,
without [imitation, any income taxes or personal or real property taxes assessed on Your personal
or real property during this Agreement. You are solely responsible for all taxes, owed by You,
including, without limitation, all personal income taxes and all taxes assessed on Your personal
and real property.

Other Excluded Services. Other excluded services include, but are not limited to, prescription
and non-prescription medications, refractions, eye-glasses, contact lenses, audiological tests,
hearing aids, dentistry, dentures, dental inlays, incontinent and other personal hygiene supplies,
orthopedic appliances, podiatry, chiropractic services, organ transplants, renal dialysis, treatment
for alcohol and drug abuse, and diagnosis and therapy for psychiatric disorders.

Iliness or Accident. If You have an accident or if You are ill, We will have no responsibility to
pay for costs resulting from or in connection with such accident or illness.

TERMS OF BEING AN ARBOR ACRES RESIDENT

A.

Rights of Resident. As a Resident, You have the right to use and enjoy the common areas,
amenities, programs, and services of Arbor Acres, as provided in this Agreement, during Your
lifetime unless this Agreement is terminated as provided herein. It is understood that this
Agreement does not transfer or grant any interest in the real or personal property owned by
Arbor Acres other than the rights and privileges as described in this Agreement.

Policies and Procedures. In order to operate Arbor Acres in the best interest of the
Community, Arbor Acres has established policies, rules and regulations relating to residency,
which are subject to modification from time to time as deemed appropriate by Arbor Acres.
Resident has received information as to the current policies, rules and regulations in the
Disclosure Statement and in other written information provided by Arbor Acres. Arbor Acres
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reserves the right to make or change policies, rules and regulations, and will use its reasonable
efforts to communicate through appropriate means to all residents the substance and content of
such additions or changes; also, copies of particular policies, rules and regulations relating to
residency will be furnished to Resident on request. Resident agrees to comply with Arbor Acres’
policies, rules and regulations. Resident understands and agrees that, in order for Arbor Acres to
operate in the best interest of both Resident and the Community, Arbor Acres must have the
cooperation of Resident’s family, friends, responsible parties and other associates to comply with
Arbor Acres’ applicable policies, rules and regulations. Any continuing or repeated failure or
refusal by any such persons to so cooperate and comply may result in a determination by Arbor
Acres that it is no longer feasible for Arbor Acres to provide services to Resident. Upon such
determination, Arbor Acres will have a right to terminate this Agreement.

Relationships Between Residents and Staff. Arbor Acres is built on mutual respect and
instructs its staff to be cordial and helpful to You. The relationship is to remain professional.
Employees must not be delayed or deterred by residents in the performance of their duties.
Management is solely responsible for the supervision of staff. Complaints or requests for special
assistance must be made to the appropriate supervisor. Giving gratuities or bequests to
employees or employeces’ families is not permitted. You will not employ Arbor Acres’
employees nor hire former Arbor Acres’ employees without the prior written consent of the
management of Arbor Acres.

Loss of Property. Arbor Acres will not be responsible for the loss of or damage to any property
belonging to You due to theft, mysterious disappearance, fire, employee accident, or any other
cause, It is understood that You have the responsibility of providing any desired insurance
protection covering any such loss.

Representations. You affirm that the representations made in the Application for Admission,
Personal Health History, and Confidential Financial Statement are true and correct and may be
relied upon by Arbor Acres as the basis for entering into this Agreement. You agree to provide
updates of this information in a timely way to Us. As one of those representations, You affirm
that You are at least 62 years old.

Behavior Deemed Harmful to Arbor Acres. If Resident is deemed competent and capable of
controlling his or her behaviors and engages in behaviors deemed by the President/CEO to be
disruptive, hostile, illegal, or otherwise harmful to others or to Arbor Acres, Arbor Acres
reserves the right to terminate this Agreement. If such a circumstance arises, Arbor Acres will
discuss the matter thoroughly with Resident to provide Resident with knowledge of the
behaviors deemed intolerable by Arbor Acres. Arbor Acres will provide Resident a written
warning to desist from the behavior or any similarly disruptive, hostile, illegal or harmful
behavior, Upon determination that Resident is continuing to engage in the behaviors against
which Resident has been warned, Arbor Acres will have the right to terminate this Agreement.

Sex Offender Registry. Resident hereby acknowledges that it is the policy of Arbor Acres to
conduct sex offender screening for every prospective resident, regardless of independent status
or level of care, at the time of application for admission to Arbor Acres and again prior to
entering into a Residence Agreement. If the screening shows that the prospective resident is
identified as a sex offender, Arbor Acres will deny admission of Resident on that basis and not
execute a Residence Agreement. In addition, Resident hereby acknowledges and agrees that if,
after Arbor Acres and Resident have entered into a Residence Agreement, Arbor Acres becomes
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aware that Resident is listed on any sex offender registry, Arbor Acres may terminate this
Agreement with Resident and remove Resident from Arbor Acres.

VI. FINANCIAL ARRANGEMENTS

A,

Entry Fee. You agree to pay Arbor Acres an entry fee in the amount of $12,500.00 as a
condition to this Agreement (the “Entry Fee”). The Entry Fee is a lump sum payment due as of
the Date of Acceptance and will not be increased or changed during the term of this Agreement,
except for changes required by state or federal programs or execution of a subsequent Residence
Agreement should You move to Arbor Acres some time in the future, In the event You decide to
move to Arbor Acres and enter into a Residence Agreement, notwithstanding the amortization of
the Entry Fee for refund purposes as set forth in Section VIILD. of this Agreement, the full
amount of the Entry Fee will be applied towards the then prevailing entry fee for the apartment
or home at the Community You select. The ability to apply the full amount of the Entry Fee
towards an entry fee for an on-campus living accommodation at Arbor Acres shall survive the
termination of this Agreement, subject to the execution of a Residence Agreement between You
and Arbor Acres.

Monthly Fee and Other Charges. You agree to pay a monthly fee (the “Monthly Fee”) during
the term of this Agreement. The current Monthly Fee associated with this Agreement is $400.00
per month. The Monthly Fee will commence at the Date of Acceptance and will be subject to
adjustment in accordance with Section VLD. below. The Monthly Fee will be paid on a prorated
basis for any partial month.

Arbor Acres will furnish Resident a monthly statement with the total amount of the Monthly Fee
and other charges, if any, owed by Resident. Resident shall pay such fees and charges by the
[15%] day of the month. If Resident’s payment is late, Arbor Acres may charge Resident a one
and one-half percent (1.5%) interest fee per month, from the first of the month in which the
payment is late. Upon thirty (30) days’ advance written notice, Arbor Acres may change the
billing date and payment due date. Arbor Acres shall have the right to offSet against any Entry
Fee repayment any unpaid Monthly Fees or other charges owed by Resident to Arbor Acres, If
You fail to comply with the terms of this provision, We may terminate this Agreement.

Assisted Living or Health Center Charges. If You need care in Arbor Acres’ Assisted Living
or Health Center facilities, You will be charged an additional daily fee based on the particular
level of care and type of accommodation at Arbor Acres’ then prevailing rates. This fee is in
addition to the Monthly Fee, which You will continue to be charged.

Adjustments in the Monthly Fee and Other Charges. Arbor Acres may adjust the Monthly
Fee, the Assisted Living and Health Center fees, and any and all other charges from time to time
on the basis of experience or to reflect changes in the cost of achieving the mission or purposes
of Arbor Acres. Arbor Acres agrees that, in the exercise of its discretion, which will be binding
on You, Arbor Acres will endeavor to maintain all fees and charges at the lowest feasible
amounts which, in the judgment of the Board of Directors of Arbor Acres, is consistent with
sound financial operation and maintenance of the quality of facility, program and service
provided.

Health Care Insurance Requirements. You shall be responsible for carrying both Medicare

Part A and Medicare Part B insurance coverage, or a substitute policy acceptable to Arbor Acres.

You shall also carry a supplemental insurance policy acceptable to Arbor Acres, which
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adequately covers the hospital, medical, and skilled nursing deductibles and co-payments
required of Your primary insurance plan. Both Your primary and supplemental health insurance
policies must recognize Arbor Acres as a health care provider. You assume the financial
responsibility for services provided that otherwise could be covered by Medicare or insurance.

You shall be responsible for ensuring that the health insurance coverage that was approved does
not lapse, and You shall provide Arbor Acres with evidence of such coverage upon request. If
Your health insurance coverage should lapse, Arbor Acres may require that You reapply for
suitable coverage. If You are unable to obtain adequate new coverage, Arbor Acres shall charge
You for any costs of medical and other health care services provided to You that otherwise
would have been covered by an approved policy.

Arbor Acres’ Filing for and Rights to Insurance Benefits. Arbor Acres shall be responsible
for filing for reimbursement from Your Medicare and supplemental health insurance plans for
covered medical, nursing, and outpatient therapy services when provided by Arbor Acres. Arbor
Actes has a right to the benefits payable under the insurance You carry for services provided by
Arbor Acres as, required in this Agreement, except where costs of care were borne solely by You
and not Arbor Acres. You hereby authorize Arbor Acres to file claims for benefits to which You
are entitled under this Agreement and to execute all documents necessary to enable Arbor Acres
to collect or enforce such claims. If, for any reason, Arbor Acres cannot apply directly for
benefits payable under insurance required by this Agreement, You agree to make such
application and to pay Arbor Acres the proceeds received that are due for services provided by
Arbor Acres.

For those services provided by Arbor Acres that are covered by Medicare, We will accept
Medicare Assignment, billing Medicare first and accepting Medicare’s allowable reimbursement
rates as payment in full. You shall be responsible for amounts allowed by Medicare or Your
supplemental insurance that are treated as deductibles, co-payments or other cost-sharing
amounts imposed by Medicare or Your supplemental insurance. For those services provided by
Arbor Acres that are not covered by Medicare or Your supplemental insurance, You shall be
responsible for all costs and expenses related to such services at the then prevailing rates. For all
services not provided by Arbor Acres but are provided by another provider, You shall be
responsible for all costs and expenses related to such services.

Automobile Accident Insurance. If You are a licensed driver, You are responsible for
maintaining automobile accident insurance to cover medical costs from automobile accidents
causing injury.

Arbor Acres’ Rights in Case of Injury Caused by a Third Party. In the event Arbor Acres
has incurred costs, expenses and damages on Your behalf relating to injuries or illnesses caused
to You by a third party (including, but not limited to, reasonable costs of care Arbor Acres may
furnish You because of such accident or injury), You hereby agree that any amount recovered by
You or on Your behalf from any and all sources relating to Your injuries or illnesses shall first be
paid to Arbor Acres in an amount to reimburse Arbor Acres for its costs, expenses and damages
incurred, with the balance of any amount recovered then paid to You or credited to Your
account, or, in the event of Your death, paid to Your estate.

Application for Benefits; Assignment of Benefits. Resident shall apply for any federal, state or
local benefits for which Resident may be eligible or entitled upon request by Arbor Acres. If
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VIIL.

requested by Arbor Acres, any or all such benefits will be applied to the Monthly Fee or other
charges incurred by Resident at Arbor Acres.

FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE

In order to operate Arbor Acres on a fiscally sound, nonprofit basis, Arbor Acres has established fees
and charges, which are subject to modification from time to time as deemed necessary and appropriate
by Arbor Acres. Resident agrees to pay when due all required fees and charges. Resident has received
from Arbor Acres a schedule of current fees and charges.

Resident agrees to provide, if requested, periodic financial statements and current financial information
for the purpose of demonstrating capacity to meet financial obligations to Arbor Acres. Should Resident
experience financial difficulty that might result in Resident’s immediate or eventual inability to meet the
financial obligations under this Agreement, including any spend down of assets that might result from
payment of expected fees and charges to Arbor Acres, Resident will inform Arbor Acres immediately,
and submit a current financial statement. Resident and, if appropriate, Resident’s responsible party, and
Arbor Acres shall discuss and, if possible, agree on a plan by which Resident’s financial obligation to
Arbor Acres can be met. Residents whose funds are depleted primarily through payment of fees
associated with this Agreement, to include costs associated with their medical care, may be eligible for
consideration for financial assistance through Arbor Acres. Such assistance, however, is conditional
upon demonstration that other options for fulfilling this financial obligation to Arbor Acres have been
explored and deemed impracticable by either party. When Resident is deemed eligible for financial
assistance through Arbor Acres, Arbor Acres, to the extent of its available resources dedicated for
financial assistance, will attempt to furnish financial assistance when it is needed. Termination of
residency for Resident’s inability to fulfill the financial obligations incurred under this Agreement shall
be an option exercised as necessary to assure the financial viability of Arbor Acres and of its financial
assistance program.

TERMINATION AND REFUNDS

A, Voluntary Termination After Date of Acceptance. This Agreement may be terminated by
You at any time by providing Arbor Acres sixty (60) days advanced written notice of such
termination. You may be entitled to a prorated refund of the Entry Fee pursuant to
Section VIILD.

B. Termination Upon Death, In the event of Your death at any time after the Date of Acceptance,
this Agreement will terminate upon the date of death. Your estate may be entitled to a pro-rated
refund of the Entry Fee pursuant to Section VIILD.

C. Termination by Arbor Acres.! Arbor Acres may terminate this Agreement at any time
(i) pursuant to Section IILE., Section IV.B., Section V.B., Section V.F. or Section V.G. of this
Agreement, (ii) if there has been any material misrepresentation or omission made by You in the
application forms, (iii) if You fail to make payment to Arbor Acres and Arbor Acres gives notice
provided for in Section VLB, (iv) if You fail to abide by Arbor Acres’ policies and procedures,
or (v}if You breach the terms of this Agreement. In such events, You may be entitled to a pro-
rated refund of the Entry Fee pursuant to Section VIILD, subject to the terms of this Agreement.
Arbor Acres will provide timely advance written notice of termination that is in compliance with
prevailing laws, regulations and Arbor Acres’ policies. Arbor Acres shall exercise such right of
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IX.

termination only after first attempting to work out satisfactory solutions with Resident and/or
Resident’s responsible party. If agreement cannot be reached between the President/CEO and
Resident and/or Resident’s responsible party, the President/CEO will refer the matter to the
Executive Committee of the Board of Directors of Arbor Acres (the “Executive Committee™) for
hearing and decision. The Executive Committee shall afford Resident an opportunity to be heard,
and shall render a decision with respect to the matter referred to it. The decision of the Executive
Committee shall be put in writing and shall be signed by the Chair of the Board of Directors of
Arbor Acres (the “Chair”) or, in the absence of the Chair, the Chair Elect of the Board of
Directors of Arbor Acres. It is understood and agreed that the written, signed decision of the
Executive Committee shall be final and binding.

D. Calculation for Pro-Rated Refunds. If termination of this Agreement occurs during the first
fifty (50) months of this Agreement, You or Your estate will be entitled to a partial refund of the
Entry Fee, subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement. You will receive a refund in
the amount equal to: (i) the Entry Fee less a non-refundable fee in the amount of $1,000 (the
“Net Entry Fee”); less (ii) two percent (2%) of the Net Entry Fee for each month that this
Agreement has been in effect for up to fifty (50) months; less (iii) any amounts due to Arbor
Acres. After fifty (50) months, there is no refund of the Entry Fee. The fifty (50) month period
begins with the Date of Acceptance. Payment, if any, shall be made within sixty (60) days of
written notice of termination.

RIGHT OF RESCISSTION

Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, this Agreement may be rescinded by You giving
written notice of such rescission to Arbor Acres within thirty (30) days following the later of the
execution of this Agreement or the receipt of a disclosure statement that meets the requirements of
Section 58-64-1 et. seq. of the North Carolina General Statutes. In the event of such rescission, if it is
conditioned by a change in Your health status, You will receive a full refund of the Entry Fee, less a
non-refundable application fee of $ . If the rescission is for a reason other than change
in Your health status, You will receive a refund of the Entry Fee less a non-refundable fee in the amount
of $1,000. Any such refund will be paid by Arbor Acres within sixty (60) days following receipt of
written notice of rescission pursuant to this Section IX.

GENERAL

A, Assignment. This Agreement and the rights and privileges for You under this Agreement to the
common areas, amenities, and services and programs of Arbor Acres are personal to You and
may not be transferred or otherwise assigned by You.

B. Management of the Community. The absolute rights of management are reserved by Arbor
Acres and its Board of Directors. Arbor Acres reserves the right to accept or reject any person as
a resident. Residents do not have the right to determine admission or terms of acceptance of any
other resident.

C. Entire Agreement. This Agreement, together with any Arbitration Agreement between Arbor
Acres and You, constitutes the entire Agreement between Arbor Acres and You. Arbor Acres
will not be liable or bound in any manner by any statements, representations, or promises made
by any person representing or claiming to represent Arbor Acres, unless such statements,
representations, or promises are set forth in this Agreement.
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"nitials

Capacity. This Agreement has been executed on behalf of Arbor Acres by Arbor Acres’ duly
authorized agent, and no officer, trustee, agent or employee of Arbor Acres shall have any
personal liability to Resident under this Agreement.

Amendments and Modifications. This Agreement shall not be modified, amended or changed
in any respect except in writing signed by Arbor Acres and Resident. Each waives any right to
amend this Agreement in any other way. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Arbor Acres may
amend this Agreement to ensure compliance with applicable laws and regulations.

Waiver. Neither the failure nor any delay on the part of any party to exercise any right,
remedy, power or privilege (“Right”) under this Agreement shall operate as a waiver thereof, nor
shall any single or partial waiver of any Right preclude any exercise of the same or of any other
Right. No waiver shall be in effect unless in writing and signed by the party asserted to have
granted such waiver.

Severability.  The invalidity of any restriction, condition or other provision of this Agreement,
or any part of the same, shall not impair or affect in any way the validity or enforceability of the
rest of this Agreement.

Interpretation. The headings in this Agreement are for convenience and reference only, and
shall not affect the interpretation of any provision of this Agreement.

Successors and Assigns. Except as set forth herein, this Agreement will bind and inure to the
benefit of the successors and assigns of Arbor Acres and Your heirs, executors, administrators,
responsible parties, attorneys-in-fact and permitted assigns.

Rights Subordinate to Mortgage. Pursuant to the requirements of any lender, You agree that
Your rights under this Agreement are subordinate to the right of the lender under any mortgage,
deed of trust or security interest executed now or in the future by Arbor Acres.

Durable Power of Attorney, Will, Living Will, and Health Care Power of
Attorney. You agree to keep in effect an appropriate Durable Power of Attomey
designating some competent person as attorney-in-fact. You agree to execute a
Will, Living Will, and designate a Durable Health Care Power of Attotney.
Within ninety (90) days of the Date of Acceptance, You will deliver to Arbor
Acres copies of the following documents, and will promptly deliver any changes
to such documents to Arbor Acres during this Agreement: (a) health insurance
coverage information; (b) copy of current Durable Power of Attorney; (c) copy of
current Durable Health Care Power of Attorney and Living Will; and (d) evidence
of the executor or other legally responsible person of Resident’s estate, such as a
copy of Resident’s will documenting the name of the executor of his or her estate.

Uncontrollable Interruption of Services. No breach of Arbor Acres’ obligations under this
Agreement and no liability for injury to Resident or Resident’s property shall result from an
interruption of, or failure to provide, contracted services due to an act of God or other cause
beyond the reasonable control of Arbor Acres, specifically including (without limitation) strikes
or other forms of labor disturbances, government regulations and/or embargoes, shortages of
labor or materials, fire, flood, earthquakes, inclement weather or acts of the Resident. Arbor
Acres shall make reasonable efforts to continue to provide the usual services in such event.
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Confidentiality. Arbor Acres has the responsibility to keep all of the personal, medical, and
financial information You have supplied to Arbor Acres confidential. You agree that Arbor
Acres can disclose such information to those who have a need, in Our judgment, or right to
know.

Indemnity. You agree to indemnify, defend and hold Arbor Acres harmless from claims,
damages or expenses, including attorneys’ fees and court costs, resulting from any injury or
death to persons and/or any damages to property caused by, resulting from, attributable to or in
any way connected with, directly or indirectly, Your act or omission or those of Your guests,
including private duty nurses or any other third party service contracted by You. This
Section X.N. shall survive termination of this Agreement.

Affiliations. Arbor Acres is affiliated with the Western North Carolina Annual Conference of
The United Methodist Church, which is not responsible for the financial and contractual
obligations of Arbor Acres.

Notice Provisions. Notices required by this Agreement will be in writing and delivered either
by personal delivery or mail. If delivered by mail, notices will be sent by certified or registered
mail, return receipt requested, with all postage and charges prepaid. Notices and other
communications will be deemed to have been given when delivered by personal delivery or if
mailed, such notice shall be deemed to have been given on the third business day after being
deposited in the United States mail, postage prepaid. All notices and other written
communications required under this Agreement will be addressed to You or to Your personal
representative at the address provided to Us. Notices shall be sent to us at the following address:

Arbor Acres United Methodist Retirement Community, Inc.
1240 Arbor Road

Winston-Salem, NC 27104

Attention: President and CEO

Your address for the purpose of giving notice is the address appeating after Your signature
below or such other address You provide to Us in writing.

No Guarantee of Residence. Arbor Acres’ execution of this Agreement does not guarantee that
any apartment or home will be available for Your occupancy during Your lifetime or prior to the
termination of this Agreement for any reason.

Governing Law; Venue. This Agreement shall be governed by, interpreted, construed and
enforced in accordance with the laws of the State of North Carolina, without giving effect to any
choice of law or conflict of law rules or provisions that would cause the application of laws or
any jurisdiction other than North Carolina. Except to the extent that the parties have agreed to an
alternative mechanism for the resolution of a dispute, to the full extent permitted by law, any
action, suit or proceeding arising out of or relating to this Agreement shall be brought and
enforced in the courts of the State of North Carolina located in Forsyth County or of the United
States District Court for the Middle District of North Carolina, and the parties hereby irrevocably
submit to the exclusive jurisdiction of such courts and irrevocably waive any objection that they
may now or hereafter have to the laying of venue of any such action or proceeding in such
courts, In the event of any such dispute, the non-prevailing party shall pay all reasonable costs,
expenses and attorneys’ fees incurred by the prevailing party.
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Survival.  Those rights and obligations that have accrued under this Agreement shall survive
its termination, as shall those rights and obligations that by their terms survive termination and
any provisions that must survive to give effect to their terms, as shall any obligation of Resident
to pay costs or expenses under this Agreement that remain unpaid as of such termination.

[Signature page follows.]
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Resident hereby acknowledges the receipt of the Arbor Acres’ Disclosure Statement dated
Resident acknowledges that the Disclosure Statement was received prior to the
execution of this Agreement and the payment of the Entry Fee to Arbor Acres. Resident understands this matter
involves a financial commitment and associated risk, as well as a legally binding contract. Resident has had the
opportunity to consult with an attorney and/or financial advisor who could advise Resident concerning this
Agreement.

- IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Arbor Acres has executed this Agreement and You have read and
understand this Agreement and have executed this Agreement.

Resident Name:

Your Address

Street Address

City, State & Zip Code

Arbor Acres United Methodist Retirement Community, Inc.

Name;

Title:
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VOLUNTARY ARBITRATION AGREEMENT

This is a voluntary agreement, and it is not a condition for admission to this facility. You may
receive care and treatment even if vou do not sign this agreement.

This Voluntary Arbitration Agreement (this “Agreement”) is entered into by and between
ARBOR ACRES UNITED METHODIST RETIREMENT COMMUNITY, INC., a North
Carolina nonprofit corporation (“Arbor Acres”), and

(“Resident”) [and
(“Resident’s Representative™)], collectively
referred to as the “Parties” and individually as a “Party.” This Agreement is an addendum to the
residence and admission agrecment between the Parties (the “Residency Agreement”), for which
consideration has been given and received by the Partics. In further consideration for this
Agreement, the Parties acknowledge they will receive mutual benefits from resolution of any
dispute or controversy through efficient arbitration and other good and valuable consideration,
the receipt and sufficiency of which is acknowledged by the Parties.

1. Parties Defined. Arbor Acres includes, but is not limited to, the operator, governing
body, officers, directors, members, administrator, employees, managers, agents, and any
parent company, subsidiary, or affiliates, and any person or entity alleged to be
responsible for the acts or omissions of Arbor Acres. Resident includes, but is not limited
to, Resident, Resident’s Representative, guardian, conservator, attorney-in-fact, agent,
sponsor, or any other person whose claim is derived through or on behalf of Resident,
including, without limitation, his or her spouse, child, parent, executor, administrator,
personal representative, heir, survivor, and anyone entitled to bring a wrongful death
claim relating to Resident.

2. Agreement to Arbitrate All Disputes. This is a voluntary agreement by the Parties to
have all disputes resolved through binding arbitration. Arbitration is an out-of-court
alternate form of dispute resolution, decided by an impartial third party. Arbitration is
different than traditional litigation in the court system, which has a judge, sometimes a
jury, and trial, In the event of any dispute or controversy between the Parties, including
those arising out of the diagnosis, treatment, or care of Resident by Arbor Acres, the
dispute or controversy shall be submitted to binding arbitration.

3. Application of Federal Arbitration Act. The Partics agree that the Residency
Agreement involves interstate commerce, through Arbor Acres’ Medicare participation
and with any purchase of items from outside the state of North Carolina. Accordingly, the
Federal Arbitration Act applies to this Agreement.

4. Duty to Demand Arbitration. It is the claimant’s responsibility to demand arbitration
by giving notice to the other Party describing the nature of the controversy and the
remedy sought. If a Party overlooks its obligation to arbitrate all disputes and participates
in litigating a matter in the court system, such Party will not be deemed to have waived
the right to compel arbitration, as long as the motion to compel arbitration is served
before the first day of trial.

5. Waiver of Judge, Jury, and Trial. No Appeal. By signing this Agreement, you are
waiving the right to have any and all disputes decided by a judge or by a jury trial. The
arbitrator’s decision is final and binding. There is no right to an appeal unless permitted
by state statute.
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10.
11.

12.

13.

14.

Arbitrator. Within fifteen (15) days after a Party has given written notice to the other
Party of demand for arbitration of a dispute or controversy, the Parties to the dispute or
controversy agree that American Healthy Lawyers Association (“AHLA”) will
administer the arbitration. In the event AHLA is unavailable, unwilling, or unable to
administer the arbitration or appoint an arbitration panel, the Parties will agree on an
arbitrator. If the Parties are unable to agree on the arbitrator, a sole arbitrator shail be
appointed, upon request of a Party, by the court. The arbitrator shall hold a hearing within
a reasonable time from the date of notice of selection of the neutral arbitrator,

Expenses. The arbitration expenses will be apportioned equally among the Parties, or
will be paid as provided in the award.

Representation by Lawver(s). The Partics may be represented by a lawyer prior to,
during, and after arbitration.

Grievances and Discharge/Transfers. Despite this Agreement, Resident may file its
grievances directly with Arbor Acres, with the long term care ombudsman, or with any
applicable regulatory agency. Appeals of involuntary discharges or transfers will be heard
by an administrative law judge as required by state/federal laws and regulations.
Confidentiality. The discovery, arbitration, and arbitration award are confidential.
Severability, If any term, phrase, or provision in this Agreement is held to be invalid or
unenforceable by law, this Agreement will be deemed amended to conform with such law
and will otherwise remain in full force and effect, as it is the Parties’ intent to ensure that
any dispute is resolved solely by arbitration.

Survival. This Agreement applies to Resident’s readmissions to Arbor Acres and
survives any termination of the Residency Agreement.

Care Will Be Provided Regardless. Care, diagnosis, or treatment will be provided
whether or not Resident signs this Agreement.

Right to Revoke. Resident may revoke this Agreement by providing written notice to
Arbor Acres within ten (10) days of signature. Any disputes arising prior to revocation
will remain subject to this Agreement.

You are strongly encouraged to consult with an attorney or a trusted advisor before signing
this Agreement, You have the opportunity to ask questions before signing this document.
Please do not hesitate to ask any questions that you may have.

Signature of Resident Date
Signature of Resident’s Representative (if applicable) Date
Signature of Arbor Acres Representative® Date

*Provision of  services by  Arbor  Acres will  constitute  acceptance
in absence of Arbor Acres’ signature.
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